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JUSTICE COURT, HENDERSON TOWNSHIE(_2, e
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA Y g;,cof,%

» 7
: Ry
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff,
_ CASENO: 16FH2022X
-VS-
DEPT NO:
DENZEL DORSEY #2845569,
AMENDED
Defendant. ‘
CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

The 'jDefcndant above named having committed the crimes of INVASION OF THE
HOME (Category B Felony - NRS 205.067 - NOC 50435) and MALIC[OUS
DESTRUCTION OF PROPERTY (Gross Misdemeanor - NRS 206.310, 193.155 - NOC
50903), in the manner following; to~wit: That the said Defendant, on or about the 28th day of
November, 2016, at and within the County of Clark, State of Nevada,

COUNT ! ~ INVASION OF THE HOME ,
did willfully, unlawfully, feloniously, and forcibly enter an inhabited dwelling, to wit:

2731 Warmt Rays, Henderson, Clark County, Nevada, without permission of the owner,
resident, or lawful occupant, to wit: NORMA NAZARENO, by breaking a glass door
winddw, putting his arm through the window and unlocking the deadbolt, in an attempt to gain
entry. :
COUNT 2 - MALICIOUS DESTRUCTION OF PROPERTY

did willfully, unlawfully, or maliciously destroy and/or injure the real and/or personal
property of another, to-wit: a glass door window, owned by NORMA NAZARENQ, located
at 2731 Warm Rays, Henderson, Clark County, Nevada, by breaking said glass door window
at said residence, the value of said damage being $250.00 or more and less than $5,000.00.
s
i
"

" - AA 0001

W2016\2016F\H202 2\ 16FH2022-ACOM-(DORSEY_ DENZEL}-001.DOCX



All of which is contrary to the form, force and effect of Statutes in such cases made and
provided and against the peace and dignity of the State of Nevada. Said Complainant makes
this declaration subject to the penalty of perjury. )

.

L
7 02/16/201

16FH2022X/erg/L-5
HPD EV# 1621448
(TK)
AA 0002

Wi016\2016MH20R 2\ 6FH2022-ACOM-(DORSEY __DENZEL)-001 .DOCX
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STEVEN B. WOLFSON ! LAt

Clark County District Attorney ’

Nevada Bar #001565 ‘

SANDRA K. DIGIACOMO

Chief Deputy District Attorney

Nevada Bar #006204 ’ .
.200 Lewis Avenue

Las Ve as, Nevada 89155-2212

(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff

| LA.5/15/17 DISTRICT COURT
10:00 AM. CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
K. BROWER, ESQ.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

CASENO: C-17-323324-1

| Plaintiff,
VS~ DEPT NO: XX11

DENZEL DORSEY,

#2845569 | -
J INFORMATION

Defendant.
STATE OF NEVADA

COUNTY OF CLARK
STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County District Attorney within and for the County of

Clark, State of Nevada, in the name and by the authority of the State of Nevada, informs the |
Court: |

" That DENZEL DORSEY, the Defendant(s) above named, having committed the crimes
of INVASION OF THE HOME (Category B Felony - NRS 205.067 - NOC 50435) and
MALICIOUS DESTRUCTION OF PROPERTY (Grbss Misdemeanor - NRS 206.310,
193.155 - NOC 50905), on or about the 28th day of November, 2016, within the County of‘

Clark, State of Nevada, contrary to the form, force and effect of statutes in such cases made

SS.

and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the State of Nevada,
n
1/
i

: AA 0003
~_Case Number: C-17-323324-1
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- COUNT 2 - MALICIOUS DESTRUCTION OF PROPERTY

AN~ SR - RV D VS B S

COUNT 1 - INVASION OF THE HOME

did willfully, unlawfully, feloniously, and forcibly enter an inhabited dwelling, to wit:
2731 Warm Rays, Henderson, Clark County, Nevada, without permission of the owner,
resident, or lawful occupant, to wit: FLORENTINO and/or NORMA NAZARENO, by
breaking a glass door window, putting his arm through the window and unlocking the deadbolf,

in an attempt to gain entry.

.did willfully, unlawfully, or maliciously destroy and/or injure the real and/or personal
property of another, to wit: a glass door window, owned by FLORENTINO and/or NORMA
NAZARENQO, located at 2731 Warm Rays, Henderson, Clark County, Nevada, by breaking
said glass door window at said residence, the value of said damage being $250.00 or more and
less than $5,000.00.

- STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #601565

-,. s District Attorney
Rar #006204

Names of witnesses known to the District Attorney’s Office at the time of filing this

information are as follows:

NAME ADDRESS
CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS Henderson Detention Center Communications
CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS Henderson Detention Center Records
CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS HPD COMMUNICATIONS
CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS . HPD RECORDS
GROSS, K. C/O CCDA’S OFFICE
GUTIERREZ, C. - HPD P# 1695 ‘
HAYEK, GHASSAN Global Auto, 1525 E. Sunset Rd., LV, NV
"
2 | AA 0004

W:\2016\2016F\H20\22\1 6FH2022-INFM-(DORSEY__ DENZEL)-001.DOCX
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MCGEAHY, J. - HPDP# 1411

NAZARENO, KEVIN 2731 Warm Rays Ave., Henderson, NV
NAZARENO, NORMA 2731 Warm Rays Ave., Henderson, NV
WARD, R. : HPD P# 1701

DO NOT READ TO THE JURY

UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES IS THE LANGUAGE CONTAINED
HEREINAFTER TO BE READ TO A JURY HEARING THE PRIMARY OFFENSE
, FOR WHICH THE DEFENDANT IS PRESENTLY CHARGED.

NOTICE OF PRIOR BURGLARY AND/OR HOME INVASION CONVICTIONS

The State of Nevada hereby places Defendant DENZEL DORSEY on notice that in the
event of a Burglary conviction pursuant to NRS 205,060 and/or a Home Invasion conviction
pursuant to NRS 205.067 in the above-entitled action, he/she will not be eligible for probation -
as Defendant DENZEL DORSEY has already suffered one (1) prior Burglary and/or Home

Invasion conviction(s), as set forth in the “Notice of Intent to Seek Puhishment as a Habitual

‘Criminal,” said notice being incorporated by this reference as though fully set forth herein.

UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES IS THE LANGUAGE CONTAINED

HEREINAFTER TO BE READ TO A JURY HEARING THE PRIMARY OFFENSE

FOR WHICH THE DEFENDANT IS PRESENTLY CHARGED.

NOTICE OF INTENT TO SEEK PUNISHMENT AS A HABITUAL
‘ CRIMINAL

The State of Nevada hereby places Defendant DENZEL DORSEY on notice of the
Staté’s intent to seek punishment of Defendant DENZEL DORSEY pursuant to the provis.jons
of NRS 207.010.as a habitual criminal in the event of a felony conviction in tﬁe above-entitled
éction. ‘ , |

The State will seek punishment as a habitual criminal based upon the following felony
convictions, to w_it: | . '

/4
"
/4
"

3 AA 0005

W:\2016\2016F\H20\22\16FH2022-INFM-(DORSEY__ DENZEL)-001. DOCX
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1. That in 2012, the Defendant was convicted in the Eighth Judicial District
Court, County of Clark, State of Nevada, for the crime of Invasion of Home, in Case No.
C-12-284308-1. |

2. That in 2012, the Defendant was convicted in the Eighth Judicial District
Court, County of Clark, State of Nevada, for the crime of Attempt Burglary, in Case No.
C-12-279732-1, | |

- STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County Distriet Attorney
Nevada Bar #06

BY ~—
#006204
DO NOT READ TO THE JURY
DA#16FH2022X /erg/L-5 " \
| HPD EV#1621448
(TK)
4 AA 0006

W:\2016\201 6F\H20\22\1 6FH2022-INFM-(DORSEY__DENZEL)-001.DOCX



Electronically Filed
5/25/2017 10:47 AM

Steven D. Grierson
RO = OURT

12:00AM 1 TRAN

2 CASE NO. (323324

3

4 IN THE JUSTICE'S COURT OF HENDERSON TOWNSHIP
12:00AM 5 COUNTY OF CLARK, STATE OF NEVADA

6

7 STATE OF NEVADA,
8 Plaintiff,
vS.

CASE NO. 16FH2022X

12:00AM 10 DENZEL DORSEY,

N Nt N S N N N S e S
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AA 0007
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HENDERSON, NEVADA, MAY 2, 2017

* k% % * k% *x *x *x *x * * *%

THE COUET: Denzel Dorsey, 16FH2022X.

Is the prelim going forward?

MR. BROWER: It is, Judge.

THE COURT: Any motion on witnesses?

MR. BROWER: I'd ask to invoke the
exclusionary rule at this point in time.

THE COURT: Do we have anybody here that's
a witness, Sandy?

MS. DIGIACOMO: Yes. I have four.

THE COURT: Are we good? We got those
guys out?

Call your first witness.

MS. DIGIACOMO: State calls Kevin
Nazareno.

THE COURT: Sir, come up here to the
podium and remain standing and raise your right hand
for me.

THE CLERK: Do you solemnly swear that the
testimony that you are about to give will be the truth,
the whole truth and nothing but the truth, so help you

God?

AA 0009
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THE WITNESS: I solemnly swear.

THE CLERK: Please be seated.

Please state your first and last name and
spell each for the record.

THE WITNESS: My name is Kevin Nazareno.
K-E-V-I-N. N-A-Z-A-R-E-N-O.

THE COURT: All right. Go ahead, State.

MS. DIGIACOMO: Thank you.

KEVIN NAZARENO,
having been first duly sworn, did testify as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MS. DIGIACOMO:

Q. Sir, how old are you?
A. Twenty-one years old.
Q. And do you live or did you last November

live at 2731 Warm Rays in Henderson, Clark County,

Nevada?

A. Yes. I still currently live there to this
day.

Q. Who do yoﬁ live there with?

A. I live with my mom, my dad and a couple
of —— no. One cousin and his girlfriend who are

staying in a room at my house.

Q. Now, who owns the house?

AA 0010



llSPM 1 : A. My father.

2 Q. And who is your father?

3 ~A. Florentiﬁq Nazareno.

4 Q. And does his wife also own the residence,
16PM 5 your mom?

6 A. I think, yes.

7 7 Q. And her name is Norma?

8 A, Yes.

9 Q. So on November 28, 2016 were you home at

l6PM 10 approximately noon?

11 A. Yes. I had beeh there the whole day.
12 Q. What were you doing at about a little bit

13 | before noon on that date?

14 A. I was still in bed asleep.
16PM 15 ' Q. Did something wake you up?
16 A. Yes. The doorbells. Constant ringing of

17 the doorbells. Multiple doorbell ringings.

18 0. Was that the front doorbell that was

19 ringing?

6PM 20 A. Yes.
21 Q. And you said it would ring multiple times?
C 22 : A. Yeah. Multiple times.
23 Q. So would it be that somebody would ring it

24 multiple —-

6PM 25 A. Yeah, yeah, yeah.

AA 0011



N
16PM 1 0. Let me finish because she's taking
2 everything down.
3 A. Okay .
4 Q. So they would ring it a bunch of times

16PM LE ,Nlike keep pushing the button?
'6‘_ A.  Yes, that is correct.
7 Q. And then would it stop and then the
8 doorbell ringing would start occurring again?
9 A. Yes. I heard that at least multiple
17PM 10 | times. Multiple ringings,‘stopping and then multiple

11 ringings again.

12 Q. And what did you do when you heard this?
13 A. I was still in bed. I was getting kind of
14 annoyed that someone would ring that much.

L7PM 15 ‘ Q. . .Did you eventually get up from your bed

16 and go to the front door?
17 A. Yes.

18 Q. Now, was your bedroom upstairs or

19 downstairs?

7PM 20 A. It was upstairs.
21 Q. So you came down the stairé?
22 A Yes.
23 Q. The front doors, can you describe what

24 they looked like on that date?

7PM 25 A. They were glass doors that I could see

AA 0012
\_'____,_.__—’——/



L 7PM

| 7PM

8PM

8PM

8PM

JPM

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17
18
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20
21
22
23

24

25

7N

2T

clearly through.

Q. " And when you come down the stairs, can you

see ﬁhe front doors from the staircase?

A. Yes, I can. Since there's this ~-- the
stairways lead downwards and when I peek over the
railings, I can look straight into the doorway and see
whoever is there. |

Q. So on this date back in Novembef when you
looked over the railing, did you see anybody standing

outside the front door?

A, Yes.
Q. And who did you see?
A. I saw a black male and I saw them punching

and I heard banging on the door itself.

Q. Let me stop you. :Did you see more than

one black male?

A. No. Just one.

Q. Just one black maie?

A. Yes.

Q. And when you said &ou heard banging, did

it sound like somebody was trying to break the glass?
A. Yes. Correct.
Q. So when you got doWn to the bottom of the
stairs, could you still hear this banging on the glass?

A. Yes. And then --

-

AA 0013



18PM 1 Q. What did you see then?
2 A. I saw the glass break and there was just a

3 hoie in the glass now and then I saw the male trying to
4 | reach through the door and unlock the deadbolt.
19PM 5 0. Let's back up a little bit. You kept
6 making a motion as you were talking about the banging
7 | on the glass of the front door.' You had your right
8 hand balled like a fist and you were punching your left
9 hand. Is that what you were just doing?
19EM 10 A. What do you mean by that?
11 THE CbURT: For the record that's what he
12 was doing. |
13 BY MS. DIGIACQMO:
14 Q. When -you heafd the glass being hit, could
L 9PM 15 you see what the black male was trying to hit the glass
1o with? Was it his fist?
17 A, Yes.
18 Q. Was he able to break through the glass

19 with his fist?

9PM - 20 A. Yes.
21 Q. And then did it leave a round sized hole?
22 | . A, Yes. Correct.
23 ' Q. And was the glass kind of.jagged, the hole

24 that he broke?

IPM 25 ‘ A. I'd say so. It was, yeah, like -that.

AA 0014
\’__,_'l'______,___//‘



19pPM

20PM
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25

N

0. So it wasn't a perfectly smooth hole?
A, No.
0. And then you said that you saw this black

male stick his hand through the glass?

A, Yes.

Q. Into your house?

A. Yes.

0. And what was he trying to do?

‘A. He was trying to unlock the deadbolt‘that

was there.

Q. So when you see his hand through the dbor

and he's unlocking the deadbolt, what do you do?

A. I rushed forward toWards the door and I

blocked him and kept it locked.

Q. And when you blocked him, how did you do
that?

A. ‘I‘just —

Q; So you grabbed the deadbolt?

A. Yeah, and I kept it there.

Q. Did you do anything to try and hit his

hand away from the deadbolt?

A. I don't recall.

Q. And what did he do when you protected ﬁhe
deadbolt?

A. He ran away.

AA 0015
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A.
Q.

see him go?
A.

house.

plate?

A,

Q.

Did he.take his arm out of the glass?
Yes.

And he takes off?

Yes.

What did you do when you saw him leave?
I chased after him of course.

So you chased after him. Where did you

To his car parked right in front of my

Did you see what kind of car it was?
Yes. It was a blue Suzuki.

And were you'able to get the license

Yes. I did.

Do you remember the license plate as you

sit here today?

A

0.

A.

0.

A.

Yes.

What was the license plate?

953LGM.

Did you tell the police that infofmation?

Yes. I told the dispatcher the license

plate as soon as I called them.

Q.

A..

And did you call the police right away?

Yes. Yes, I did.

AA 0016




21PM

21PM
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2PM

2PM
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24
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Q. Did the police respond?
A. Yes.
Q. Now, the person that you saw that was at

your front door, you said you saw him run and get into

this car, the Suzuki right in front of your house?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you see which door he got into?

A. The driver's side.

Q. Could you see anybody else in the car?

A, No.

Q. Just him?

A. Yes.

0. Now, can you describe what he looked like

for the Court?

A. He was a tall black male, bigger than me
at least.

Q. How tall are yoﬁ?

A. 5-foot-6 and with shoes 5-foot—7.

Q. You heid your hand about an inch or so

above your head. Was he a little taller than you?

A. Yeah; I'd say around 5-foot-10 to 6 feet.
Q. Do you remember what he was wearing?

A. No.

Q. But you know it was a black male?

A. Yes.

AA 0017




22PM 1 Q. Do you remember if he was heavy-set,

2 skinny?

3 A. It's hard to remember.

4 Q. Do you think you'd recognize him if you
22PM 5 saw him again?

6 A. Yes.

7 : Q. Now, you've been sitting in court all

8 | morning. Have you seen the same person that you saw

9 try and break into your house on November 28th, 2016

2 2PM 10 here in court?

11 A. I think.
12 Q. You think. Is that person still here in
13 court?
14 | A I don't know actually.
22PM 15 Q. Well, let me ask you. The person that you

16 thought you saw that kind of looked familiar, do you

17 | see him in the courtroom as you sit here right now?
18 A. No, I don't think so.
19 Q. So I am going to point to a person. This

3PM 20 gentleman that's seated at counsel table wearing

Ny

21 glasses, you don't recognize him?
22 A. Could he take his glasses off?
23 MS. DIGIACOMO: For the record the

24 defendant just took his glasses off.

3PM 25 | MR. BROWER: So did I since we are both
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sitting at the table wearing glasses.

MS. DIGIACOMO: I'm sorry. I'm standing
behind Mr. Brower.

THE COURT: I don't think you match the
description, Mr. Brower.

BY MS. DIGIACOMO:

0. Does he look familiar to you?

A. Yes, I think so.

Q. Without the glasses?

A. Yes. Without the glasses.

Q. So he appears to look like the person that

was at your house that day in November?

A. Yeah.

Q. Can you say with like a percentage of
certainty like 10 percent, 50 percent?

A, 85 percent sure.

MS. DIGIACOMO: ‘Now,~this person that I
just pointed to for the record was the defendant, your
Honor.

THE COURT: Record will reflect
identification that you're talking about the defendant.

BY MS. DIGIACOMO:

0. Did you know him before November 28tR?
A. No, I have no idea who théy are.
Q. So you did not give him permission to come
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into your house on November 28th, 20167

A.

No.

MS.

THE

BY MR. BROWER:

Q.
courtroom a moment ago and you didn't identify my
client, did you see any other black people in the
courtrooﬁ?

A.

Q.

correct?

A.
Q.
A,
Q.
the sole black male in the courtroom were you able to
say possibly it was him, corréct?
A. |
Q.
you a couple other questions.
A( |

Q.

Kevin, when you loocked around the

No.

But

Yes.

But

Yes.

‘And

Yes.

So,

Okay.

You

DIGIACOMO: I have nothing further.

COURT: Mr. Brower.

CROSS-EXAMINATION

there's a couple black females,

no other black males, correct?

only after the prosecutor pointed to

Kevin, I am going to go back and ask

were talking about somebody trying to

AA 0020
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punch through the glass on your door of your house. Is
your glass frosted?

A. What do yoﬁ mean by that?

Q. Well, is it clear glass on the front door
or is it frosted glass?

A. What do you mean by that?

Q. Are the panels totally clear or do they
have lines or etchings or snowflakes or anything in
them? Is it like a clear glass that YOu can see.

through like glasses or is it --

A, It was clear enough that I could see him

'through the glass:

Q. So there's nothing to distort your vision

through there?

A. No.

Q. What color jacket was the person wearing?
A. I coﬁldn't rémember.

Q. Was the.person wearing gloveé?

A. I do not remember. |

Q. So when you saw a hand come through the

window, can you describe were their rings on it?

A. I don't remember.

Q. Can you describe whether thevfingernails
had nail polish or anything else?

A. NQ.
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Q. Because you don't remember or because you
didn't see?

A. Because I don;t remember .

Q. And you don't remember if there was a
glove?

A. No.

Q. Do you remember the color —-- was the arﬁ
that came through the window ——‘was the arm bare?

A. No.

Q. So it had clothing on it?

A. Yes.

0. But you don't know if it was a jacket
or —-

A, No.

Q. Do you know if it was leather or if it was
cloth?

A. Probably leather.

Q. Probably leather but you're not sure?

A, 'Notvsure.

Q. But you don't remember if the‘arm had a
glove on it?

A. No.

Q; How about a waﬁch; did you see a watch?

A. No.

Q. And you ran oufside afterwards and saw the
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17/

person

Kevin.

get into the driver's side of a car?

A, Yes.

Q. Were they wearing a hat?

A, No, I don't think so.

Q. Can you deséribe their hair to me?

A. Very short hair.

Q. Were they wearing glasses?

A. No, I don't think éo.

Q. . Not even sunglasses?

A. No.

0. Describe the vehicle to me.

A. It was a blue Suzuki.

0. Two door or four door?

A. Four door.

Q. Do you know what kind of wheels it had?
A. Probably the stock wheels.

Q. You don't remember?

A. The stock wheels.

Q. Can you describe the weight of the person?
A. Average to slim.

Q. So you are going to have to help me out,

I don't know what average to slim means to you.
A. I'd say around 180 pounds to 200.

Q. 180 to 200 and you described him as

between 5-foot-10 and 6 feét?
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A. Yes. Or a bit taller than 6 feet.

Q.. Were you‘Wearing shoes when you ran
outside?

A. .Né. I went in barefoot.

Q. How far did you chase the person?

A. I chased him to the sidewalk ét which I

loocked at his license plate because his car was right

there.

Q. - Well, the car you saw the person get into

was right there, right?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you know if it was their car?

Al Yes. .

Q.  How do you know it was their car?

A. Because they had the keys and started the

ignition to start the car.
Q. So if you drive your parents' car Qith
their keys, is it your car or your parents' car?
1
A. | It's my parents'icar obviously.
Q. But if I saw you get in it, wouldn't I be

inaccurate to say it was youricar?

A, No.
Q. I wouldn't?
A. I mean, if you saw me with my car, then

obviously it's my car. But if you see me with my
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29PM 1 | parents' cér, then it's my parents' car.
2 Q. That you're driving?
3 A. - Yes.
4 | Q. Kevin, was it the right hand or left hand
29PM 5 | that came into the door? | | |
6 A. I'm pretty sure it was the left hand I
7 think. |
8 Q. And you didn't see any watches?
9 A. No.
2 9PM 10 Q. Was it sunny out that day?
11 A. .Yes. It was in broad daylight.
12 Q. So it wasn't raining or anything?
13 A. No.
14 Q. It wasn't overcast?
9PM 15 | A. No.
16 MR. BROWER: I'll pass the witness, Judge:
17 - THE COURT: Anything elée?‘
18 ' MS. DIGIACOMO: No.
19 - THE COURT: Thank you, sir.
0PM 20 Is he free to go?
21 MS. DIGIACOMO: Yes.
22 ' : THE COURT: You can jump down. You're
23‘ free to leave. Thank you for your testimony.
24 - THE WITNESS: Thank you, your Honor.
JPM 25 THE COURT: Next witness.
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30PM 1 MS. DIGIACOMO: Norma Nazareno.

2 v THE COURT: Good morning, ma'am. Remain

3 standing and raise.your right hand for me.

4 THE CLERK: Do you solemnly swear that the
30PM 5 testimony that you are about to give will be the truth,

6 the whole truth and nothing but the truth, so help you

7 God?

8 THE WITNESS: Yes, I do.
9 ' ' THE CLERK: Please be seated.
30PM 10 | Please state your first and last name and

11 spell each for the record.

12 THE WITNESS: Norma Cordero Nazareno.
13 THE COURT: Can you spell that for us.
14 THE WITNESS: N-O-R-M-A. Last name

31PM 15 N-A-Z-A-R-E-N-O,

16 THE COURT: Thank you. Grab a seat.
17 Go ahead, State.
18 MS. DIGIACOMO: Thank you.
19
1PM 20 - NORMA CORDERO NAZARENO, _
having been first duly sworn, did testify as follows:
21 :
22 | DIRECT EXAMINATION

23 BY MS. DIGIACOMO:

24 Q. Ma'am, do you live or own 2731 Warm Rays?

1PM 25 A. Yes, I do. For the last 16 years.

AA 0026
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Q.  And do you own that with your husband
Florentino?

A. Yeé, I do.

Q. Do you know the person who just left the

courtroom, Kevin?

A. That's my son.

Q. And he liyes there as well?

A, Yes.

Q. And all of you.lived there last

November 281 of 20167

A. Yes, ma'am. Me and my husband and my 5on.

0. Did anything happen that day that caused
you to go home? /

A. Well, I was ét work right around 12,
that's when he called me ét work and I had to rush home

to see what happened.

Q. Who called you?

A. My son.

Q.  Kevinv

A. As soon as he called 9-1-1 he called me
right away. Actually he find out -- my husband found

out so my husband c¢alled me to go home. So I went home

right away.

Q. And when YOu got home, did your house look

different than it had when you left for work?
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32PM 1 A, It's just the door that's broken, the
2 glass was broke.
3 - Q. What time did you leave for work that day?
4 | | A, As soon as I could. Like around 12:15.
32PM ) : Q. No. What time did you -—-
6 | A. 12:30.
7 _ THE COURT: Okay. - Just let her finish the
8 question and then you answer because this lady down

9 here is typing everything down. So if you guys talk
32PM 10 | over each other, it doesn't get down very well.

11 So go ahead.

12 BY MS. DiGIACOMO:

13 Q. I meant what time did you leave the house

14 that day to go to work?
32PM 15 _ A. That was a Monday. Normally I leave like

INS around between six to 6:15 because I start seven

17 o'clock on a Monday.

18 Q.  So you had been at work for awhile before

19 you got the call?

12PM 20 A. Yes, ma'am.
21 Q. And you got home at 12:30?
22 A, I left work around 12:36'maybe.
23 Q. How long did it take you to get home?
24 A. ‘Normally about 30 minutes.
3PM 25 Q. | When you got home, you said something was
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wrong with the front door?

A.

given to me,

Yeah. Well, that's exactly what's already

the description'of what was wrong and why

I had to'go home.

Q.

A.

Tell me what you saw when you got home.

I saw —— because I have two sides of the

door. One side was broken like there's a big hole in

there and the hole kind of shattered but not completely

down but there was a big hole right there by the

doorknobs.

Q.
you have two

A.,
side.

Q.

A.

Q.
the glass?

A.
they're like

Q.
hole in it?

A.

there was —-

Q.

And when you said there was two sides, do
front doors?

Yeah. There's a left and a right-hand

And they're both glass?
Yes.

And do they also have another design in

Yes, there is. Like a metal in between so
different design on it.

But on one side of the glass there was a

Yes. So there's no metal so that's why
that's where the broken glass was.

And you didn't give anyone permission to
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34PM 'i bfeak your door that day?
2 A. No, ma'am. We just left it the way it is
3 until later on then we needed a replacement door. So
4 they just took that door and took it to the shop and
34PM‘ 5 replaced‘the glass.
6 | Q. How much did it cost to repair the glass
7 door?
8 A. | Well,rfirst of all the first day that it
9 was broken we needed to be safe'that day so I called
34PM 10 the insurance and they referred me to a construction
11 which is the Hopster --
12 ] THE COURT: I'm sorry. They referred you

13. to what?

14 THE WITNESS: To a construction company.
34PM 15 THE COURT: Okay.
16 THE WITNESS: So they replaced the wood

17 for the whole glass door and got the whole frame.

18 BY MS. DIGIACOMO:

19 Q.  So what you mean is they put wood up until

14PM 20 | you could get the glass fixed?

21 A. Yes.
22 | Q. So nobody else could break in?
23 ' A. Exactly;
24 | Q. . How much did that cost?
4PM 25 A. That was about 400-s§mething—dollars. I
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have it on here.

Q.
receipts?
A.
$474.41.
0.
thé glass?
“A.
Q.

A.

For the record you're referring to your
Yes. I have the receipts. That cost me
And then how much did ‘it cést to repair
$723.72. And I have the récgipt.

How long did it take to repair that glass?

Well, we had to order the door so we

waited like almost two weeks to have it replaced.

Q.

A.

And did your insurance cover the repair?

No, it did not because the temporary door

wasn't a thousand dollars. It was only 700. So they

couldn't -- because we had to pay deductible and we

haven't done that yet.

Q.

A.

door?

further.

So your deduétible is a thousand dollars?
Yes. |

So you had to pay the $723.72 yourself?
Yes.

As well as the $474.41 to put up the wood

Yes, ma'am.

MS. DIGIACOMO: I don't have anything
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36PM 1 . THE COURT: Anything, Mr. Brower?

3 : CROSS—-EXAMINATION

4 BY MR. BROWER:
36PM 5 Q. Ma'ém, the glass on your door —-— can you
6 describe the glass that was on your door? Is it
7 see~through, is it frosted?
8 ’ A. It's kind of frosted but fhere's some area
9 where just like a clear one with like a diamond shape,
36PM 10 that's a clear, and the rest are all frosty. ‘Like in
11 between has frost and then clear.
12 Q. So when you look out your door, can you
13 visibly see what's on the other side?
14 A. Absélutely.
36PM 15 Q. And the door that Was broke, are they two

16 doors side by side or just one door?

17 A. It's two door side by side.
18 Q. Which door was broke, the right or left
19 door?

16 PM 20 A . If I was facing the front door from the

21 outside, it'll be on the left-hand side with the

22 doorknob is.

23 Q. And where would your deadbolt be?

24 A. On the left-hand side. It's on the same

o PM 25 side where the latch is.
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0.
two doors,

A.

So the latch isn't in the cénter of the

it's actually on the side?

Well, actually it's on that one door on

the left-hand side.

Q.

A.

But there's two doors. Do they open ——

Yeah. The other one is just -- there's

this latch up on the top and the bottom --

Q.

A.

And the doors --
-— to keep it staying —-

THE COURT: Ma'am, let him finish because

we're talking over each other.

BY MR. BROWER:

Q.

So the right-hand door, if I'm standing at

the front door, the right-hand door has a latch that's

at the top and bottom --

A.

Q.

A.

Q.

Yes.
~- so0 it doesn't open with a knob?

No.

It opens with the two latches?

Right.

When the door is closed, does each door

hook to each other?

A.

It's just the doorknob that has the lock.

That's the only thing that's there.

Q.

Hooks to the other door, correct?
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A. Yes.

Q. So from where the hole in the window was,
if I stick my hand through that hole --

A. Yeah, it's aboﬁt this much.—}

THE COURT: Hang on. Hang on. Hang on.
Einish your question, Mr. Brower.
THE WITNESS: Go ahead.

BY‘MR. BROWER:

Q. So when I stick my hand through that hble,
do I reach my hand to the right or to the left to
unlock the door if I'm standing in front?

A. You would go going -~ so the door is right
here so you would be‘going this way.

THE COURT: For the record she's using her
left arm and turning it to her right.
BY MR. BROWER:
Q. So I would reach in and gé to my right?
A. Yeah.
MR. BROWER: Thank you, Judge.
THE COURT: Is that it?
-MR. BROWER: That's it with me, Judge.
THE COURT: Okay. Anything else, State?
MS. DIGIACOMO: No.
THE COURT: Ma'am, you're excused.

Is this witness free to go?
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MS. DIGIA&OMO; Yes.

THE COURT: Thank you for your testimony.
Yéu're free fo go today. |

Does anybody want cqpies of her receipts?

MS. DIGIACOMO: I have them and I made
'éopies and I'll get them to Mr. Brower.

THE COURT: Next witness, State.

MS. DIGIACOMO: State calls Officer
McGeahy.

THE COURT: Is it officer?

THE WITNESS: Sure.

THE COURT: What is your.éssignment?'

THE WITNESS: I'm with PSU.

THE COURT: Come on up, remain standing
and raise your right hand.

THE CLERK: Do you solemnly swear that the
testimony that you are about to give will be the truth,
the whole truth and nothing but the truth, so help you
God? |

THE WITNESS: ‘I do.

THE CLERK: Please be seated.

Please state your first and last name and
spell each for the record.

| THE WI&NESS{ My name is James McGeahy.

J-A-M-E-S. M-C-G-E-A-H-Y.
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39PM lr ~ THE COURT: Thank you, sir.
2 Go ahead.
3
4 ; JAMES MCGEAHY, |
having been first duly sworn, did testify as follows:
39PM 5
6 - DIRECT EXAMINATION

7 BY MS. DIGIACOMO:
8 Q. How are you employed?

9 A. I'm a police officer with the Henderson

39PM 10 Police Department.

11 ‘ Q. How long have you been so employed?

12 | A. Ten.years and about eight months now.

13 Q. Directing your attention to Nevember 28,
14 2016 at approximately noon were you soO empleyed and

10PM 15 working?

16 A. Yes.

17 Q. What was your assignment on that date?

18 A. I'm assigned to PSU, Problem Solving Unit.

19 - Q. Now, did a report come in about a home
10PM 20 invasion at- 2731 Warm Rays Avenue in which a license

21 plate was obtained?

22 A.  Yes.

23 Q. And did you get assigned that case?
24 A. Yes.
0PM 25 - Q. What happened when you got the assignment?
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10PM 1 -~ A. | As a squad we started immediately
2 investigating. Took our initial information which was
3 the license plate and ran that through our NCIC data
4 base, got back a hit that it was a rental car,
10PM 5 contacted-the,rental company.
6 Q. | And when you contacted the rental company,
7‘_ what information were they able to provide you?
8 A. They were able to provide us with who the
9 renter wés, the type of vehicle it was and that it had

10PM 10 GPS.

11 Q. Now, was it rented to a Marquisha Powell?
12 AL I believe that was the name, yes.
13 Q. So it was rented to a female?
14 A. Yes. |
11lpM 15 Q. And you said that it waé‘equipped with
16 GPS? |
17 A. Yes.
18 - Q. Was anybody at the car rental place able

19 to get you the location of that car right then?
1leM 20 | A.  Yes.
21 Q. Based upon giving the GPS ﬁhat did you and
22 | your other §fficers do?
23 A. At that point we had two other officers
24 head down to the Global Autos and that way they had

11PM 25 direct contact with the management there who was
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loéking at the screen and actively following the GPS.
And then we relayed that information over to the other
officers who were out in the field attempting to_locate
the vehicle.

Q. Okay. Did you ever see the GPS or was
there other officers that were there seeing the

location of the car?

A, I was just being told the GPS locations
and then I was emailed the paperwork of the actual

locations.

Q. The GPS for this car, did it show it was

present on Warm Rays?

A. © Yes, it did.

Q. And so that's why you followed this car?
A. Yes. |

Q. . So when YOu are able to find the wvehicle,

where was 1it?

A. Once we caught up with the vehicle it was
at the Fashion Show Mall on Las Vegas Boulevard.

Q. And do you know approximately what time
that was?

A. It was;around noon. I don't remember the
exact time.

Q. So it's within a very short time period

from the call coming in about the home invasion and
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4 33
finding the car?

A. Correct.

Q. When you get to the Fashion Show, do you
ever actually see this vehicle?

A. I did not. The detectives on scene did.

Q. Who were the detectives on scene?

A. I believe it was Max Pilz was there and

vactually he's the one that located it. I doﬁ’t
remember who else was with him. But I know he's the
one that actually located the vehicle.

Q. And that's P-I-L-Z for the record?

A, Yes. P-I1-L-7Z.

Q. When the wvehicle was located, was it the
same vehicle with the license plate number that had
been reported by the victim?

A. Yes.

Q. What happened at that point?

A. I pelieve that they observed the vehicle
in the parking garage and theﬁ pick up another person
and then they drove to the exit of the parking garage
and parked on the exterior near Dillard's. Which is
where they were contacted.

Q. And so it was Detective Pilz that stopped
the car?

A. Yes. It was actually Jonathan Ashcroft
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that was with him. I'm sorry.

Q. Ashcroft?
A. Yes.
Q. So the car was stopped and then you

arrived on scene?
A. Yes.

0. And when you arrived, had you been

- informed whether or not the individuals had been

Mirandized?

AL I believe so, yes, they were Mirandized.
Q. So when you come on scene, what do you do?
A, I didn't do anything because I was advised

that they were not talking. So I didn't speak to any

of them, although I did speak to this gentleman here

and advised him what he was under arrest for.

Q. You said this gentleman here. Can you
point to the persoﬁ you're referring to and describe
what he's wearing right now.

A. Denzel Dorsey wearing a black shirt and
glasses. |

MS. DIGIACOMO: Your Honor, would the
record refléct identification of the defendant?
THE COURT: Record will reflect

identification.
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BY MS. DIGIACOMO;
Q. All right. So Mr. Doréey was in the car
that was stopped?
A. Yes.
MR. BROWER: Judge, calls for speculation.
I don't think he was there.
.MS. DIGIACOMO: I can rephrase.
THE COURT: Why don't you rephrase.- I
doh't knowlifvhe's speculating, it's personal
knowledge. If he saw it, was he —-

BY MS. DIGIACOMO:

Q. When you got to the scene of the car that
was involved in the home invasion where it was stopped,
were there other.officers present?

A.- Yes. Metro was there as weli as other
detectives working the case.

Q. Were there any individuals there that were
not officers?

A. There was him and then there was another
subject that was with him. I don't recall his name.

Q. So when you say him, you're talking about

Mr. Dorsey?

A. Yes.
Q. So he was there with all these officers by
the car?
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A, Yes.
Q. -And yoﬁ didn't see --'
A. When I got there, the other subject

actually was under arrest and was being at that point

transported and leaving to go to jail at CCDC. He had

several warrants for his arrest. I don't recall.

Q. So the second passenger of this car is
gone?

A. Yés.

Q. And it'svjust Mr. Dorsey with the vehiéle

| and all the officers?

A. He's sitting down actually over by one of

our cars.

Q. Correct. .But he's in the vicinity of this
car?

A. Yes.

Q. And everyone else there is officers
investigating?

A, Yes.

Q. So based upon what you had said earlier

you went over and contacted Mr. Dorsey to let him know
he was under arrest?

A. And I advised him what the charges were

for.

Q. What did you tell him he was under arrest

AA 0042
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46PM 1 for?

2 : A. Home invasion and damage to the property.

3 0. And that was the home invasion that

4 occurred at 2731 Warm Rays?
16PM 5 A. Correct. |

6 Q. Now, when you contacted Mr. Dorsey, did

7 you notice‘anything about his appearance?.
8 A, Yes. He was wearing a suit jacket that on

9 his left arm had several tears in it that were pretty

16 PM 10 fresh. And also —-—

11 Q. - Wait. So you're pointing to the left arm,
12 | your left arm, and you started kind.of at the wrist and
13 went up to the elbow?
14 A. Yeah, I believe there was a few tears, one
26EM 15 was down ‘here and I think there was a couple up in here
16 | that were torn and they were ffayed 50 you could tell
17 | they were fresh, they weren't something that was old.
18 And the jacket was fairly new,"it looked like a new
.19 suit jacket.
6PM 2Q » Q. And there was only thesé tears and fraying
21 | on the left arm?
22 A. On the left arm, correct.
23 Q. = Did you notice anything else about his
24 physical appearance? |

6PM 25 A. He had like some injuries on his right

AA 0043



46PM

47PM

47PM

4 7PM

L 7PM

TPM

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

TN

hand. I-don't recall exactly what they were, but they

were on his knuckle. Some dry blood.

Q. So on his right hand his knuckles had dry
blood?

A, - Yes.

Q. But did those appear to be fresh injuries

or was it scabbed?

A. Yes. They apﬁeared to be fresh.

Q. Anything else about his appearance?
A. No.

Q. Now, did you do a search incident to

arrest of him?

A. Yes.

Q. And anything found during the search?

A. The key to the wvehicle. J |

0. What vehicle are you referring to?

A. The vehicle that he was driving. It was a

Suzuki rental car.

MR. BROWER: Judge, this calls for
spéculation.b We don't know that he was driving the
vehicle.

THE COURT: Well, hang on. His testimony
was that he was driving it. 1If he can't testify that
he was driving it —-

MS. DIGIACOMO: He testified he had the

AA 0044
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N A~ 29
key.
THE COURT: Your testimony is that he had
the key to the vehicle?
THE WITNESS: Yes. I apologize. Yes, he
had the key to the vehicle in his pocket.
BY MS. DIGIACOMO: |

Q. ‘And you said it was a Suzuki?

A. Yeah, I believe it was a Suzuki.

And he also had a glove in his pocket that
had some blood on it and then -- that was it.

Q. So he had one glove in his pocket?

A. One glove in his pocket and the car key.

Q. And did you ever find the other glove?

A. Yeah. We found the other glove in the
vehicle.

Q. And in the vehicle you're talking about is
the Suzuki?

A, Yes.

Q. And that's the one with the license plate
953LGM that was reported we've been talking about the
whole time?

A. Correct.

MS.YDIGIACOMO: I have nothing further.
THE COURT: Mr. Brower.
AA 0045



1 : CROSS-EXAMINATION

2 BY MR. BROWER:

3 Q. Officer, did you impound the jacket that

4 you just talked about?

18PM 5 A. Yes, we did.
6 0. And you have that in evidence?
7 A.  Yes.
8 Q. Okay. And did you impound the gloves?
9 A. Yes.
18PM 10 0. What kind of gloves were they?
11 1 A. They looked almost like mittens. They
12 were cotton gloves.
13‘ 0. So were they gloves or mittens?
14 A. I don't know. Is there a difference?
L9PM 15 Q. One has fingers and one has ——
16 AL It had fingers, so sure. They were like

17 cotton gloves.

18 Q. Sorry. I run a ski‘team. Big diffefence.

19 But you didn't see Mr. Dorsey driving the
oPM - 20 vehicle?

21 | - A. No, I did not.

22 0. What race was the other person in the

23 vehicle?

24 A. African American as well.

9PM 25 Q. Do you know how tall they were?

AA 0046



N

’/\/ﬂ\w ' ‘ | L ../‘\
49EM | 1 ’ A. If I remember I want to‘ééy he was like
2 6~-foot. |
3 Q. Do you reﬁember his weight?
4 | A. He was thin.
49pPM 5 Q.- Thin like Mr. Dorsey or thinner?
6 A. I want to say thinner. But my interaction

7 with him was limitedlso I don't recall too much.

8 Q. 'Did you do any showups or lineups with
9 Kevin Nazareno?
50PM 10 A.  No.
11 Q. You've never shown personally Kevin any

12 pictures of the other individual?

13 A. I don'f understand your quesfion.

14 Q. You singled out Mr. Dorsey as‘the person
50PM 15 you believe committed this crime. I'm trying to figure

16 out what you did with the other individual to show that

17 they didn't commit this crime? |

18 | A. We didn't do anything with him because we

19 saw him get picked up at the mall.

i QPM 20 o 0. But that was after the fact, correct?
21 A, Yes.
22 THE COURT: I'm confused.  Picked up by

23 officers or picked up -- '

24 ‘ THE WITNESS: No. He was picked up by

0PM 25 | Denzel in the parking garage.
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50PM 1 MS. DIGIACOMO: And by Denzel you mean the
2 defendant? |
3 THE WITNESS: Yes.
4 | BY MR. BROWER:
50PM 5 - Q. So you say thdt you saw the car pull into

6 the parking lot, néver stop or do anything else and go
7 pick up the other individual?

8 A. The other detective did, Max Pilz. He saw
9 him pick up —f.I believe pick him up inside the parking

>IPM 10 garage.

il Q. Did you guys call out any forensic

12 examination to the Warm Rays house?

13 A. Yes;

14 'v MR. BROWER: Judge, I'll pass the witness.
> 1PM 15 THE COURT: Anything else, Miss DiGiacomo?

16 ' MS. DIGIACOMO: No, Your Honor.

17 THE COURT: All right. Is this witness

18 free to go?

19 ‘ MS. DIGIACOMO: Yes.

ipM 20 THE COURT: Thank you so much, officer.
21, THE WITNESS: ThankAyou.
22 - MS. DIGIACOMO: With that the State rests.
23 THE COURT: Any motion on anything

24 regarding the complaint?

2PM 25 MS. DIGIACOMO: Oh, yeah, I'm sorry.

AA 0048
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| Thank you. ~I need to move to amend lines 17 and 22 to

refléct Florentino and/or Norma Nazareno as the owners.
MR. BROWER: Submit it, Judge.
THE COURT: Is that it?
- Mr. Brower.
MR. BROWER: Judge, my client is aware of
his right to testify at a preliminary hearing. .I
believe he is going to follow my advice and not testify
before your Honor, but I know‘you have to canvas him.
THE COURT: Is that correct, Mr. Denzel
Dorsey? You have the right to testify at your own

preliminary hearing. However, it can't be held against

you if you don't testify. Are you taking your’

attorney's advice and not téstifying at this time?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you have any witnesses
otherwise you'd liké to call?

MR. BROWER: We don't, Judge.

THE COURT: Waive and reserve, State?

MS. DIGIACOMO: Yes.

THE COURT: Mr. Brower.

MR. BROWER: Judge, I am Qoing to submit
‘it on what you've already heard.

THE COURT:  All right. The testimony was

that the arm went through the door, broke through the

AA 0049



53PM 1 door,  attempted to open the door and that Kevin saw an

African American male, watched him go out to the car

N

3 | with that particular license plate. That license plate

4 was on the vehicle ultimately a short time later found
53PM 5 by the officers. And while!we didn't have direct

6 testimony, the key waé in Mr. Dorsey's pocket a short

7 time later. So to the extent there's any issues with

8 the identification, the circumstantial evidence

9 suggests that probable cause was met and that Denzel

>3PM 10 | Dorsey committed the crimes of attempt invasion of the
11 | home and malicious destruction of private property. I
12 think the testimony on the malicious destruction of

13 property was 1097.

14 So, Mr. Dorsey, I find probable cause has
»3PM 15 been metvat this time on Count 1 and Count 2 so I am

16 going to bind you over to Diétrict Court to answer

17 those two charges.

18 I granted the motion to add Florentino to

'l9 | line 17 and line 21 to include an and/or with Norma
 4PM 20 Nazareno.

21 So do we have a datebfor District Court.

22 MR. BROWER: Judge, I know that she's

23 going to give me the 11th but I am asking for the

24 | 15th,

4PM 25 | THE CLERK: I remember. May 15,
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10:00 a.m. lower level.

THE COURT: We were operating off of an

amended. Are you aware of that?
-~ MR. BROWER: I am, Judge.
THE COURT: I just wanted to make sure
that we were clear that we were binding him over on the
Amended Criminal Complaint of invasion of the home, not

attempt invasion of the home. Thank you.
(The proceedings concluded.)

* x kX Kx %

ATTEST: Full, true and accurate

transcript of proceedings.

/S/Lisa Brenske

LISA BRENSKE, CSR No. 186
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Electronically Filed
11/29/2017 6:34 AM
Steven.D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE c‘oug
Keith C. Brower, Esq. g e AR

Nevada Bar #007288

The Law Offices Of Keith C. Brower, LLC
8275 South Eastern Suite 200

Las Vegas, NV 89123

(702) 451-4921

Attorney For The Defendant

EIGHTH J UDICIAL DISTRICT COURT, CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

STATE OF NEVADA, ) Case No.: C-17-323324-1

Plaintiff, Dept. No.: XXII
vS. '
DENZEL DORSEY,

ID# 2845569

Defendant

MOTION TO WITHDRAW DUE TO CONFLICT

Defendant Denzel Dorsey, by and through his attorney Keith C. Brower, Esq.,
respectfully requests that this Court allow Keith C. Brower, Esq. to withdraw as attorney of
record for Mr. Dorsey and that this Court appoint independent counsel for Mr. Dorsey due to
a conflict of interest.

This Motion is made based upon the papers and pleadings on file, the attached
Declaration Of Counsel, as well as any oral argument this Court may entertain at the hearing
on this Motion.

DATED this 29th day of November 2017.

/s/ Keith C. Brower
Keith C. Brower, Esq.
Nevada Bar#7288

8275 South Eastern #200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89123

AA 0052
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DECLARATION OF COUNSEL

Keith C. Brower, Esq. makes the following declaration:

1. T am an attorney duly licensed to practice law in the State of Nevada.

2. That a conflict regarding my representation of Mr. Dorsey has arisen in this case.

3. That this conflict stems from my appointment in November to Dajae Germany’s
Henderson Justice Court Case Number 17FH1906B. ;

4. That pursuant to confidential communications with Mr. Germany and the discovery
tendered following my appointment to Mr. Germany’s case I learned that I would
have a conflict continuing to represent Mr. Dorsey in this case.

5. This conflict also necessitated the withdrawal of my continued representation of Mr.
Germany and my withdrawal in his case was granted on November 1:j5, 2017.

6. That this conflict involving Mr. Dorsey cannot be resolved.

7. That the effective representation of Mr. Dorséy requires that I step down ﬁomtthis
case.

8. Thereforé, I request that this Court allow me to withdraw as the attorney of record in
this case and that this Court appoint independent counsel to represent Mr. Dorsey
from this poiht forward.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. (NRS 53.045).

DATED this 29th day of November 2017.

(s/ Keith C. Brower
Keith C. Brower, Esq.

AA 0053
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NOTICE OF MOTION

- PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned will bring the foregoing MOTION
TO WITHDRAW DUE TO CONFLICT on for hearing on the 12 day of
Dec. , 2017, at the hour of 8:30 a.m, in Department 22 of the Eighth Judicial
District Court, Clark County, Nevada.
DATED this 29h day of November 2017.

/s/ Keith C. Brower
, Keith C. Brower, Esq.
y Nevada Bar#7288
| 8275 South Eastern #200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89123
Attorney for Defendant

Certificate Of Service

I hereby certify that I am a person competent to serve papers, and that I am not
a party to the above-entitled action. I also hereby certify that this document was
electronically filed with the Eighth Judicial District Court on the 29th day of
November 2017. Electronic Service of the foregoing document shall be made in
accordance with the Master Service List as follows:

Clark County District Attorney’s Office Keith Brower
Any notice by this Court of the necessity to mail a copy of this brief to the above

named individuals, or any other individuals as directed by this Court will be complied
with. ‘ ' |

By /s/ Keith C. Brower

Keith C. Brower, Esq.

Nevada Bar# 7288 - Attorney For Defendant
The Law Offices Of Keith, C Brower, LLC
8275 South Eastern #200

Las Vegas, NV 89123

AA 0054
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FILED IN OPEN COURT
GPA STEVEN D. GRIERSON
%’{EX%N B. \%OLFS%N : CLERK OF THE COURT
ark County District Attorney :
Nevada Bar #001565 MAR0 S 2018
SANDRA K. DIGIACOMO
Chief Deputy District Attorney KQJ@( }Z !m/(ﬂ/)
Nevada Iyar #006204
200 Lewis Avenue KERI CROMER, DEPUTY
Las Ve as, NV 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500
Attorney for Plaintiff
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff, -
“Vs- CASENO: (C-17-323324-1
DENZEL DORSEY, .
Defendant.
. GUILTY PLEA:AGREEMENT_

I hereby agree to plead guilty to: COUNT 1 - INVASION OF THE HOME

(Category B Felony - NRS 205.067 - NOC 50435), as more fully alleged in the charging
document attached hereto as Exhibit "1".

My decision to plead guilty is based upon the plea agreement in this case which is as
follows:

The State will retain the right to argue. Additionally, the State agrees not to seek
habitual criminal treatment. Further, the State will not oppose dismissal of Count 2 and Case
No. 17F21598X after rendition of sentence. The State will not oppose standard bail after entry
of plea. However, if I fail to go to the Division of Parole & Probation, fail to appear at any
future court date or am arrested for any new offenses, I will stipulate to habitual criminal
treatment, to the fact that I have the requisite priors and to a sentence of sixty (60) to one
hundred twenty (120) months in the Nevada Department of Corrections. Additionally I agree
to pay full restitution including for cases and counts dismissed.

¢ g-17-323324-1 : v
' GPA ; : AA 0055
* Guilty Plea Agreemont ‘ .

4728980

RO

‘1“““““““ ‘“ I W:20162016RH20\22\16FH2022-GPADORSEY__ DENZEL)-001.DOCX

\Y



O 0 N N R W N e

) N [\ ] N N NN N N o I — et — Jo— — — p— ot

crime(s) to which I am pleading guilty, including the use of any prior convictions I may have

minimum term of imprisonment may not exceed forty percent (40%) of the maximum term of

- imprisonment. I understand that [ may also be fined up to $10,000.00. I understand that the

® o
I agree to the forfeiture of any and all weapons or any interest in any weapons seized
and/or impounded in connection with the instant case and/or any other case negotiated in
whole or in part in conjunction with this plea agreement. |
| I understand and agree that, if I fail to interview with the Department of Parole and
Probation, fail to appear at any subsequent hearings in this case, or an independent magistrate,
by affidavit review, confirms probable cause against me for new criminal charges including

reckless driving' or DUIL, but excluding minor traffic violations, the State will have the

unqualified right to argue for any legal sentence and term of confinement allowable for the

to increase my sentence as an habitual criminal to five (5) to twenty (20) years, life without
the possibility of parole, life with the possibility of parole after ten (10) years, or a definite
twenty-five (25) year term with the possibility of parole after ten (10) years.
- Otherwise I am entitled to receive the benefits of these negotiations as stated in this
plea agreement.
CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLEA

I understand that by pleading guilty I admit the facts which support all the elements of
the offense(s) to which I now plead as set forth in Exhibit *1".

As to Count 1, I understand that as a consequence of my plea of guilty the Court must
sentence me to imprisonment in the Nevada Department of Corrections for a minimum term

of not less than ONE (1) year and a maximum term of not more than TEN (10) years. The

law requires me to pay an Administrative Assessment Fee.

I understand that, lf appropriate, 1 will be ordered to make restitution to the victim of
the offense(s) to which I am pleading guilty and to the victim of any related offense which is
being dismissed or not prosecuted pursuant to this agreement. I will also be ordered to

reimburse the State of Nevada for any expenses related to my extradition, if any.
7]

2 AA 0058
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As to Count 1, I understand that I am not eligible for probation for the offense to which
I am pleading guilty.

I understand that I must submit to blood and/or saliva tests under the Direction of the
Division of Parole and Probation to determine genetic markers and/or secretor status.

I understand that if I am pleading guilty to charges of Burglary, Invasion of the Home,
Possession of a Controlled Substanée with Intent to Sell, Sale of a Controlled Substance, or
Gaming Crimes, for which I have prior felony conviction(s), I will not be eligible for probation
and may receive a higher sentencing range.

| I understand that if more than one sentence of imprisonment is imposed and I am
eligible to serve the sentences concurrently, the sentencing judge has the discretion to order
the sentences served concurrently or consecutively.

I understand that information regarding charges not filed, dismissed charges, or charges
to be dismissed pursuant to this agreement may be considered by the ju'dge at sentencing.

I have not been promised or guaranteed any particular sentence by anyone. I know that
my sentence is to be determinea by the Court within the limits prescribed by statute.

I understand that if my attorney or the State of Nevada or both recommend any specific
punishment to the Court, the Court is not obligated to accept the recommendation. |

I understand that if the offense(s) to which I am pleading guilty was committed while I
was incarcerated on another charge or while I was on probation or parole that I am not eligible
for credit for time served toward the instant offense(s). | |

I understand that if I am not a United States citizen, any criminal conviction will likely
result in serious negative immigration consequences including but not limited to:

1. The removal from the United States through deportation;
An inability to reenter the United States;

2

3. The inability to gain United States citizenship or legal residency;

4 An inability to renew and/or retain any legal residency status; and/or
5

An indeterminate term of confinement, with the United States Federal

W Government based on my conviction and immigration status.

3 | AA 0057
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Regardless of what I have been told by any attorney, no one can promise me that this
conviction will not result in negativ¢ immigration consequences and/or‘ impact my ability to
become a United Statés citizen and/or a legal resident.

I underétand that the Division of Parole and Probation will prepare a report for the
Sentencing judge prior to sentencing. This report will include matters relevant to the issue of
sentencing, including my criminal history. This report may contain hearsay information
regarding my background and criminal history. My attorney and 1 will each have the
opportunity to comment on the information contained in the report at the time of sentencing.
Unless the District Attorney has specifically agreed otherwise, the District Attorney may also
comment on this report.

v WAIVER OF RIGHTS |

By entering n'ly plea of guilty, I understand that I am waiving and forever giving up the

fbllowing rights and privileges: '
1. ’tl"he. constitutional privil‘e%e.again_st self-incrimination, including the right
lowed 10 commant o the jury Sbous oy rehucal v sy, o< " °€
2. The constitutional right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury, |
free of excessive pretrial publicity prejudicial to the defense, at which
trial 1 would be entitled to the assistance of an attomey, either appointed

or retained. At trial the State would bear the burden of proving beyond
a reasonable doubt each element of the offense(s) charged.

3. The constitutional right to confront and cross-examine any witnesses who
would testify against me. v

4. The constitutional right to subpoena witnesses to testify on my behalf.

5. The constitutional right to testify in my own defense.

6. The right to a:gfneal the conviction with the assistance of an attorney,
either appointed or retained, unless specifically reserved in writing and
agreed upon as provided in NRS 174.035(3). I understand this means I
am unconditionally waiving my right to a direct appeal of this conviction,
including any challenge based wupon reasonable constitutional,
jurisdictional or other grounds that challenge the legality of the
proceedings as stated in NRS 177.015(4). However, I remain free to
challenge my conviction through other post-conviction remedies
) including a habeas corpus petition pursuant to NRS Chapter 34.

i
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1 ~ VOLUNTARINESS OF PLEA
2 I have discussed the elements of all of the original charge(s) against me with my
3 || attorney and I understand the nature of the charge(s) against me.
4 I understand that the State would have to prove each element of the charge(s) against
5 " me at trial. ) |
6 | 1 have discussed with my attomey any possible defenses, defense strategies and
7 || circumstances which might be in my favor, |
8 All of the foregoing elements, consequences, rights, and waiver of rights have been
9 || thoroughly explained to me by my attorney. | ’
10 I believe that pleading guilty and accepting this plea bargaiin is in my best interest, and
11 || that a trial would be contrary to my best interest.
12 I am signing this agreement voluntarily, after consultation with my attorney, and I am
13 || not acting under duress or coercion or by virtue of any promises of leniency, except for those
14 || set forth in this agreement.
1- 5 I am not now under the influence of any intoxica{ting liquor, a controlled substance or
16 | other drug which would in any manner impair my ability to comprehend or understand this

| agreement or the proceedings surrounding my entry of this plea.

18 My attorney has answered all my questions regarding this guilty plea agreément and its
19 | consequences to my satisfaction and I am satisfied with the services provided by my attorney.
20 DATED this 13" day of March, 2018.

21

22

23 Defendant

24

55 | AGREED TO BY;

27 AR. DISTACOMO
{ ep ty District Attorney
28 evada Bar #006204

5 AA 0059

W201612016RH2022\16FH2022-GPA(DORSEY __DENZEL)-001.DOCX




—t

O 00 N L e WN

10
11
12
13
14
15
16

17

18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

. | .

CERTIFICATE OF COUNSEL:

hereby certify that:
1.

I, the undersigned, as the attorney for the Defendant named herein and as an officer of the court

Dated: This 13- day of March, 2018. |
/
ATTORNEY FOR DE%DANT

erg/L-5

I have fully explained to the Defendant the allegations contained m the
charge(s) to which guilty pleas are being entered.

I have advised the Defendant of the penalties for each charge and the restitution
that the Defendant may be ordered to pay.

I have inquired of Defendant facts concerning Defendant’s immigration status
and explained to Defendant that if Defendant 1s not a United States citizen any
criminal conviction will most likely result in serious negative immigration
consequences including but not limited to:

a. The removal from the United States through deportation;

b. An inability to reenter the United States;

c. The inability to gain United States citizenship or legal residency;

d. An inability to renew and/or retain any legal residency status; and/or
e. An indeterminate term of confinement, by with United States Federal

Government based on the conviction and immigration status.

Moreover, I have explained that regardless of what Defendant may have been
told by any attorney, no one can promise Defendant that this conviction will not
result in negative immigration consequences and/or impact Defendant’s abxhty
to become a United States citizen and/or legal resident.

All pleas of guilty offered by the Defendant pursuant to this agreement are
consistent with the facts known to me and are made with my advice to the
Defendant.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, the Defendant:

a. Is competent and understands the charges and the consequences of
pleading guilty as provided in this agreement,

b. Executed this agreement and will enter all guilty pleas pursuant hereto
voluntarily, and

e Was not under the influence of intoxicating liquor, a controlled

substance or other drug at the time I consulted with the Defendant as
certified in paragraphs 1 and 2 above.

6 AA 0060
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Electronically Filed

§/9/2017 12:52 PM _
Steven D. Grierson

CLERi OF THE COUEg

INFM

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565
SANDRA K. DIGIACOMO
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #006204

.200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 ' .
S’(02)_6 1-2500
ttorney for Plaintiff

LA. 5/15/17 " DISTRICT COURT

10:00 A.M, CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
K.BROWER, ESQ.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

b

CASENO: C-17-323324-1
- Plaintiff,
vs- DEPTNO: XXII

DENZEL DORSEY,
#2845569

INFORMATION
Defendant. ‘

STATE OF NEVADA

COUNTY OF CLARK
STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County District Attomey within and for the County of

Clark, State of Nevada, in the name and by the authority of the State of Nevada, informs the |

SS.

I Court:

That DENZEL DORSEY, the Defendant(s) above named, having committed the crimes
of INVASION OF THE HOME (Category B Felony - NRS 205.067 - NOC 50435) and
MALICIOUS DESTRUCTION OF PROPERTY (Gross Misdemeanor - NRS 206.310,
193.155 - NOC 50905), on or about the 28th day of November, 2016, within the County of
Clark, State of Nevada, contrary to the form, force and effect of statutes in such cases made |
and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the State of Nevada,

1/
"
i

AA 0061

Case Number: C-17-323324-1
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COUNT 1 - INVASION OF THE HOME

| resident, or lawful occupant, to wit: FLORENTINO and/or NORMA NAZARENO, by
breaking a glass door window, putting his arm through the window and unlocking the deadbolt,

O 08 3 N bW N e

| property of another, to wit: a glass door window, owned by FLORENTINO and/or NORMA
: NAZARENO, located at 2731 Warm Rays, Henderson, Clark County, Nevada, by breaking
| said glass door window at said residence, the value of said damage being $250.00 or more and

—t
+

| NAME ~ ADDRESS
i CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS Henderson Detention Center Communications
| CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS Henderson Detention Center Records
CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS HPD COMMUNICATIONS
CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS . HPD RECORDS
| GROSS, K. C/0 CCDA'’S OFFICE
| GUTIERREZ, C. HPD P# 1695
| HAYEK, GHASSAN Global Auto, 1525 E. Sunset Rd., LV, NV
w7
2

i i -—— ...._v_..‘._. et e dae

did willfully, unlawfully, feloniously, and forcibly enter an inhabited dwelling, to wit:
2731 Warm Rays, Henderson, Clark County, Nevada, without permission of the owner,

in an attempt to gain entry.
COUNT 2 - MALICIOUS DESTRUCTION OF PROPERTY
.did willfully, unlawfully, or maliciously destroy and/or injure the real and/or personal

less than $5,000.00.

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County Disfrict, =
-Nevada Bap #60 565

'
oA ty District Attomey
ada Bar #006204

Names of witnesses known to the District Attorney’s Office at the time of filing this

information are as follows:

W:\20162016RH20022\16FH2022-INFM~DORSEY__ DENZEL}-001.DOCX

AA 0062

. /



— o ——.

. ' . .
.
. .

N NN NN N N N et it bt ok bk bt bt b b et
WE’IQ\M&WNHO\DN\IO\M-&MNHO

| MCGEARY,J. ~ HPD P¥# 1411 |
NAZARENO, KEVIN 2731 Warm Rays Ave., Henderson, NV
NAZARENO, NORMA 2731 Warm Rays Ave., Henderson, NV
WARD, R. - HPD Pi# 1701
| DO NOT READ TO THE JURY

' HEREINAFTER TO BE READ TO A JURY HEARING THE PRIMARY OFFENSE

| NOTICE OF PRIOR BURGLARY AND/OR HOME INVASION CONVICTIONS

O 08 3 O v S W N

| as Defendant DENZEL DORSEY has already suffered one (1) prior Burglary and/or Home

| State’s intent to seek punishment of Defendant DENZEL DORSEY pursuant to the provisions

1/

UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES IS THE LANGUAGE CONTAINED
FOR WHICH THE DEFENDANT IS PRESENTLY CHARGED.

The State of Nevada hereby places Defendant DENZEL DORSEY on notice that in the
event of a Burglary conviction pursuant to NRS 205.060 and/or a Home Invasion conviction
pursuant to NRS 205.067 in the above-entitled action, he/she will not be eligible for probation

Invasion conviction(s), as set forth in the “Notice of Intent to Seek Punishment as a Habitual
Criminal,” said notice being incorporated by this reference as though fully set forth herein.
UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES IS THE LANGUAGE CONTAINED
HEREINAFTER TO BE READ TO A JURY HEARING THE PRIMARY OFFENSE
FOR WHICH THE DEFENDANT IS PRESENTLY CHARGED.
NOTICE OF INTENT TO SEEK PUNISHMENT AS A HABITUAL -
: CRIMINAL

The State of Nevada hereby places Defendant DENZEL DORSEY on notice of the

of NRS 207.010 as a habitual criminal in the event of a felony conviction in the above-entitled
éction. ,

The State will seek punishment as a habitual criminal based upon the following felony
convictions, to wit: . ' '
1/
i
i

.

W:2016\2016P\H20\22\1 6FH2022-INFM~(DORSEY ;_DENZEL)-001.DOCX
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| Court, County of Clark, State of Nevada, for the crime of Attempt Burglary, in Case No,

DO NOT READ TO THE JURY
DA#16FH2022X/erg/L-5
HPD EV#1621448
(TK)
| 4 . -~

1, Thatin 2012, the Defendant was convicted in the Eighth Judicial District
Court, County of Clark, State of Nevada, for the crime of Invasion of Home, in Case No.
C-12-284308-1.

2. That in 2012, the Defendant was convicted in the Eighth Judicial District

C-12-279732-1.

- STEVEN B. WOLFSON
' Clark County Distriet Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

- D11 A
District

epuyl Attorney
ar #006204

WA2016201 6P H20022\1 6FH2022-INFM-(DORSEY__DENZEL)-001.D0CX
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C-17-323324-1 DISTRICT COURT
’ : CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor .COURT MINUTES ‘March 13,2018 .
C-17-323324-1 State of Nevada
Vs
Denzel Dorsey
March 13, 2018 08:30 AM - State's Request for Entry of Plea
HEARD BY: Johnson, Susan COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 15D

COURT CLERK: Cromer, Keri: Kidd, Lauren
RECORDER:  Ramirez, Norma

REPORTER:

PARTIES PRESENT:

Caitlyn McAmis Attorney for Defendant
Denzel Dorsey Defendant

State of Nevada Plaintiff

Victoria A. Villegas Attorney for Plaintiff

JOURNAL ENTRIES
Guilty Plea Agreement FILED IN OPEN COURT

NEGOTIATIONS are as contained in the Guilty Plea Agreement. DEFT. DORSEY ARRAIGNED AND
PLED GUILTY TO INVASION OF THE HOME (F). Court ACCEPTED plea and ORDERED, matter
referred to the Division of Parole and Probation (P & P); trial dates VACATED; matter SET for sentencing.
Ms. McAmis advised Deft. had previously posted bail and requested an own recognizance release. No
objection by State. COURT FURTHER ORDERED, own recognizance release GRANTED. Court advised
Deft. if he failed to appear for his future court date he would serve a minimum of 60 months to 120
months.

OR.
7/17/18 8:30 AM SENTENCING

CLERK'S NOTE: Bond was neither addressed at the 1/9/18 hearing, nor was it addressed at the hearing
when counsel confirmed on 1/16/18. Bond exonerated on 4/18/2018. kc//4-18-18

Printed Date: 4/19/2018 Page 1 of 1 Minutes Date: March 13, 2018

Prepared by: Keri Cromer

AA 0065
-
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Electronically Filed
4/26/2018 12:43 PM
* Steven D. Grierson

MOT
CAITLYN MCAMIS, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 012616
THE LAW OFFICES OF KRISTINA WILDEVELD
550 E. Charleston Blvd., Suite A
Las Vegas, NV 89104
Phone (702) 222-0007
Fax (702) 222-0001
Attorney for Defendant, DENZEL DORSEY
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
k%
THE STATE OF NEVADA, )
) CASE NO. C-17-323324-1
Plaintiff, ) DEPT.NO. XXII
)
VS. )
)
DENZEL DORSEY, )
)
Defendant. )
)

WIW
COMES NOW the Defendant, DENZEL DORSEY, by and through his attorney,
CAITLYN MCAMIS, ESQ., and respectfully moves to place this matter on calendar to address
M. Dorsey’s custody status in-this case while he is subject to an out-of-state hold.
This motion is made and based upon all of the papers and pleadings on file herein, the
attached Declaration in support hereof, as well as oral argument at the time of hearing.
DATED this 25th day of April, 2018.
Respectfully Submitted by:

" /s/: Caitlyn McAmis
CAITLYN MCAMIS, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 012616
Attorney for Defendant, DENZEL DORSEY

-1-

AA 0066 |
Case Number: C-17-323324-1 Docket 79845 Document 2020-21815

CLERK OF THE COY,
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NOTICE OF MOTION
TO: STATE OF NEVADA, Plaintiff; and,
TO: - CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY, Attorney for Plaintiff;
TO: SANDRA DIGIACOMO, Chief Deputy District Attorney;

YOU AND EACH OF YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the Defendant will
bring the foregoing MOTION TO PLACE ON CALENDAR TO ADDRESS CUSTODY
STATUS AND HOLD on for hearing on the __ day of ____May 8 , 2018 at the

hour of 8:30 ar:n

thereafter as the matter can be heard before the Court.
DATED this 25th day of April, 2018.
| Respectfully submitted by:

/s/: Caitlyn McAmis

CAITLYN MCAMIS, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 012616

550 E. Charleston Blvd., Suite A

Las Vegas, NV 89104

(702) 222-0007

Attorney for Defendant, DENZEL DORSEY

__.m., in Department 22 of the Eighth Judicial District Court, or as soon

AA 0067
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DECLARATION OF CAITLYN MCAMIS, ESQ.

I, Caitlyn McAmis, Esq., declare that I have personal knowledge of the facts set forth
below, except for those statements expressly made upon information and belief, and as to those
facts, I believe them to be true and I am competent to testify:

1. That I am an attorney duly licensed to practice law in the State of Nevada and I have been
appointed to represent Defendant, Denzel Dorsey, in this instant matter.
2. That Mr. Dorsey entered a guilty plea in this case and was released from this casé
pending Sentencing.
3. That Mr. Dorsey has remained in the Clark County Detention Center on a hold related to
a California case. |
4. That Mr. Dorsey remains subject to that hold and has not been released, and that release
will not occur until his Nevada matter(s) are resolved.
5. That Counsel respectfully asks this matter to be placed back on calendar to address Mr
Dorsey’s custody status, that he be remanded on this case, accruing credit, and that an in-custody
sentencing date be scheduled with the matter referred to P&P for an in-custody PSI interview.
6. That Declarant has read the contents of the Defendant’s Motion herein, and that, based
upon information and belief, all of the factual allegations contained therein are true and correct.
I make this declaration upon information and belief under penalty of perjury under the

laws of the State of Nevada this 25th day of April, 2018.

/s/: Caitlyn McAmis
CAITLYN MCAMIS, ESQ.

AA 0068
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE _
I, the undersigned, hereby certify that on April 26, 2018, a true copy of MOTION TO
PLACE ON CALENDAR TO ADDRESS CUSTODY STATUS AND HOLD was serveq
upon interested parties by way of electronic mail (e-mail) through the Court’s electronic filing

system, Odyssey File & Serve, to counsel’s corresponding e-mail address as follows:

SANDRA DIGIACOMO, ESQ.
E-mail: sandra.digiacomo@clarkcountyda.com

E-mail: Motions@clarkcountyda.com

/s/: Caitlyn McAmis
CAITLYN MCAMIS, ESQ.

AA 0069



C-17-323324-1 DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY; NEVADA

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor COURT MINUTES May 08, 2018
C-17-323324-1 State of Nevada o
’ VS

Denzel Dorsey

May 08, 2018 08:30 AM  ‘Motion to Place on Calendar to Address Custody Status.and Hold

HEARD BY: Johnson, Susan COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 15D
COURT CLERK: Cromer, Keri
RECORDER: Ramirez, Norma

REPORTER: \

PARTIES PRESENT:

Caitlyn McAmis Attorney for Defendant
Denzel Dorsey Defendant

John T. Niman Attorney for Plaintiff
State of Nevada Plaintiff

JOURNAL ENTRIES
Colloquy regarding Presentence Investigation Report. Ms. McAmis advised Deft. had a California hold,
so his Nevada cases needed to be resolved; requested Deft. be remanded on this case and to set
sentencing in 30 days. Statement by Deft. COURT ORDERED, sentencing RESCHEDULED.
O.R.

6/05/2018 - 8:30 AM - SENTENCING

Printed Date: 5/9/2018 Page 1 of 1 Minutes Date: May 08, 2018

Prepared by: Keri Cromer
AA 0070




C-17-323324-1 DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor COURT MINUTES June 05,,n2‘«018,
C-17-323324-1 State of Nevada | N
Vs ,
Denzel Dorsey
June 05, 2018 08:30 AM  Sentencing :
HEARD BY: Johnson, Susan COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 15D

COURT CLERK: Cromer, Keri
RECORDER: Ramirez, Norma

REPORTER:

PARTIES PRESENT:

Caitlyn McAmis . Attorney for Defendant
Denzel Dorsey Defendant

John T. Niman Attorney for Plaintiff
State of Nevada Plaintiff

JOURNAL ENTRIES

Ms. McAmis advised they could not proceed today as the Deft. wanted to withdraw his plea and dismiss
her as.counsel of record. Deft. advised the Motions were filed approximately 10 days ago. Court advised
it needed to see the Motion before rendering a decision and ORDERED, matter CONTINUED and SET

for status check.
O.R. (COC)

6/12/2018 - 8:30 AM - SENTENCING/STATUS CHECK: STATUS OF MOTIONS

Printed Date: 6/6/2018 Page 1 of 1 Minutes Date:

Prepared by: Keri Cromer

June 05, 2018

AA 0071
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C-17-323324-1 DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Felony/Gross Misdemeandr COURT MINUTES June 12,2018
C-17-323324-1 State of Nevada |
Vs
Denzel Dorsey
June 12, 2018 © 08:30AM  All Pending Motions
HEARD BY: Johnson, Susan COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 15D

COURT CLERK: Cromer, Keri
RECORDER: Ramirez, Norma

REPORTER:

PARTIES PRESENT:

Caitlyn McAmis Attorney for Defendant
John T. Niman . Attorney for Plaintiff
State of Nevada Plaintiff

JOURNAL ENTRIES

SENTENCING...STATUS CHECK: STATUS OF MOTION FILING...DEFENDANT'S PRO PER MOTION
TO DISMISS COUNSEL :

COURT ORDERED, Motion to Dismiss Counsel GBA_,N',I_',E__D\;, Mr. Hughes APPOINTED; matter SET for
confirmation of counsel; sentencing CONTINUED. Court advised it wanted to see the transcript of the
arraignment canvas. '
O.R. (COC)

6/28/2018 - 9:00 AM - SENTENCING/CONFIRMATION OF COUNSEL (ED HUGHES, ESQ.)

Printed Date: 6/13/2018 v .Page 1 of 1 Minutes Date: June 12, 2018
Prepared by: Keri Cromer
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Electronically Filed
6/14/2018 2:41 PM
Sﬁeven D. Grierson

TRAN
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
STATE OF NEVADA ;
EVADA, /
) CASE NO. C323324-1
- )
Plalntlﬁ, ) DEPT XXII
VvS.
DENZEL DORSEY, , i
Defendant. i
)

BEFORE THE HONORABLE SUSAN JOHNSON, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE
MARCH 13,2018

RECORDER’S TRANSCRIPT OF HEARING RE

STATE’S REQUEST FOR ENTRY OF PLEA

APPEARANCES:
For the Plaintiff: ‘ VICTORIA VILLEGAS, ESQ.
Deputy District Attorney

For the Defendant: CAITLYN L. MCAMIS, ESQ.

RECORDED BY: NORMA RAMIREZ, COURT RECORDER
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TUESDAY, MARCH 13, 2018 AT 8:53:16 A.M.

THE COURT: Okay. State of Nevada versus Denzel Dorsey, case number
C323324-1. Would you announce your appearances for the record, please?

MS. MCAMIS: Good mbrning, Your Honor. Caitlyn McArhis, bar number
12616 on behalf of Denzel JDoréey who is present in custody.

MS. VILLEGAS: Victoria Villegas on behalf of the State. |

THE COURT: And this is State’s Request for Entry of Plea.

MS. MCAMIS: That's correct. Your Honor, | do have the signed guilty plea
agreement. | apologize that | didn’t have time to file it before court. I'm asking for
permission to file it in open court. This matter is resolved.

THE COURT: Okay. ,éo ahead.

MS. MCAMIS: If | may approach.

THE COURT: You may approach.

MS. MCAMIS: Thank you. All right. Your Honor, | believe you now have the
filed guilty plea agréement in front of you. Today Mr. Dorsey is prepared to admit
and plead guilty to Count 1, Invasion of the Home, a Category B Felony which is
based on the plea agreement as follows. The State will retain the right to argue.
Additionally, the State agrees not to seek habitual criminal treatment. Further, the
State will not oppose dismissal of Count 2 in this case and dismissal of the Las
Vegas Justice Court case number 17F21598X after rendition of sentence. The |
State will also not oppose standard bail after entry of plea, however if he fails to
interview with the department — or excuse me, Division of Parole and Probation or if
he fails to appear at any future court date or is arrested for any new offense he will

be stipulating to small habitual criminal treatment. That would be a stipulated
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sentence of 60 months to 120 months in the Nevada Department of Corrections.
And finally, he agrees to pay full restitution for this case and counts dismissed. And
there’s a forfeiture agreement as well to the extent there was anything seized.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. VILLEGAS: That is correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Dorsey, | need you in front of the microphone. You
might need a little help from your neighbor there, all right? Okay. | need to be able ,
to hear you so please project for me, all right?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. | do have a Quilty plea agreement which was filed in
open court just a few seconds ago indicating that you had aQreed to plead guilty to
committing the crime of Couht 1, Invasion of the Home, a Category B Felony in
violation of NRS 205.061. Sir, did you sign this agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Perior to signing thé agreement, did you have ah opportunity to
review the agreement? Did you review it and understand the terms?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Is anyone forcing you to plead guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You're pleading guilty of your own free will?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Is Denzel Dorsey your true name?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. By the way, are you able to hear him?

THE COURT RECORDER: No.
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THE COURT: Okay. Did you ever have a coach in high school?’

THE DEFENDANT: | used to box so, yes.

THE COURT: Okéy. Project like your coach voice, all right? Okay.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Say it again.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Allright. Say it just like that, all right? All right. Is Denzel
Dorsey your true name, sir?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. How old are you?

THE DEFENDANT: 24, ‘

THE COURT: All right. How far did you go in school?

THE DEFENDANT: | graduated high school.

THE COURT: What high school?

THE DEFENDANT: In the Department of Corrections.

THE COURT: I'm sorry?

THE DEFENDANT: In the Department of Corrections.

THE COURT: Did you get a GED or did you actually go to high school there?

THE DEFENDANT: No, | just completed it High Desert.

THE COURT: At High Desert. Okay. Well, you speak very well. Do you
read, write and under the English language?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Are you a United States Citizen?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. And just so that | am clear because we couldn’t hear
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that well, sir, did you have an opportunity to review the guilty plea agreement? Did
you review it and understand the terms? |

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Is anyone forcing you to plead guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You're pleading guilty of your own free will?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor:

THE COURT: Okay. Sir, just so that | am clear. Do you understand the
penalty range for this crime?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. You understand that as a consequence of your guilty
plea the Court must sentence you to imprisonment in the Nevada Department of
Corrections for a minimum term of not less than one year and a maximum term of
not more than ten years?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor. ‘

~ THE COURT: Do you also understand that you could be fined up to $10,000?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you also understand that sentencing is strictly up to the
Court, that one can promise you probation, leniency or other special treatment?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you also understand that no one could promise you a

particular sentence even though this guilty plea agreement says agreement and

|| stipulations and all that stuff that | as the Judge do not necessarily have to follow

this deal?

" THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.
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THE COURT: Do you also understand that you are giving up certain
constitutional rights which are listed in the guilty plea agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.
| THE COURT: | take it that you did discuss your case and your rights with your
lawyer? |

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you have any questions regarding your rights or the
negotiations?

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. So —just so that | am clear — let me get there. You are
pleading guilty because in truth and in fact on or about the 28™ day of November
2016 within the County of Clark, state of Nevada, contrary to the form, force and
effect of statutes in such cases made and provided and against the peace and f
dignity of the state of Nevada that you willfully, unlawfully, feloniously and forcibly
entered an inhabited dwelling to wit: 2731 Warm Rays, Henderson, Clark County,
Nevada without permission of the owner, resident or lawful occupant to wit: |
Florentino and/or Norma Nazareno by breaking a glass window, putting your arm
through the window and unlocking the deadbolt in an attempt to gain entry.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Is the State satisfied with that canvass?

MS. VILLEGAS: Yes, Your Honor. |

THE COURT: Okay. Okay. The Court conditionally accepts your plea as
being freely and voluntarily given. And we need to give this gentleman a sentencing
date.

MS. MCAMIS: Your Honor, | would point out that pursuant to the negotiations
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the State does not oppose standard bail after entry of plea. He has entered his bail

and | would like to direct the Court’s attention. He actually posted a $7,000 bail in

| this case. He was out on bail and then was picked up after a new case. So, we are

asking for the Court to — and | believe the $7,000 bond bail was not exonerated, |
believe it’s still in place. So, we are asking for him to actually be released pending
sentencing.

MS. VILLEGAS: That's fine, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. | will go ahead and allow him to be released on this bail.
But, sir, | just want to caution you. Part of the deal is the State does not oppose
standard bail after entry of plea whilch | guess the standard bail is $7,000, however,

if you fail to go to the Division of Parole and Probation, if you fail to appear at any

future court date or are arrested on any new offenses, that you have stipulated that

you would serve habitual criminal treatment, meaning that you are stipulating to a
sentence of a minimum of 60 month to a maximum of 120 months to be served in
the Nevada Department of Corrections. Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: That’s quite a hammer. So, (1) you gotta stay out of trouble
and you gdtta cooperate with the division, you understand? |

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Allright. | will go ahead and allow him to be released.
And let’s get him a date.

THE COURT CLERK: July 17", 8:30 a.m.

THE COURT: July 17" at 8:30 a.m. You understand?

[No audible response from the defendant]

MS. MCAMIS: Your Honor, would it be possible to go just 30 days beyond
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that?

THE COURT: Why?

MS. MCAMIS: He actd\ally has a new born child. He's trying to prepare
himself and get everything in order and take of a death in the family and then be
able to come back and be subject to his remand and serve his prison sentence. So,

he’s just asking for an additional 30 days.

THE COURT: Any objection to that?
- MS. VILLEGAS: Well, Your Honor, it's already like four months away so —

THE COURT: When is the baby due? /

MS. MCAMIS: The baby was actually already due. The baby is‘already born.
Excuse me.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. MCAMIS: The baby’s been born so it's a brand new baby.

THE COURT: Okay. So, why can’t we sentence in July? _

MS. MCCAMISH: | was just asking for an additional date because for thé
addiﬁonal fime to be able to prepare and go serve his prison sentence, but we would|

submit it to the Court.

THE COURT: Well, additional time to serve. I'm not understand — to prepare.

MS. MCAMIS: Right. He has a number of things that he needs to get in order
including taking care of his fiancé, taking care of his baby and then taken care of the
recent death in the family. }

THE DEFENDANT: | have estate issues with my family so | have to go
[indecipherable]

THE COURT: Okay. I'm having really — m having a tough time hearing you,

sir. Could you project, please?
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THE DEFENDANT: | have estate issues, you know, that | have to go and
settle with my family. Property —

THE COURT: Who passed away?

THE DEFENDANT: My grandfather.

THE COURT: Okay. And you have to take care of this?

- THE DEFENDANT: Well, he left me some property and some other things

that I'm entitled to that | have to take care of.

THE COURT: | see no reason why you can't get it done in four months, okay?
So, July 17" at 8:30.

MS. MCAMIS: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Thank you.

MS. MCAMIS: Oh, and just to confirm the calendar call and jury trial dates will
be vacated, correct?

THE COURT: Thank you for reminding me.

MS. MCAMIS: Thank you —

THE COURT: The calendar —

MS. MCAMIS: - so much. |

THE COURT: -- call of April 17 will be vacated as well as the jury trial of April
23" of 2018,

* Kk Kk Kk *k
* Kk k Kk *
* Kk Kk Kk *k

* * k k %
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MS. MCAMIS: Thank you.
[Proceedings concluded at 9:03:37 a.m.]

* % kx * * » (

ATTEST: |do hereby certify that | have truly and‘correctly transcribed the
audio/video recording in the above-entitled case to the best of my ability.

\/Q/Mm@%m/

NORMA RAMIREZ (J
Court Recorder
District Court Dept. XXII
702 671-0572
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C-17-323324-1 DISTRICT COURT
' CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor COURT MINUTES June 28, 2018

C-17-323324-1 State of Nevada
Vs
‘Denzel Dorsey

June 28, 2018 09:00AM  All Pending Motions

HEARDBY:  Johnson, Susan COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 15D
COURT CLERK: Cromer, Keri

RECORDER: Ramirez, Norma

REPORTER:

PARTIES PRESENT:

Denzel Dorsey Defendant
~ State of Nevada ‘ Plaintiff

Victoria A. Villegas Attorney for Plaintiff

JOURNAL ENTRIES

CONFIRMATION OF COUNSEL...DEFENDANT'S PRO PER MOTION TO WITHDRAW
PLEA...SENTENCING

Keith Brower, Esq. present. Mr. Brower advised he was notified about this matter yesterday, Mr. Hughes
was out of the country, and he could not make any representations at this time due to preexisting
conflicts; requested a continuance. COURT ORDERED, matters CONTINUED; matter SET for status
check.

OR.

7/17/2018 - 8:30 AM - CONFIRMATION OF COUNSEL/DEFENDANT'S PRO PER MOTION TO
WITHDRAW PLEA/STATUS CHECK: SENTENCING

Printed Date: 6/30/2018 Page 1 of 1 Minutes Date: June 28, 2018

Prepared by: Keri Cromer
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Electronically Filed
", 71312018 8:58 AM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COU,
OPPS e M
STEVEN B. WOLFSON : :
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565
JOHN T. NIMAN
Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #014408
200 Lewis Avenue .
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff
DISTRICT COURT |
~ CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA, |
| Plaintiff, |
-vs- CASENO: C-17-323324-1
DENZEL DORSEY, .
DENZEL, . DEPTNO: XV
Defendant.

STATE:’ S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S
-PRO PER MOTION TO WITHDRAW PLEA

DATE OF HEARING: JULY 17, 2018-
TIME OF HEARING: 8:30 AM.

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County
District Attorney, through JOHN T. NIMAN, Deputy. District Attorney, and hereby submits
the attached Points and Authorities in Opposition to Defendant’s Pro Per Motion to Withdraw
Plea. '

This Opposition is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein, the

attached Points and Authorities in support hereof, and oral argument at the time of hearing, if

“deemed necessary by this Honorable Court.

i
"
"
i
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Denzel Dorsey (“Defendant”) was charged, by way of Inforrnaﬁon, with one count of
Invasion of the Home, and one count of Malicious Destruction of Property. Information,

May 9, 2017. Defendant was arraigned and pleaded not guilty on May 15, 2017. After several

" trial settings, Defendant entered into a Guilty Plea Agreement wherein he agreed to plead

guilty to one count of Invasion of the Home. Guilty Plea Agreement, March 9, 2018. Pursuant
to the Guilty Plea Agreement, the State retained the right to argue, but.agreed not to seek
haiaitﬁal criminal treatment, agreed to dismiss the Malicious Destruction of Property charge, |
and agreed to dismiss case 17F21598X after rendition of sentence. Id. at 1. Additionally, the
State agreed not to oppose standard bail after entry of plea. Id. Defendant agreed that if he
failed to report to the Division of Parole and Probation, failed to appear for any future Court
dates, or was arrested on any new charges, he would be adjudicated as a habitual criminal with
a stipulated sentence of 60-120 months in the Nevada Department of Corrections. Id.
Defendant additionally ai_greed to pay restitution, .inclgding in cases and counts dismissed. Id,

On March 13, 2018, this Court canvassed Defendant, and Defendant entered his guilty |

plea. Recorder's Transcript of Hearing Re State's Request for Entry of Plea March 13, 2018

(“Transcript”). Defendant was to be sentenced on June 5, 2018. Minutes, June 5, 2018.
However, Defendant’s counsel informed the' Court that Defendant had filed Motions to
withdraw counsel and to withdraw his guilty plea, though they had not yet been received by
the Court. Id. These Motions were received on June .6, 2018. On June 12, 2018, this Court
granted Defendant’s Motion to Withdraw Counsel and appointed Ed Hughes-as Defendant’s

counsel, but continued the sentencing and set a status check for confirmation of counseél on |

June 28, 2018. Minutes, June 12, 2018. On June 28, 2018, the Court continued the Sentencing
until July 17, 2018, so Mr. Hughes could be present, and for the State to file an Opposition to
Defendant’s Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea. The State’s Opposition follows.
"
I

2 &/
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

- A Defendant may move to withdraw a guilty plea before sentencing, NRS 176.165, and
"a District Court may grant a Defendant's Motion to withdraw his guilty plea before sentencing
for any reason where permitting withdrawal would be fair and just," Stevenson v. State, 131

Nev. . . 354 P.3d 1277, 1281 (2015). To this end, the Nevada Supreme Court has

disavowed the standard previously announced in Crawford v, State, 117 Nev. 718, 30 P.3d

1123 (2001), which focused exclusively on whether the plea was knowingly, volﬁntarily, and
intelligently:made, and affirmed that "the District Court must consider the totality of the |
circumstances to determine whether permitting withdrawal of a guilty plea before sentencing

would be fair and just." Stevenson, 131 Nev. at ., 354 P.3d at 1281. However, Nevada law

clearly establishes that a plea of guilty is presumptively valid and the burden is on the defense

to show that the plea was not voluntarily entered. Bryant v. State, 102 Nev. 268, 272, 721

P.2d 364, 367 (1986); Wingfield v. State, 91 Nev. 336,}337, 535 P.2d 1295, 1295 (1975).
The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that, “[i|n all criminal

prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance of Counsel for his
defense.” The United States Supreme Court has long recognized that “the right to counsel is
the right to the effective assistance of counsel.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686,
104 S. Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984); see also State v, Love, 109 Nev. 1136 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323
(1993).

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a Defendant must prove
he was denied “reasonably effective assistance” Qf counsel by satisfying the two-prong test of
Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686-87, 104 S. Ct. at 2063-64. See also Love, 109 Nev. at 1138, 865
P.2d at 323. Under the Stnckland test, a Defendant must show first that his counsel's

representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and second, that but for
counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have
been different. 466 U.S. at 687-88, 694, 104 S. Ct. af 2065, 2068; Warden, Nevada State
Prison v, Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, '432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 ('1984_) (adopting the Strickland two-

part test). “[TThere is no reason for a Court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to

3 ‘ AA 0096
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does not mean errorless counsel, but rather counsel whose assistance is ‘[w]ithin the range of

© N v AW N

approach the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if
the Defendant xﬁakeé an insufficient showing on one.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S. Ct.
at 2069.

The Court begins with the lpresumption of effectiveness and then must determine
whether fhe Defendant has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel was

ineffective. Means v. State, 120 Nev.l 1001, 1011, 103 P.3d 25, 32 (2004). “Effective counsel

competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.”” Jackson v. Warden, 91 Nev. 430, 432,
537 P2d 473, 474 (1975). |

Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to make futile objecﬁons or arguments. See
Ennis v. State, 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P.3d 1095, 1103 (2006). Trial counsel has the

“immediate and ultimate responsibility of deciding if and when to object, which witnesses, if
any, to call, and what defenses to develop.” Rhyne v. State, 118 Nev. 1, 8, 38 P.3d 163, 167
(2002).

Based on the above law, the role of a Court in considering .allegatio'ns of ineffective
assistance of counsel is “not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine
whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render

reasonably effective assistance.” Donovan v. State, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711

(1978). This analysis does not mean that the Court should “second guess reasoned choices
between trial tactics. nor does it mean that defense counsel, to protect himself against
allegations of inadequacy, must make every conceivable Motion no matter how remote the
possibilities are of success.” Id. To be effective, the constitution “does not require that counsel '
do what is impossible or unethical. If there is no bona fide defense to the charge, counéel
cannot create one and may disserve the interests of his client by attempting a uselesé charade.™
United States v. .Crdnic, 466 U.S. 648, 657 n.19, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 2046 n.19 (1984).

n. | '

" |

"

AA 0097 :
4 : (-

W:2016\2016F\H20\22\16FH2022-OPPS-(DORSEY__DENZEL)-001.DOCX ' |




O 00 ~1 & U K W N =

NN NN N N N NN e e s e e e e e e e
0 I & WU B W N = O OV I W W N = O

“There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the
best criminal defense attorrieys would not defend a particular client in the same way.”
Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S. Ct. at 689. “Strategic choices made by counsel after

thoroughly investigating the plausible options are almost unchallengeable.” Dawson v. State,

108 Nev. 112, 117; 825 P.2d 593, 596 (1992); see also Ford v. State, 105 Nev. 850, 853, 784

P.2d 951, 953 (1989). In essence, the Court must “judge the reasonableness of counsel's

challenged conduct on the facts of ‘the,part'icular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's

_conduct.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066.

Even if a Defendant can demonstrate that his counsel's representation fell below an
objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a

reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the result of the trial would have been

~different. McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999) (citing

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 8. Ct. at 2064). “A reasonable probability is a probability
sufficient to undermine confiderice in the outcome.” Id. (c1tmg Strlckland 466 U.S. at 687-
89, 694, 104 S. Ct at 2064 65, 2068). _

A Defendant must prove the dlsputéd factual allegations underlymg his ineffective-

assistance claim by a preponderance of the evidence. Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1012,

103 P.3d 25, 33 (2004). Furthermore, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel must be
supported with specific factual allegations, which if true, would entitle the petitioner to relief, | |
Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). “Bare” and “naked”

allegations are not sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled by the record. Id.

A Defendant who contends his attorney was ineffective because he did not adequately
investigate must show how a better investigation would have rendered a more favoraﬁle
outcome probable. Molina v. State, 120 Nev. 185, 192, 87 P.3d 533, 538 (2004).

7
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Here, Defendant’s Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea (“Motion”) raises four issues. First,

Defendant states that counsel failed to perform an adequate investigation. Motion at 2-3.

However, Defendant fails to state what counsel should have investigated, what a better

investigation would have found, and how that Better investigation would have rendered a more
favorable outcome probablé. Indee_d; the claim that counsel failed to adequately investigate his
case is merely a “bare” and “naked” allegation which cannot provide a “fair” or “just” reason
for which he should be allowed to withdraw his guilty plea. Harggoveﬂ, 100 Nev. at 502, 686
P.2d at 225. Accordingly, Defendant’s claim should be denied.

Second, Defendant states that Counsel represented that “the only way to gef rid of [this
case] to move on with life and to sée his first (;h'ild be born, was to sign the plea agreement

with the stipulati(m that the Defendant was to remain out of custody, that his bail was to be

reinstated in this case and get an OR in case No. 17F214598X after rendition of sentence.”.

Motion at 2. As to the initial point, Defendant’s child was already born by the time he entered
his plea when this Court canvassed him. Tfanscript at 8. Second, this Court in fact reinstated
bail at $7,000, which the State did not olppose, and, as bail had been previously posted, the
Defendant was released in this case. Id. at 6-8. Therefore, Defendant received the benefit for

which he bargained, and this does not constitute a reason to permit him to withdraw his plea.

Third, Defendant claims that counsel failed “to inform him of the consequences of the |

plea,” and failed “to ensure [he] understood the sentencing scheme.” Once again, these are

“bare” and “naked” allegations insufficient to permit him to withdraw his guilty plea.

Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. Further, these claims are belied by the record. In

fact, both this Court and Defendant’s counsel explained both the consequences of his plea and

the potential sentence which he was facing:

. THE COURT: Okay. And just so that I am clear because we couldn’t hear that
. well, sir, did you have an opportunity to review the guilty plea agreement‘? Did
you review it and understand the terms? _

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Allright. Is anybne forcing you to plead guilty?
THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor.

AA 0099

W:\ZOI6\2016F\H20\22\l6FH2022-0PPS—(DORSEY_DENZEL)—00LPOCX

1




O 0 N N Bt BN

NN N NN NN NN e e e e e e e e e
0 NN N L B W NSO O NN SN N W NN o

THE COURT: You’re pleading guilty of your own free will?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Sir, just so that I am clear. Do ybu understand the penalty
range for this crime? ‘

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. You understand that as a consequence of your guilty

lea the Court must sentence you to imprisonment in the Nevada Department of

: I()Dorrections for a minimum term of not less than one year and a maximum term
of not more than ten years? :

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Do you also understand that you could be fined up to $10,000?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor., '

THE COURT: Do you also understand that sentencing is strictly up to the Court,
that one can promise you probation, leniency or other special treatment?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you also understand that no one could promise you a
particular sentence even thout%h this Guilty Plea Agreement says agreement and
s}tlltpu(;atilgfns and all that stuff that I as the Judge do not necessarily have to follow
this geal .

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:; Do you also understand that 1Xou are giving up certain
constitutional rights which are listed in the Guilty Plea Agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

| THE COURT: I take it that you did discuss your case and your rights with your lawyer?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor. |

THE COURT: Do you have any questions regarding your rights or the negotiations?

| THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor. | |

Transcrigt at 4-6.
I
i

AA 0100
7 N

W:\2016\2016F\H20\22\16FH2022-OPPS(DORSEY__DENZEL)-001.DOCX




N BN N N N N N o ek e ek e e e e e

O 0 N N W A W N

. As demonstrated by the canvass and his own representations, Defendant both
understood the consequences of his plea and the potential sentence which he faced. Therefore,
Defendant’s third claim is belied by the record and does not constitute a “fair” or “just” reason
for which he should be permitted to withdraw his guilty plea. Additionally, Defendant has
failed to demonstrate either that éounsel was ineffective, or that even if counsel was ineffective’
that he was in any way préjudiced by that ineffectiveness.

Finally, Defendant’s “Declaration” appears to argue that he is actually innocent. Motion
at 4. However, this claim, too, is belied by the fecofd. When canvassed by this Court,

Defendant admitted that he was pleading guilty because he is, in truth and in fact, guilty.

THE COURT: Okay. So — just so that I am clear — let me get there. You are
leading Euilt because in truth and in fact on or about the 28th day of November
016 within the County of Clark, state of Nevada, contrary to the form, force

and effect of statutes in such cases made and 1provided and against the peace and

dignity of the state of Nevada that you willfully, unlawfully, feloniously and
forcibly entered an inhabited dwelling to wit: 2731 Warm Rays, Henderson,

Clark County, Nevada without permission of the owner, resident or lawful

occupant to wit: Florentino and/or Norma Nazareno by breaking a glass window,

putting your arm through the window and unlocking the deadbolt in an attempt
to gain entry.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

Transcript at 6.

~ Defendant has failed to show that counsel was in any way ineffective, or that he was
prejudiced by any ineffectiveness. Defendant fails to demonstrate that counsel did not _conduct '
an adequate investigation, or to demonstrate what additional investigation would have |
uncovered that may have been beneficial or rendered a more favorable outcome probable.
Defendant réceived the release for which he negotiated by agreeing to plead guilty. Defendant
was informed, both by counsel and by this Court, of the consequences and potential sentence
he faced by entering into this plea.Defendant’s claim of innocence is belied by his earlier
representation that he is guilty. As such, under the totality of the circumstances, Defendant has
failed to provide any “fair” or “just” reason why he should be permitted to withdraw his guilty
plea, and his Motion should, therefore, be denied. '
1
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CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that Defendant’s Motion To
Withdraw Guilty Plea be DENIED. |
DATED this 3% day of July, 2018.

Respectfully submitted,

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

BY
JOHN T. NIMAN
Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #014408

CERTIFICATE OF FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION
I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing was made this 3™ day of July,

2018 by facsimile transmission to:

EDWARD B. HUGHES, ESQ.
(702) 565-7121

BY. /s/E.Goddard

E. Goddard
Secretary for the District Attorney’s Office

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING »
I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing was made this 3% day of July,
2018 by depositing a copy in the U.S. Mail, postage pre-paid, addressed to:

DENZEL DORSEY, ID# 2845569

CLARK COUNTY DETENTION CENTER
330 S. CASINO CENTER BLVD.

LAS VEGAS, NV 89101

BY /s/E. Goddard

E. Goddard
Secretary for the District Attorney’s Office

16FH2022X/erg/L-5
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C-17-323324-1 DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor COURT MINU.TES 7 July 17, 2018
C-17-323324-1 State of Nevada
Vs
Denzel Dorsey
July 17, 2018 08:30 AM Al Pending Motions
HEARD BY: Hardy, Joe COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 11D

COURT CLERK: Duncan, Kristin
'RECORDER: Yarbrough, Matt

REPORTER:

PARTIES PRESENT:

Christopher P. Pandelis Attorney for Plaintiff
State of Nevada Plaintiff

JOURNAL ENTRIES

CONFIRMATION OF COUNSEL (HUGHES, E)...DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW
PLEA...STATUS CHECK: SENTENCING

E. Hughes, Esq. present.

Defendant having failed to appear, State requested the issuance of a bench warrant. Mr. Hughes
appeared and stated that he did not have the Pre-Sentence Investigation Report (PSI), and had had no
contact with the Defendant; therefore, he would be unable to proceed with sentencing, even if the

Defendant happened to be present. Pursuant to the State's request, COURT ORDERED, BENCH
WARRANT WILL ISSUE, NO BAIL.

COURT FURTHER ORDERED Defendant's Motion to Withdraw Plea was hereby OFF CALENDAR.
B.W. (O.R))

Printed Date: 7/18/2018 Page 1 of 1 Minutes Date: July 17, 2018

Prepared by: Kristin Duncan
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C-17-323324-1 DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor COURT MINUTES July 31,2018

C-17-323324-1 ' State of Nevada

Vs

Denzel Dorsey
July 31, 2018 08:30 AM  Defendant's Motion to Quésh. Bench Warrant
HEARD BY: Hardy, Joe COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 11D

COURT CLERK: Duncan, Kristin
RECORDER: Yarbrough, Matt

REPORTER:

PARTIES PRESENT: ‘

Carl E. Arnold Attorney for Defendant
Christopher P. Pandelis Attorney for Plaintiff
State of Nevada Plaintiff

JOURNAL ENTRIES

Carl Arnold, Esq. CONFIRMED as counsel of record for the Defendant. Mr. Arnold advised that
Defendant was currently in custody in California, and requested the bench warrant be quashed in the
instant case, in order to allow the Defendant to post bail in the California case. The State submitted on
the pleadings. Mr. Arnold stated that the Defendant would be unable to post bail in California, with the
bench warrant pending in the instant case. COURT ORDERED Defendant's Motion to Quash Bench
Warrant was hereby DENIED WITHOUT PREJUDICE;, FINDING that the bench warrant remaining in
place, would ensure the Defendant's appearance in court subsequent to the resolution of his California
case.

B.W. (OR.)

Printed Date: 8/1/2018 Page 1 of 1 Minutes Date: July 31, 2018

Prepared by: Kristin Duncan
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C-17-323324-1 DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor COURT MINUTES - November 08, 2018
C-17-323324-1 ~ State of Nevada }
vs

Denzel Dorsey
November 08, 2018 08:30 AM - DA Request Re: Bench Warrant Return. B
HEARD BY: Hardy, Joe COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 11D
COURT CLERK: Duncan, Kristin |
. RECORDER: Yarbrough, Matt

REPORTER:

PARTIES PRESENT:

Carl E. Arnold Attorney for Defendant
Denzel Dorsey Defendant

Sandra K. Digiacomo . Attorney for Plaintiff
State of Nevada Plaintiff

JOURNAL ENTRIES

The State noted that Defendant had a fugitive hold out of California, and there was the possibility of
additional charges being filed. Mr. Arnold requested thirty days to determine what was going on in the

case. The State objected to a thirty day continuance, noting that the negotiations in this case called for i
the dismissal of Defendant's other case, which was set for a Preliminary Hearing. COURT ORDERED

the sentencing date was hereby SET in two weeks.

CUSTODY

11/27/18 8:30 AM SENTENCING

'Printed Date: 11/9/2018 ‘ Page 1 of 1 Minutes Date: November 08, 2018
Prepared by: Kristin Duncan ‘
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C-17-323324-1

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor COURT MINUTES ‘November 27, 2018 .

C-17-323324-1 State of Nevada
Vs ‘
Denzel Dorsey

November 27,2018  8:30 AM Sentencing
HEARD BY: Hardy, Joe COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 11D
COURT CLERK: Phyllis Irby

RECORDER: Matt Yarbrough

REPORTER:
PARTIES
PRESENT: Dorsey, Denzel Defendant
Modafferi, Gary Attorney for the Deft
Scow, Richard H. Attorney for the State
State of Nevada l Plaintiff
JOURNAL ENTRIES

- Mr. Modafferi requested a continuance; advised the parties would like to get up to speed on this
matter. COURT ORDERED, MATTER CONTINUED.

CUSTODY

12-13-18 8:30 AM SENTENCING (DEPT. XV)

PRINT DATE: 11/27/ 2018 Page 10f 1 Minutes Date: November 27, 2018
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Electronically Filed
12/5/2018 3:13 PM

Steven D. Grierson "
: o CLER ‘OF THE CO

GARY A. MODAFFERI, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12450

815 S. Casino Center Blvd.

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101-6718
702-474-4222

|| Attorney for Defendant
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff, ) CASE NO C-17-323324-1
: ) DEPT.NO.:—XXit—
VS. | ) XV
DENZEL DORSEY, %
Defendant. )
)
)

MOTION FOR EXPERT SERVICES (INVESTIGATOR) PURSUANT TO WIDDIS

- COMES NOW, DENZEL DORSEY, Defendant herein, by and through his counsel,
GARY A. MODAFFERI, ESQ., of the Law Offices of Gary A. Modafferi, LLC, and respectfully|
moves this Honorable Court for an order granting payment for an expert (investigator) at public
expense.

This Motion is based upon the need to investigate this matter before sentencing, the

attached financial affidavit', Brown v. District Court?, and any evidence and/or argument

adduced at a hearing on this matter.
DATED this 5" day of December, 2018.

/s/ Gary A. Modafferi

GARY A. MODAFFERI, ESQ. (12450)
Attorney for Defendant

! Attached as Exhibit A.
2 Attached as Exhibit B for court’s convenience.
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| well as the demonstration of need for the requested services. The Defendant is unemployed and

'NOTICE OF MOTION

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned will bring the foregoing motion on for]
« 2019
hearing before this Court on the 3rd day of January ,2018;at _8:30 AM_ am,, of

as soon thereafter as counsel may be heard..
DATED this 5™ day of December, 2018.

/s/ Gary A. Modafferi

GARY A. MODAFFERI, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12450
Attorney for Defendant

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

The Defendant is indigent and qualifies for an investigator at public expense. Defendant’sw

family paid for his legal expenses at a reduced rate basis. In Widdis v. Second Judicial Districﬂ
Court, 114 Nev. 1224 (1998), the Nevada Supreme Court held that, notwithstanding the ability to
retain counsel, a defendant is entitled to reasonable and necessary defense services at public
expense if the defendant demonstrates both indigency and a need for the requested services,
After consulting with the Defendant it is necessary to conduct an independent investigation about
the circumstances of his plea. Also, the Defense has been notified that the State will be seeking
the right to invoke habitual criminal treatment.

In Brown, the Nevada Supreme Court clarified the definition of an indigent person as|

without a reserve of assets of any kind. He has no assets He is currently incarcerated. He is

unable to afford an investigator. The need for an investigator arises out of the need to investigate
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the circumstances of his plea and the circumstances which give rise to his alleged violation of the

plea agreement.

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully requested that the Motion be granted.
DATED this 5™ day of December, 2018.

/s/ Gary A. Modafferi

GARY A. MODAFFERI, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 6275
Attorney for Defendant

111
/11

111

17/

AA 0110



10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

28
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GARY A. MODAFFERI, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12450

815 S. Casino Center Blvd.

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101-6718
702-474-4222 '

| Attorney for Defendant
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA, )

Plaintiff, % CASE NO;. C-17-323324-1

) DEPT.NO.. XXII

Vs. )
DENZEL DORSEY, g
Defendant. %
)

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, the undersigned, hereby certify that on the 5™ day of December, 2018, I served

a true copy of MOTION FOR EXPERT SERVICES (INVESTIGATOR) PURSUANT TO
WIDDIS upon the following:

Sandra Digiacomo, Esq,
Chief Deputy District Attorney

sandra.digiacomo@clarkcountyda.com

/s/ Erika W. Magana

Assistant to Gary A. Modafferi, Esq.
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DISTRICT COURT
APPLICATION FOR COURT-APP@!NTF D COUNSEL OR WIDDIS FEES

Narme:

Address: .

Phone‘: i, SRR i3l SRR l am fﬁ“ Jall ‘ NO

Defendant-Juvenile Material Witiess Other

1

m: eligible, a court must appoint cerssshn

SECTION.1: PERSQN AL

Date-of Birth::

Employedby: ____IN O

SECTION 2: PLEASE CHECK ALL THAT APPLY:

l am eur reniiy rcwwi:ﬂg; i‘ood ‘sta‘m‘p‘s‘,

Pyt
ey

lam current!y recemng publ ic asmstanee ﬁ 1
Lam currently:servingze sentence in a: corwctsonal mqtitmmn&
_ bamcurrently housed in a mental fi is

A 8t Guirently uncmpicved wwh 10 seurce oi neome:
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Gross monthlyswi
Giross monthly wage (g
{inotude allother] household mam s

Total All Income
B: ASSETS yist(otal values)
Sporting Equipment $ Q__

{guns, boats;motorcycles-etc:)

Cash oh hand in bank

Motor vuh:cies

Total MIaAssets

C: MONTHLY DEBTS

Rent Moitgage & _Q Gas (ehiclesy  §_ED
Alimony $ Utilities : ]
Colleotions Courts - $.0.
Cable/Sat 'V DependentCare $§ _ (%)

" tadultor child)
CarPayment  § Dogtor/Hospital  § (0

Total All Monthly Debts
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WILLIS T. BROWN,
Petitioner,

P@t@ttm g7 ,,,n:t_ed:zn part,

| Law Office of Gary A. Modafferi and Gary A. Modafferi, Las Vegas,
| for Petitioner,

| Adam Paul Laxalt Attomey General, Carson Cxtyz Steven B. Wolfson,
District Attorney, and Charles Thoman; Deputy District Attorney, Clark
County,

for Real Party mIntaerest

| BEFORE HARDESTY, PARRAGUIRRE and STIGLICH, JJ.

Supreme Couny
_oF
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1 OPINION
| By the Court, STIGLICH, J.:

| In Widdis v. Second Judiciol District Coiurt, 114 Nev. 1224, 968
P.2d 1165 (1998), this court held that, notwithstanding the ability to retain

| counsel, a defendant is entitled to veasons

ble and necessary defense
| services at public expense if the defendant demonstrates both indigency and
a need for the requested services. We take this opportunity to clarify the

the ‘etemonstratian of need

fdeﬁni;tian of an iﬂ&igent‘ pemoii,,> as well as

granted Based on the district court’s apphcatmn of Wzddzs, we grant the
petﬂ;wn in part.?
Petitioner Willis Brown faces multiple counts.of lewdness with

| achild. Before the prelimina

-y hearing, Brown moved for expert services
at public expense pursuant to W

s v. Second Judicial District Court, 114
| Nev. 1224, 968 P.2d 1165 (1998

) submitting an application containing
financial information along with-his motion. The justice court found Brown

indigent and granted the motion, but limited the funds for the services to a

4 stated amount. _ !

he district court; he again |

After Brown was Bound over to t

. moved for -expert services at public expense, submitting an updated

1We prev*musly granted the petition in part in an unpublished order.
Cause a _,@mmg, we grant the motion to réissue that decision as an opinion,
NRAP 36(f), ?nd issue this @pm%n in place of our prior unpublished order.

Supreme Cous:
QF
Nevaoa
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application that showed ke had gained employment and reduced his
| monthly liabilities since His previous motion, The motion acknowledged
Tegal fees but asked the

it him to retain an

that Brown’s extended family had paid for his
district court to declare him ‘indigent and perm

investigator and expert (Dr. Mark Chambers) at State expense to assist his
defense. Brown claimed he needed to retain Dr. Chambers “to fully

the jury the influences upon.

understand and convey toboth the court and/or
a child’s accusation in a sexual prosecution” and averred that Dr. Chambers
Wo
influence on that. tesmmony,

uld “testify to psychological issues involving child testimony, parental

and children’s. motivation regarding false.
allegations.” Addmonally, Brown claimed an inivestigator wag necessary to
serve.subpoends on and obtain statéments from witnesses and to generally
investigate the circumstances of the allegations.

At the he

that Brown was not indigent:

ring on the motion, the district court stated its belief

I don’t reach that based on—1Imean he s employed,
He—it appears that he has to probably adjust his
expenses. But fm' the State te be paymg for hxs

mandathY reqmrement Ané 50 I’" e 2
finding based on his affidavit that he’s not.indigent
in.order taﬁ fit that.

have»‘ ibeen-ﬁapprc.aprlaéf ‘based on the initial ap;almamon but concluded that
Brown no longer qualified.as an indigent based on the updated information.

After this court ordered an answer to Brown’s petition, the |

distriet court held another hearing in which it expounded upon its reasons

for denying Brown’s motion, The district court referenced the two |

equirements in Widdis, indigency and necessity of the services, and |
Bupneme Counr -
.GF: ‘ i 5




gleaned a third requirement from'the Widdis dissent, a reéquest for a sum

haustion of family

| certain. The district court reféremced Browr's e
resources to retain counsel and deduced from that fact that Brown had
- resources. Additionally, the district. court noted that Brown’s debt-to-
 income ratio had appreciably decreased between his submissions of the two

' applications. The district court.went on to say that Brown “failed to show

~ how an f\mveatngator needed for assissﬁmg;hiﬁz counsel . . . wouldn’t have been

b dr ‘sﬁig&nt and had not met a shmwmg of need, smcﬁﬁmﬁy statmg it

B & ursury attempt to show need.” Counsel arg

Brown's previous JOb and currentm’b whxch was a mm;mum»-wag@plus-hps

posﬂ:mm The district court rephed

But it’s
because

e apenses At the
n a “I:watlon his debts were
lower than the initial debt. And—but he

n't changed his so:to speak lifestyle. He was

stﬂl hvmg in a pret:tzy expenmve place where he

obvmusly “his mcemes Went dswn o
| The district court denied Brown’s motion for expert services at pu'ﬁhc




DISCUSSION
The decision to consider a writ of mandamus? is

court’s complete discretion, and generally such a writ will not issue if the

Cote H. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 124 Nev. 36, 39,175 P.3d 906, 908

diseretion and consider the petition for a writ of mandamus in the interest

of judicial economy and in order to control a manifest abuse or capricious |

9-80 (2011) “A manifest.abuse of

Steward v. Mc)onaéd 958 8. W 2@1 297 300 Q&.rk 1997)) A “capritious
exercige of discretion” involves a décision that is “contrary to the evidence
or established rules of law.™ Id. at 982 , 267 P.3d at 780 {(quoting

issu 'ot sﬁpresenteﬁ need not be a.(id\i'essed' by this court.”),
ftwn is un@vaﬂa‘ble be“ca:?*sa Brown doas not argue that the dlstm:t |

P.2d 1140, 1141 (1980) (hoidmg that.a writ c.'f' mﬁibam}; “swill ot igsue if
the cburt sought to be restrained had jurisdiction to hear and determine the |
matter under eenmderatmn”l, and eertmram xs anavallable because Brown

petitioner has a plain, Speed‘y, and adequate remedy at law., NRS 34.170; D




R

“ Widdis holds
| and necessary defense servi

that the State has a duty to provide reasonable

ces ‘at public expense to indigent criminal

defendants who have nonethéless retained pr:vate counsel,” and the case

requites that a defendant make a “showing of indigency and need for the
serviees.” 114 Nev. at 1228-29, 968 P.2d at 1167-68, In so holding, the
Widdis court adopted the analytical framework of an out-ofst:

held “filrrespective of the absence of any express statutory
authorization . . . the Sixth Amendment right to efféctive assistance of
| counsel provided authority for the payment:requested by the defendant.”
228, 968 P.2d at 1168. Therefore, this court held that the right to

receive funds for defense services at public expense was entwined with the

right to effective assistance of counsel. Id. Numerous other courts have

come t-o‘ a gimilar conclusion that an md1gen criminal defendant may
| have appointed ceunsel Eg, ubos vState, 662 So. 2d 1189, 1192 (Ala
| 1996) (“The simple fact that the defendant’s far
so, retained. counsel for the defendant, does not bar the defendant from

rily, with no legal duty todo

ssistance when the defendant shows that the
‘ n( sary.”); Jacabson v, Anderson, 57 P.3d 788, 784-35
(Ax:xz Ct App 2002) (concluding a deféendant whose parents had retained

| counsel on her behalf was entitled to the opportunity to démonstrate need a

for requested defense services at the government’s expense based on her .|
- status as an indigent); Tran v. Superior Court, 112 Cal. Rptr. 2d 506, 509

10, 512(Ct. App. 2001) (considering s defendant whose counsel was retained

 via family funding and ordering the defendant’s application for ancillary
gervices funds besegran’ted based on his indifgen'cy)»; Arnold v. Higa, 600 P.24d

Bipreme Sourr
GF:
NEVADA

OF 19474 «qsg»
‘“““"mnr,fﬂ' e 1
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BUPREME: COURT:
oF
NEVADA

Q) WA,

“the cmart’s authority to &m@mw . ns for ihvestigaimy s@r\iices Tor a

293-94 (Iowa 19‘1) (“For mmgents the right to effective counsel mcl‘udes

itivestigative services,

| the right té public payment for feasonably necessary

The Constitution does not limit this right to defendants represented by
appointed or assigned counsel.” (internal citations omitted)); State v. Jones,
707 So. 2d 975; 977-78 (La. 1998) (“[Tlhe defendant here, having private
counsel provided from .a collateral source, may still be entitled to State

»

funding for auxiliary services.”); State v.-Huchting, 927 8.W.2d 411, 419
(Mo. Ct. App 1996) (deciding that & defenddnt’s retention of private counsel
did not preclude the defendant from séeking state assistance for hiring an
expert witness); State v. Boyd 418 S.E.2d 471, 475-76 (NC 1392) ;(“mmt
defendant had sufficien |
defendant’s access to state funds for Gﬁkﬁi’* necessary expenses ﬁztf

4

epresentation-—including expert witnesses—if, in fact, defendant does not
have sufficient funds to defray these expenses when the need for them
arises.”); State v. Wool, 648 A.2d 655, 660 (Vi. 1994) (holding that a

| defendant who qualifies as 4 néedy person has a right

necessary services
t public expense that cannot be conditioned on the defendant being

| represented by an appointed attorn y); State ex rel. Rojas v. ¥

| S.E.2d 575, 578 (W. Va. 1995) (“We conc¢lude that financial assistance
L provided by a third pa

rty which enables an indigent criminal defendant to-
~ have the benefit of private counsél is not velevant to the defendant’s right
 to have-expert assistance provided at public expense.”).

; Widdis provides that a deféndant must make a showing of

1 indigency, but it does not define or set forth. a test for determining indigency.
 the standard for determining indigency

is court has stated. th:

However, th

K e s s PR 'Qu «« N P e “ AA 0122




i he appointment of counsel is whether a person “is unable, without
1 substantial hardship to himself or his dependents, to obtain competent,

1 qualified legal counsel on Kis-or her owr

Issues Concerning Representation of Indigent Defendants in Criminal and
Juvenile Delinquency Cases, ADKT No. 411 (Order, January 4, 2008), That
standard further provides that these\ defendants who donot fall within a
presumptive threshold of substantial hardship “will be subjected to-a more

ine if their particular circumstances,

‘rigorous screeming process to-detert

including seriotsness of charges being faced, monthly expenses, and local
private counsel rates, would result in a substantial hardship.” Id. Based
on Widdis's logic that the right to defense services at public expense is
connected to the right to effective assistanice of counsel, we conclude the
| standard for determining indigency for the appsintment of counsel in ADKT
| No. 411 should also be used when determining indigency for purposes of
| Widdis. V

With regard to the first prong of W

iddis, a demonstration of |
L: indigency, the district court concluded that Brown was not indigent because |

 his financial situation had improved since being found indigent in the

W

nthly debts; hie had procured a job, and |

he was able to retain the services of counsel through financial assistance
from family. The district court’s logic, howeveér, works to disincentivize a
ncial situation by reducing

_ ,~ g income, and it contradicts the logic we employed in
Widdis. 114 Nev. at 1229, 968 P.2d at 1168 (“A

Ithough the use of public

funds in this manner may appear to be a misuse of such furds, we feel that

I a contrary rule would have a greater negative. imipact on scarce public
resources by treating disincentives for defendants to seek private

‘Bupneme Counr

IBY 1943A
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| representation at their own expense.”). Additionally, we have held that a

| determination of indigency does mot require a demonstration that the
person “is entirely destitute and without funds.” Rodriguez v. Eighth
Judicial.Dist. Court, 120-Nev. 798, 805-06, 102.P.3d 41, 46 (2004); see aiso
Lander Cty. v. Bd. of Trs. of Elko Gen. Hosp., 81 Nev. 354, 360-61, 403 P.2d
659, 662 (1965) (recognizing that “a person does riot have to be completely

can have some income or own some property”). Further, despite Brown’s

financial improvement, he represented he had minimal assets that were

ficient to satisfy his basicnecessities and a negativ

| insu digproportionate

| debt-to-income ratio, all while facing serious charges with possible

expert without substantial hardship.

As for the second ‘prong of Widdis,

a demonstration of need, the

district court concluded that Brown made a cursory showing at best. Given
—to testify

Brown's pnﬁﬁ'er regarding the necessity of Dr. Chambers-
regarding psychological issues i
| on that testimony, children’s motivations regarding false .allegations, and

 the influences upon a child’s accusations in a sexual prosecution—in a trial

child, 'we conclude Brown

{| demonstrated such an expert was reasonably necessary. In the same vein,

Brown alleged he required theservices of an investigator to serve subpoenas

on and obtain statements from witnesses and to investigate the

circumstances of the allegations. While less specific than Brown’s proffer }
regarding the need for Dr. Chambers, we conclude that Brown |

‘Supagwe Gougr
.20
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i niecessary to his défense and tha% the dxstmct court m 1{@31:15: abused its

- discretion. by concluding otherwise..
Liastly, the district court implied a third prong could be gleaned

rom the dissent in Widdis, requiring a sum certain be requested before a

motion for expert services is granted. To the extent a dissent may be read

to impose an additional requirement on a test adopted by the majority, we

digagree with the notion that the failure torequest a sum certain is fatal to
' a motion for expert services. Thus, the district court’s reliance-on Brown's
1 failure to request a sum certain was an inappropriate reason to deny the

motion. Rather, if the district court was concerned with the cost of the

ér«vi'fces,; it could have i?’nqui«mdi into the eexpeeted cost for t’he servfiif@es,

| reagonably limiting the expenditure.
As we have concluded that the distriet court capriciously

exercised and manifestly abused its discretion ‘when it denied Brown’s
motion for expeﬂ;’» services at public.expense, we therefore grant the petition

' habeas corpus in which he cl
the preliminary hefanng This court

gerier ﬁy does not exercise it

nge to a ‘probable. cause
eterm Kussman v.Lighth Judici ¢. Court, 96 Nev. 544, 546, |
612 P 2d 679, 680 (1980), and Brown doéd not demonistrate his challeﬁge
fits within the exception this court has made-for a purely legal issue; see |
.stman . Etghth Judicial Dist, Court 1()7 Nev 563 565, 816 P.2d 458,

87 P.2d 805; 819~

Susukiee CoUHY
of
Nevaga
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with this epiniﬁnf

We coricur:

Parraguirre

4 peﬁxtmﬁ in part as it felatee\to thm/l;:i‘émim

4The clerk of this court issued the writ on October 24, 2017, pursuant
to our earlier unpublished order. 4

11

AA 0126

e R sttt ST TR 6T N S e S e




C-17-323324-1 , DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor COURT MINUTES . 'December 13,2018
C-17-323324-1 State of Nevada ' ’ '
: VS

Denzel Dorsey

December 13, 2018 08:30 AM  Sentencing

HEARD BY: Hardy, Joe " COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 11D
COURT CLERK: Duncan, Kiistin

RECORDER:  Yarbrough, Matt

REPORTER:

PARTIES PRESENT:

Denzel Dorsey , Defendant

Gary Modafferi : Attorney for Defendant
State of Nevada Plaintiff

Steven L Waters | Attorney for Plaintiff

JOURNAL ENTRIES

Mr. Modafferi requested the sentencing date be continued to a date subsequent to the pending Motion for
Expert Services, noting that the State did not object to the continuance. Additionally, Mr. Modafferi
requested the Court make a ruling on the Motion for Expert Services during the instant hearing, so that an
investigator could begin looking into the factual concerns. The Court noted that it would be unable to
make a ruling on the Motion for Expert Services, as it had not yet reviewed the Motion. COURT

ORDERED the sentencing date was hereby CONTINUED.
CUSTODY
CONTINUED TO: 2/5/19 8:30 AM

Printed Date: 12/14/2018 ‘ Page 1 of 1 Minutes Date:

Prepared by: Kristin Duncan

December 13, 2018

127
Docket 79845 Document 20%&?815
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C-17-323324-1 DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor COURT MINUTES -January 03, 2019
C-17-323324-1 State of Nevada -
Vs

Denzel Dorsey

January 03, 2619 08:30 AM  Defendant's Motion for Expert Services (Investigator) Pursuant to
| Widds ) 4 .
HEARD BY: Hardy, Joe _ COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 11D

COURT CLERK: Duncan, Kristin
RECORDER: Yarbrough, Matt

REPORTER:

PARTIES PRESENT:

Denzel Dorsey Defendant

Gary Modafferi Attorney for Defendant
State of Nevada Plaintiff

Victoria A. Villegas v Attorney for Plaintiff

JOURNAL ENTRIES

Upon Court's inquiry, Mr. Modafferi indicated that the investigator was needed, to determine whether
there were facts and circumstances that would warrant the withdrawal of Defendant's guilty plea. Upon
further inquiry by the Court, Mr. Modafferi advised that the investigator would be interviewing the !
Defendant, as well as other witnesses. Regarding the cost of the investigator, Mr. Modafferi stated that
an ROC would be submitted to Drew Christensen, which would allow the County Administrator to
determine the amount of hours needed, and to supervise the payments. The State argued that, if the
investigator was investigating based upon a potential withdrawal of plea, then the investigator would be
limited to the plea canvass. COURT ORDERED the Defendant's Motion for Expert Services
(Investigator) Pursuant to Widdis, was hereby GRANTED, FINDING that the Defendant was INDIGENT.
Due to the Court's continuing reservations regarding the need for an investigator, as well as its questions
regarding scope, COURT ORDERED a status check was hereby SET regarding the retention of the
investigator, and the scope of the investigation. COURT FURTHER ORDERED the sentencing date
would STAND.

1/17/19 8:30 AM STATUS CHECK: INVESTIGATOR

Printed Date: 1/5/2019 Page 1 of 1 " Minutes Date: January 03, 2019
Prepared by: Kristjn Duncan

AA 0128
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Electronically Filed
1/9/2019 10:26 AM
. ‘Steven'D. Grierson
* CLERK OF THE COUR]

1 1/ORDR
éGARYmAh MODAFFERI, ESQ
{ Nevada Bar No:: 12450

3 | 815 S Casino Cente‘r lnve

Facsmlle 702. 474 1329

|Attorney for Defendant

6| BISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASENO.; C- 17—323324» ,

o |l Plaitify, DEPT. NO.:

Defendant,

This matter having come on for hearing on Januarja?:, 2019, the State having no position, |

|| the Court being fully advised in the premises, grants Defendant’s Motion for Expert Services
18 ’

i || Unvestigator) Pursuant to Widdis. The Defendant demonstrated both indigency and a nced for the

20 rested services.

Accordmgly, the Motion is E‘\V q“ -\- <, A

;5,f+a-\-u5 chéc\é ffﬁ“"‘"’“ﬂ |

23

:_\vanuary, 2019. & - nd.
24

2
27

28
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C-17-323324-1 DISTRICT COURT
: CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor 'COURT MINUTES ‘. January 17, 2019
C-17-323324-1 State of Nevada
Vs
Denzel Dorsey
January 17, 2019 08:30 AM  Status Check: Investigation:
HEARD BY: Hardy, Joe COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 11D

COURT CLERK: Duncan, Kristin
RECORDER: Yarbrough, Matt

REPORTER:

PARTIES PRESENT:

Denzel Dorsey Defendant

Gary Modafferi Attorney for Defendant
Robert Stephens Attorney for Plaintiff
State of Nevada . Plaintiff

JOURNAL ENTRIES

Mr. Modafferi advised that an application for appropriate investigator funds had been submitted to the
Office of the County Manager, and provided the Court with a copy of said application. The Court noted
that the application had been approved for $500.00. Upon the Court's inquiry, Mr. Modafferi stated that
the Court did not have to take any action at this time, and requested the pending sentencing date be reset
to a date two weeks later than its current date. The State clarified that the investigator was being used
solely to determine whether it would be appropriate for Defendant to withdraw his plea. Mr. Modafferi
affirmed the State's representation. COURT ORDERED the sentencing date was hereby RESET.

CUSTODY

2/19/19 8:30 AM SENTENCING

Printed Date: 1/18/2019 Page 1 of 1 Minutes Date:

Prepared by: Kristin Duncan

January 17, 2019
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|| Fax: (702) 474-1320

Electronically Filed
- 2/15/2019 12:29 PM
. Steven D..Grierson
~CLER|

MOT

GARY A. MODAFFERI, ESQ. (12450)

LAW OFFICE OF GARY A. MODAFFERI, LLC
815 S. Casino Center Boulevard

Las Vegas, NV 89101

| Telephone: (702) 474-4222

Attorney for ‘Defendan.t Denzel Dorsey

DISTRICT COURT -
CLARK COUNTY, STATE OF NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA
© v | Case No. C-17-323324-1
Plaintiff Dept No. XV
Vs Hearing Date:
Hearing Time:
DENZEL DORSEY
Defendant

DEFENDANT DENZEL DORSEY’S MOTION TO WITHDRAW GUILTY PLEA |

COMES NOW the Defendaﬁt DENZEL DORSEY by and through his counsel, GARY A
MODAFFERI, ESQ. Qf THE LAW OFFICE OF GARY A. MODAFFERI, LLC, and submits the
following Points and Authorities in Support of Defendant’s Motioﬁ to Withdraw Guilty Plea)
“Motion”.

DATED this 15™ day of February, 2019.

By: /s/ Gary A. Modafferi Esq.
GARY A. MODAFFERI, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12450
815 S. Casino Center Boulevard
Las Vegas, NV 89101
Counsel for Defendant
Denzel Dorsey
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! NOTICE OF MOTION
2 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned will bring the foregoing motion on for
3
hearing before this Court on the 26th day of February , 2019, at 8:30 am., oJr
4
5 || as soon thereafter as counsel may be heard.
6 DATED this 15® day of February, 2019.
7
8
GARY A. MODAFFERI, ESQ./ .
9 Nevada Bar No. 12450 '
" Attorney for Defendant
11
12
13
14
15 |
16
17
18
19
20
21
)
23 |
24
25
26
27
(28
2
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. FACTUAL BASIS

The Defendant respectfully requests permission to withdraw his guilty plea. The
Defendant’s argument is that he is factually innocent of the charges he pled guilty to andi that his
reason for entering his plea was to protect his minor brother. Investigation conducted after the
plea was entered has produced statements from two witnesses; Defendant’s brother Davey
Dorsey, and Takiya Clemons.

Davey Dorsey is the younger brother of Denzel Dorsey." On the night of the offeﬁse, Davéyw
Dorsey asked the Defendant if he could borrow his rental car. Defendant allowed his younger
brother to use the car without any knowledge that he was going to use the car to commit a crime,
It was Davey Dorsey who broke the window and tried to open ‘the front door of the house. This
house was located at 2731 Warm Springs Avenue, Henderson, Nevada. Davey Dorsey is willing
to accept responsibility for this attempted home invasion. Davey Dorsey will testify under oath aq
a hearing on this/matter that Defendant Denzel Dorsey had nothing to do with this crime. Davey
Dorsey had attempted to explain his involvement in this crime to Defendant’s previous attorney
but he was not heard on this matter.?

Takiya Clemons provided a written declaration in support of Defendant’s Motion to
Withdraw his Guilty Plea.> Ms. Clemons is willing to ‘testify under oath to the facts detailed
below. Ms. Clemons stated that on November 28, 2016, the date of the offense alleged, she was
with Defendant at her apartment. At some point on November 27, 2016, Davey Dorsey céme by

to borrow his brother’s rental car. Ms. Clemons physically observed the Defendant hand over his|

' Statements of Davey Dorsey are attached in Exhibit A.
? Exhibit A at p.2-3.
? Attached as Exhibit B.
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keys to his younger brother.* Denzel Dorsey stayed with her at her apartment until 1:00 p.m.
The witness is willing to testify under oath that she was with the Defendant the entire evening on
November 27, 2016 up to and including the time of the alleged crime the next day at 1:00p.m.5
At the preliminary hearing in this matter, the eyewitness equivocated about identifying the
Defendant as the person who committed this offense. When initially asked if the witness saw the

only black male in court as the perpetrator, he responded, “No, I don’t think s0.”’

II. Procedural History

Initial arraignment was held on May 5, 2017. A preliminary hearing was held on May 2,
2017. On November 29, 2017 the Office of the Public Defender moved to withdraw because of al
conflict with a witness in this matter. On January 16, 2018, Ms. McAmis confirmed as counsel,
On March 9, 2018, a guilty plea agreement was filed with the Court. On March 13, 2018, a plea
canvass was conducted, a guilty plea entered, and the Defendant was released on his own
recognizance. Sentencing was initially set for June 5, 2018, but that was continued and on June
6, 2018 the Defendant filed a pro se motion to withdraw his guilty pl\ea.8 The Defendant was
remanded into custody. On November 27, 2018, this counsel confirmed and on December 13,

2018 the defense argued and was subsequently granted its Widdis application.

III. LEGAL STANDARD/ARGUMENT

A. Rule and Legal Standard.

NRS 176.165 provides that:

Except as otherwise provided in this section, a motion to withdraw a plea of
guilty, guilty but mentally ill or nolo contendere may be made only before

* Exhibit B at p.2.
S1d.

¢ See Exhibit C, Preliminary Hearing Transcript of Proceedings held on May 2, 2017 at p.5/11.8-9. (offense

occurred at noon on November 28, 2016).

71d. at pp. 12-14.

8 Attached as Exhibit D.
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|]doing, and use that conclusion as the sole basis for denying a motion to withdraw a guilty

sentence is imposed or imposition of sentence is suspended. To correct
manifest injustice, the court after sentence may set aside the judgment of
conviction and permit the defendant to withdraw the plea.’

The Nevada Supreme Court held in Bryant v. State, that it is “the duty of the trial court to
review the entire record to determine whether the plea was valid, either by reason of the plea
canvas itself or ﬁnder the totality of the circumstances approach.”lo A guilty plea cannblr
stand if the record, taken as a whole, does not specifically show that Defendant possessed an
actual understanding of the charges against him at the time when Defendant entered his guilty
plea or that the plea was entered to take the‘blame for someone else.!! Under the totality of the
circumstances test, Defendant need only provide the court with a credible story explaining his| ‘
actions.'* The fact that Defendant brings this Motion to Court before sentencing is evidence of a
“lack of prejudice to the State.”15 Further, “[a] district court may not simply review the plea
canvass in a vacuum, conclude that it indicates that tﬁe defendant ﬁnderstood what [he] was

plea »14

NRS 176.165 empowers this Court to grant Defendant’s Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea,
The Nevada Supreme Court held in Bryant v. State, that the trial court must consider the entire
record using the under the totality of the circumstances test.”'> Defendant’s guilty plea canno(J

stand if the record, taken as a whole, does not specifically show that Defendant possessed an

% 'NRS 176.165; See also, State v. Second Judicial Dist. Court, 85 Nev. 381, 384, 455 P.2d 923, 925-26 (1969);
Here Defendant brings this motion before sentencing has commenced.
19 102 Nev. 268 (1986) (emphasis added); See, Mitchel v. State. 109 Nev. 137, 140-41. (emphasis added)
' Tbid. 102 Nev. 268 at 276
2 Tbid. Mitchel v. State, at 141
" Tbid. :
" Tbid. ‘
15102 Nev. 268 (1986) (emphasis added); See, Mitchell v. State. 109 Nev. 137, 140-41.
5
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‘motion to withdraw a guilty plea before sentencing 'where for any substantial reason the granting

actual understanding of the charges against'him at the time Defendant pled guilty.16 In Mitchell
v. State, the defendant origina11y> entered a plea of guilty.'” She requested to withdraw her guilty
plea becguse she did not understand it due to a language barrier. 18 The court denied the
withdrawal of guilty plea.' The Nevada Supreme Court held the denial to an abuse of discretion |
because, under the totality of the circumstances test, the defendant had a credible story
explaining her actions and there was no ptejudice to the state because the Motion to Withdraw

Guilty Plea was made before sc?ntencing.zo

In Stevenson v. State, the Nevada Supreme Court held that a district court may grant g

of the privilege seems 'fair and just."?! Given the tendered proof that the defendant was factually
innocent and only entered into the plea to protect his minor brother, the defense has presented 2|
substantial reason that is fair and just. Thé substantial reason test, as previously argued, is much
less stringent than the manifest injustice standard which is applicable after sentencé has been
imposed. Here the Defendant’s brother is willing to testify under oath that he committed the
crime alone. Ms. Clemons is willing to testify that the defendant was with her at 11:55 a.m. on

November 28, 2016. This is the date and time of the offense.

16 Ibid. 102 Nev. 268 at 276

17 1bid. Mitchell v. State. 109 Nev. at 139

18 Ibid at 140

9 Ibid.

2 1bid. at 140-41.

2 1bid. Stevenson v. State, 354 P.3d at 1279 (internal quotations omitted).
6
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CONCLUSION

The Defendant respectfully submits that a substantial fair and just reason has been
presented in this motion to warrant granting an evidentiary hearing on this matter and grantinﬁ
the motion itself.

DATED this 15 day of February, 2019.

By: /s/ Gary A. Modafferi Esq.

GARY A. MODAFFERI, ESQ. (12450)

LAW OFFICE OF GARY A. MODAFFER],
LLC

815 S. Casino Center Boulevard

Las Vegas, NV 89101

Counsel for Defendant

Denzel Dorsey
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| copy of MOTION TO WITHDRAW GUILTY PLEA upon the following:

20

CERT

GARY A. MODAFFERI, ESQ. (12450)

LAW OFFICE OF GARY A. MODAFFERI, LLC
815 S. Casino Center Boulevard

Las Vegas, NV 89101

Telephone: (702) 474-4222

Fax: (702) 474-1320

Attorney for Defendant Denzel Dorsey

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, STATE OF NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA . Case No. C-17-323324-1
Plaintiff Dept No. XV
Vs
DENZEL DORSEY
Defendant
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

L, the undersigned, hereby certify that on the 15™ day of li“ebruary, 2019, I served a true

Sandra Digiacomo, Esq.
Chief Deputy District Attorney
sandra.digiacomo@clarkcountyda.com

/s/ Erika W. Magana

Erika W. Magana, An Employee of
Gary A. Modafferi, LLC
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Electronically Filed

5/25/2017 10:47 AM

Steven D. Grierson
RK O H OUl

12:00AM 1 TRAN

2 CASE NO. €323324

3

4 IN THE JUSTICE'S COURT OF HENDERSON TOWNSHIP
12:00AM 5 : COUNTY OF CLARK, STATE OF NEVADA

6

7 | STATE OF NEVADA,
8 Plaintiff,
vsS.

CASE NO. 16FH2022X

12:00AM 10 DENZEL DORSEY,

11 Defendant.

12
13 REPORTER'S TRANSCRIPT
14 ~ OF
12:00AM 15 ' PRELIMINARY HEARING
16 BEFORE THE HONORABLE SAMUEL G. BATEMAN
17 ’ JUSTICE OF THE PEACE
18 ~
TUESDAY, MAY 2, 2017
19
- APPEARANCES:
12:00AM 20
21 For the State: SANDRA DIGIACOMO
Chief Deputy District Attorney
22
23 For the Defendant: KEITH BROWER, ESQ.
24

12:00AM 25 Reported by: Lisa Brenske, CCR #186
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12:00AM

12:00AM

10
11
12
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14
15
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25

WITNESGSES

KEVIN NAZARENO
Direct Examination by Ms. DiGiacomo
Cross—-Examination by Mr. Brower

NORMA CORDERO NAZARENO
Direct Examination by Ms. DiGiacomo
Cross—-Examination by Mr. Brower
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12:00AM 1 HENDERSON, NEVADA, MAY 2, 2017
2 .
3 k k k ok ok ok k ok Kk K K %
4
12:12PM 5 \ THE COURT: Denzel Dorsey, 16FH2022X.
6 ‘ Is the prelim going forward?
7 MR. BROWER: It is, Judge.
8 THE COURT: Any motion. on witnesses?
9 : MR. BROWER: I'd ask to invoke thé

12:12PM 10 exclusionary rule at this point in time.

11 THE COURT: Do we have anybody here that's

12 a witness, Sandy?

13 MS. DIGIACOMO: Yes. I have four.

14 THE COURT: Are we good? Wé got those
12:12PM‘ 15 guys out?

16 ‘ Call your first witness.

17 MS. DIGIACOMO: State calls Kevin

18 Nazareno.

19 THE COURT: Sir, come up here to the
12:14PM 20 podium and remain standing and raise your right hand

21 for me.

22 THE CLERK: Do you solemnly swear that the

23 testimony that you are about to give will be the truth,

24 the whole truth and nothing but the truth, so help you

12:14PM 25 God?
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THE WITNESS: I solemnly swear.

THE CLERK: Please be seated.

Please state your first and last name and
spell each for the record.

THE WITNESS: My namé is Kevin Nazareno.
K~-E-V-I-N. N-A-Z-A-R-E-N-O.

THE COURT: All right. Go ahead, State.

MS. DIGIACOMO: Thank you.

KEVIN NAZARENO,
having been first duly sworn, did testify as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MS. DIGIACOMO:

Q. sir, how old are you?
A. Twenty-one years old.
Q. And do you live or did you last November

live at‘2731 Warm Rays in Henderson, Clark County,

Nevada?

A. Yes. I still currently live there to this
day. |

Q. Who do you live there with?

A. I live with my mom, my dad and a couple
of -— no. One cousin and his girlfriend who are

staying in a room at my house.

Q. Now, who owns the house?
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A. My father.

Q. And who is your father?

A. Florentino Nazareno.

Q. And does his wife also own the residence,

your mom?

A. I think, yes.

Q. And her name is Norma?

A. Yes.

Q. So on November 28, 2016 were you home at

approximately noon?
A, Yes. I had been there the whole day.
Q. What were you doing at about a little bit

before noon on that date?

A. I was still in bed asleep.
Q. Did something wake you up?
A. Yes. The doorbells. Constant ringing of

the doorbells. Multiple doorbell ringings.

Q. Was that the front doorbell that was
ringing? |

A, Yes.

Q. And you said it would ring mﬁltiple times?

A, Yeah. Mulfiple times.

Q. So would it be that somebody would ring it
multiple —-

A, Yeah, yeah, yeah.
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Q. Let me finish because she}s taking
everything down. |

A. Okay.

Q. So they would ring it a bunch of times
like keep pushing the button?

A. Yes, thét is correct.

Q. And then would it stop and then the
doorbell ringiﬁg would start occurring again?

A. Yes. I heard that at least multiple
tiﬁes. Multiple ringings, stopping and then multiple
ringings again. |

Q. And what did you do when you heard this?

‘A I was still in bed. I was getting kind of
annoyed that someone would ring that much.

Q. Did you eventually get up from your bed

and go to the front door?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, was your bedroom upstairs or
downstairs?

A. It was upstairs.

Q. So you came down the stairs?

A. Yés.

Q. The front doors, can you describe what

they looked like on that date?

A. They were glass doors that I could see
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clearly through.

Q. And when you come down the stairs, can you
see the front doors from the staircase?

A. Yes, I can. Since there's this -- the
stalrways lead downwards and when I peek over tﬁe
railings, I can look straight into the doorway‘and see
whoever is there.

Q. So on this date back in November when you
looked over the railing, did you see anybody standing

outside the front door?

A, Yes.
Q. And who did you see?
A. I saw a black male and I saw them punching

and I heard banging on the door itself.
Q. Let me stop you. Did you see more than

one black male?

A. No. Just one.

Q. " Just one black male?

A. Yes.

Q. And when you said you heard banging, did

it sound like somebody was trying to break the glass?
A. Yes. Correct.
Q. | So when you got down to the bottom of the
stairs, could you still hear this banging on the glass?

A. Yes. And then ——
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Q. What did you see then?

A. I saw the glass break and there was just a
hole in the glass now and then I saw the male trying to
reach through the door and unlock the deadbolt.

Q. ‘Let's back up a little bit. You kept
making a motion as you were talking about the banging
on the glass of the front door. You had your right
hand balled like a fist and you were punching your left
hand. Is that what you were just doing?

A. What do you mean by that?

THE COURT: For the record that's what he
was doing.
BY MS. DIGIACOMO:

Q. When you heard the glass being hit, could
you see what the bléck male was trying to hit the glass
with? Was it his fist?

A. Yes.

Q. Was he able to break through the glass

with his fist?

A, Yes.

Q. And then did it leave a réund sized hole?
A. Yes. Correct.

Q. And was the glass kind of jagged, the hole

that he broke?

A. I'd say so. It was, yeah, like that.
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Q. So it wasn't a’perfectly smooth hole?
A. No.
Q. And then you said that you saw this black

male stick his hand through the glass?

A. Yes.

Q. Into your house?

A. Yes.

Q. And what was he trying to do?

A. ‘He was trying to unlock the deadbolt that

was there.

Q. So when you see his hand through the door
and he's unlocking the deadbolt, what do you do?

A. I rushed forward towards the door and I

blocked him and kept it locked.

Q. And when you blocked him, how did you do
that?

A, I just --

Q. So you grabbed the deadbolt?‘

A. Yeah, and I kept it there.

Q. Did you do anything to try and hit his

hand away from the deadbolt?

A. I don't recall.
Q. And what did he do when you protected the
deadbolt?
| A. He ran away.-
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A,

Q.
see him go?

A.

house.

sit here today?

A.

Q.

plate as soon as I called them.

Q.

A.

And were you able to get the license

Did he take his arm out of the glass®?
Yes.

And he takes off?

Yes.

What did you dé when you saw him leave?
I chased after him of course.

So you chased after him. Where did you
To his car parked right in front of my

Did you see what kind of car it was?

Yes. It was a blue Suzuki.

Yes. I did.

Do you remember the license plate as you

Yes.

What was the license plate?

953LGM.

Did you tell the police that information?

Yes. I told the dispatcher the license

And did you call the police right away?

Yes. Yes, I did.

AA 0157
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Q.

A.

Q.

Did the police respond?
Yes.

Now, the person that you saw that was at

your front door, you said you saw him run and get into

this car, the Suzuki right in front of your house?

A,

Q.

P P00 2o

Yes. !

Did you see thch door he got into?
The driver's side.

Could you see anybody else in the car?
No.

Just him?

Yes.

Now, can you describe what he looked like.

for the Court?

A.
at least.
Q.
A.

Q.

He was a tall black male, bigger than me

How tall are you?
5-foot-6 and with shoes 5-foot-7.

You held your hand about an- inch or so

above your head. . Was he a little taller than you?

A.

Q
A,
Q
A

Yeah. I'd Say/around 5-foot-10 to 6 feet.
Do you remember what he was wearing?

No.

But you know it was a black male?

Yes.
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Q. Do you remember if he was heavy-set,
skinny?

A, It's hard to remember.

Q. Do you think you'd recognize him if you

saw him again?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, you've been sitting in court all
morning. Have you seen the same person that you saw
try and break into your house on November 28th, 2016

here in court?

A. I think.

Q. You think. 1Is that person still here in
court?'

A, I don't know actually.

Q. Well, let me ask you. The person that you

thbught you saw that kind of looked familiar, do you
see him in the courtroom as you sit here right now?

A. No, I don't think so.

Q. So I am going to point to a person. This
gentleman that's seated at counsel table wearing
glasses, you don't recognize ‘him?

A. Could he take his glasses off?

MS. DIGIACOMO: For the record the
defendant just took his glasses off.

MR. BROWER: ' So did I since we are both
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sitting at the table wearing glasses.

MS. DIGIACOMO: I'm sorry. I'm standing
behind Mr. Brower.

THE COURT: I don't think you match the
description, Mr. Brower.

BY MS. DIGIACOMO:

Q. Does he look familiar to you?

A. Yes, I think so.

Q. Without the glasses?

A, Yes. Without the glasses.

Q. So he appears to look like the person that

was at your! house that day in November?

A. Yeah.

Q. Can.you say with like a percentage of
certainty like 10 percent, 50 percent?

A, | 85 percent sure.

MS. DIGIACQMO: Now, this person that I
just pointed to for the fecord was the defendant, your
Honor.

THE COURT: Record will reflect
identification thaf you're talking abqut the defendant.

BY MS. DIGIACOMO:

Q. Did you know him before November 28th?
A. No, I have no idea who they are.
Q. So you did not give him permission to come
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into your house on November 28th, 20167
A. No.
MS. DIGIACOMO: I have nothing further.

THE COURT: Mr. Brower.

CROSS—-EXAMINATION

BY MR. BROWER:
Q. Kevin, when you looked around the
courtroom a moment ago and you didn't identify my

client, did you see any other black people in the

courtroom?
A. No.
v
Q. But there's a couple black females,
correct? |
A. Yes.
Q. But no other‘black males, correct?
A. Yes.
Q. And only after the prosecutor pointed to

the sole black male in the courtroom were you able to
say possibly it was him, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. So; Kevin, I am going to go back and ask
you a couple other questions.

A. Okay.

Q. You were talking about somebody trying to
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punch through ﬁhe glass on your door of your house. Is
your glass frosted?

A. What do you mean by that?

0. Well, is it clear glass on the front door
or 1s it frosted élass?

A, What do you mean by that?

Q. Are the panels totally clear or do they

have lines or etchings or snowflakes or anything in

them? 1Is it like a clear glass that you can see

through like glasses or is it —-

A. It was clear enoﬁgh that I could see him
through the glass.

Q. So there's nothing to distort your wvision

through there?

A. No. i

Q. What color jacket was the person wearing?
A. I couldn't remember.

Q. Was the person wearing gloves?

A. I do not remember.

Q. So'when you saw a hand come through the

window, can you describe were their ririgs on it?

A. I don't remember.

Q. Can you describe whether the fingernails
had nail polish or anythihg else?

A.  No.
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12:26PM 1 Q. Because you don't remember or because you
2 didn't see?
3 A, Because I don't remember.

4 Q. And you don't remember if there was a

12:26PM 5 | glove?

6 A, No.
7 Q. Do you‘remember the color —- was the arm
8. | that came thréugh the window —-- was the arm bare?
9 ' A. No.
12:26PM 10 | Q. So it had c¢lothing on it?
11 A. Yes;
12 Q. But you don't know if it was a jacket
13 or —- |
14 A. No.
12:26PM 15 Q. Do you know if it was leather or if it was
16 cloth?
17 A. Probably leather.
18 Q. Probably leather but you're not sure?
19 A. Not sure.
12:26PM 20 Q. But you don't remember if the arm had a

{

21 gldve on it?

22 A. No.
23 Q. How about a watch, did you see a watch?
24 A. No.
l2:26PM 25 ‘ Q. And you ran outside afterwards and saw the
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person get into the driver's side of a car?

Kevin.

A.

Q.

A.

Q.

Yes.

Were they wearing a hat?

No, I don't think so.

Can you describe their hair to me?

Very short hair.

Were they wearing glasses?

No, I don't think so.

Not even sunglasses?

No. |

Describe the vehicle to me.

It was a.blue Suzuki.

Two door or four door?

Four door.

Do you know what kind of wheels it had?
Probably the stock wheels.

You don't remember?

The stock wheels.

Can you describe the weight of the person?
Average to slim. |

So you are going to have to help me out,
I don't know what average to slim means to you.
I'd say around 180 pounds to 200.

180 to 200 and you described him as

between 5-foot-10 and 6 feet?

\k_ﬁ&\“/
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A. Yes. Or a bit taller than 6 feet.

Q- Were you wearing éhoes when you ran
outside?

A. No. I went in barefoot.

Q. How far did you chase the person?

A. I chased him to the sidewalk at which I

looked at his license plate because his car was right
there.
Q. Well, the car you saw the person get into

was right there, right?

A. Yes.
Q. Do you know if it was their car?
- AL Yes.
Q. ﬂow do you know it was their car?
A. Because they had the keys and started the

ignition to start the car.

Q. So if you drive your parents' car with
their keys, is it your car or your parents' car?

A. It's my pareﬁts' car obviously.

0. But‘if I saw you get in it, wouldn't I be

inaccurate to say it was your car?

A. No.
Q. I wouldn't? )
A, I mean, if you saw me with my car, then

obviously it's my car. But if you see me with my
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parents' car, then it's my parents' car.

Q. That you're driving?
A. Yes.
Q. Kevin, was it the right hand or left hand

that came into the door?

Af I'm pretty sure it was the left hand T
think.

Q. And you didn't see any watches?

A. No. |

Q. Was it sunny out that day?

A. Yes. It was in broad daylight.

Q. So it wasn't raining .or ahything?

A. No.

Q. It wasn't overcast?

A. No.

MR. BROWER: I'll pass the witness, Judge.

THE COURT: Anything else?

MS. DIGIACOMO: No.

THE COURT: Thank you, sir.

Is he free to go? |

MS. DIGIACOMO: Yes.

THE COURT: You can jump down. You're
free to leave. Thank you for your testimony.

THE WITNESS: Thank you, your Honor.

THE COURT: Next witness.
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12:30PM 1 MS. DIGIACOMO: Norma Nazareno.

2 THE COURT: Good morning, ma'am. Remain

3 standing and raise your right hand for me.

4 | THE CLERK: Do you solemnly swear that the
12:30PM 5 testimony that you are about to give will be the truth,

6" | the whole truth and nothing but the truth, so help you

7 God?
8 THE WITNESS: Yes, I do.
9 THE CLERK: Please be seated.
12:30PM 10 Please state your first and last name and

11 spell each for the record.

12 THE‘WITNESS: Norma Cordero Nazareno.
13 , THE COURT: Can you spell that for us.
14 THE WITNESS: N-O-R-M-A. Last name

12:31PM 15 | N-A-Z-A-R-E-N-O.

16 THE COURT: Thank you. Grab a seat.
17 Go ahead,. State.
18 MS. DIGIACOMO: Thank you.
19
12:31PM 20 NORMA CORDERQO NAZARENO,
having been first duly sworn, did testify as follows:
21
22 ~ DIRECT EXAMINATION

23 | BY MS. DIGIACOMO:

24 Q. Ma'am, do you live or own 2731 Warm Rays?

|2:31PM 25 A. Yes, I do. For the last 16 years.
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Q.  And do you own that with your husband
Florentino?

A, Yes, I do.

Q. Do you know the person who just left the

courtroom, Kevin?

A, That's my son.

Q. And he lives there as well?

A, Yes.

Q. And all of you lived there last

November 28tH of 20167

A. Yés, ma'am. Me and my husband and my son.

Q. Did anything happen that day that caused
you to go home?

A. Well, I was at work right around 12,
that's when he éalled me at work and I had to rush home

to see what happened. .

Q. Who called you?

A, My son.

Q. Kevin?

A, As soon as he called 9-1-1 he called me

right away. Actually he find out —-- my husband found
out so my husband called me to go home. vSo I went home
right away.

Q. And when you got home, did your house look

different than it had when you left for work?
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A, It's just the door that's broken, the
glass was broke.

Q. What time did you leave for work that day?

>

As soon as I could. Like around 12:15.

No. What time did you —--

- O

12:30.
THE COURT:‘ Okay. Jﬁst let her finish the
question and then you answer because this lady down
here 1is typiﬁg everything down. So if you guys talk
over each other, it doesn't get down very well.
So go ahead.
BY MS. DIGIACOMO:
Q. I meant what time did you leave the house

that day to go to work?

- A. That was a Monday. Normally I leave like‘

around between six to 6:15 because I start seven

o'clock on a Monday.

Q. So you had been at work for awhile before

you -got the call?

A. Yes, ma'am.
0. And you got home at 12:307
A. I left wo#k aﬁound 12:30 maybe.
0. How long did it take you to get home?
A. Normally abouJ 30 minutes.
g Q. When you got home, you said something was
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wfbng with the front door?

A. Yeah. Well, that's exactly what's already
given to me, the description of what was wrong and why
I had to go home.

Q. Tell me what you saw when you got home.

A. I saw —— because I have tﬁo sides of the
door. One side was broken like there's a big hole in
there and the hole kind of shattered but not completely

down but there was a big hole right there by the

" doorknobs.

0. And when you said there was two sides, do

you have two front doors?

A. Yeah. There's a left and a right-hand
side.

‘Q. And they're both glass?

A. Yes.

0. And do they also have another design in
the glass?

A. Yes, there is. Like a metal in between so

they're like different design on it.
Q. But on one side of the glass there was a

hole in it?

A. Yes. So there's no metal so that's why
there was —— that's where the broken glass was.
Q. And you didn't give anyone permission to
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12:34PM 1 break your déor that day?
2 4 A, No, ma'am. We just left it the way it is
3 until later on then we needed a replacement door. So
4 they just took that door and tock it to the shop and’
12:34PM 5 replaced the glass.
6 Q. How much did it cost to repéir the glass
7 door?
8 A. Well, first of all the first day that it
9 was broken we(needed to be safe that day so I called
12:34PM 10 the insurance and they referred me to a construction
11 which is the Hopster —-— |
12 | THE COURT: I'm sorry. They referred you

13 to what?

14 THE WITNESS: To a construction company.
12:34PM 15 ' THE COURT: Okay.
16 THE WITNESS: So they replaced the wood

17 for the whole glass door and got the whole frame.
18 BY MS. DIGIACOMO:
19 . Q. So what you mean is they put wood up until

L2:34PM 20 you could get the glass fixed?

21 A. Yes.
22 Q. So nobody else could break in?
23 ‘[ A. Exactly.
24 Q. How much did that cost?
.2:34PM .25 A, That was about 400-something-dollars. I
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have it on here.

Q. For the record you're referring to your
receipts?

A, Yesf I have the receipts. That cost me
$474L41. ’

Q. And then how much did it cost to repair
the glass?

A .$723.72. And I have the receipt.

Q., How long did it take to repailr that glass?

A, Well, we had to order the door so we
waited like almost two weeks to have it replaéed.

Q. And did your insurance cover the repair?

A. No, it did not because the temporary door
wasn't a thousand dollars. It was only 700. So they
couldn't —- beéause we had to pay deductible and we

haven't done that yet.

Q. So your deductible is a thousand dollars?

A. Yes.

Q. So you had to pay the $723.72 yourself?

A. Yes.- |

Q. As well as the $474.41 to put up the wood
door?

A, Yes, ma'am.

MS. DIGIACOMQ: I don't have anything

further.
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THE COURT: Anything, Mr. Brower?

CROSS—-EXAMINATION

BY MR. BROWER:

Q. Ma'am, the glass on your door —-— can you
describe the glass that was on your dooré Is it
see—through, is it frosted?

A. It's kind of frosted but there's some area
where just like a clear one with like a diamond shape,
thét's a clear, and the rest are all frosty. Like in
between hés frost and then clear.

Q. So when you look out your door, can you
visibly see what's on the other side?

A, Absolutely.

Q. And the door that was broke, are they two

doors side by side or just one door?

A. It's two door side by side.

Q. Which door was broke, thé right or left
door?

A. If T was facing the front door from the

. outside, it'll be on the left-hand side with the

doorknob is.
Q. And where would your deadbolt be?
A. On the left—hand side. 1It's on the same

side where the latch is.
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Q. So the latch isn't in the center of the
two doors, it's actually on the side?

A, Wéll, actually it's on that one door on
the left-hand side.

Q. But there's two doors. Do they open —--

A. Yeah. The other one is just —-- there's
this latch up on the top and the bottom —--

Q. And the doors --

A, —— to keep it staying ——

THE COURT: Ma'am, let him finish because.

we're talking over each other.
BY MR. BROWER:

Q. So the right-hand door, if I'm standing at
the front door, the right-hand door has a latchbthat's

at the top and bottom —-

A. -~ Yes.

Q. - so it doesn;t open with a knob?

A. No.

Q. It opens with the two latches?

A. Right.

0. When the door is closed, does each door

hook to each other?
A. It's just the doorknob that has the lock.
That's the only thing that's there.

0. Hooks to the other door, correct?
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A,

Q.

Yes.

So from where the hole in the window was,

if I stick my hand through that hole —-

A.

Yeah, it's about this much —-
THE COURT: Hang on. Hang on. Hang on.
Finish your question, Mr. Brower.

THE WITNESS: Go ahead.

BY MR. BROWER:

Q.

So when I stick my hand through that hole,

do I reach my hand to the right or to the left to

unlock the door if I'm standing in front?

A.

You would go going —- so the door is right

here so you would be going this way.

THE COURT: For the record she's using her

left arm and turning it to her right.

BY MR. BROWER:

Q.

A.

So I would reach in and go to my right?
Yeah.

MR. BROWER: Thank you, Judge.

THE COURT: Is that it?

MR. BROWER: That's it with me, Judge.
THE COURT: Okay. Anything else,’State?
MS. DIGIACOMO: No.

THE COURT: Ma'am, you're egcused.

Is this witness free to go-?
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MS. DIGIACOMO: Yes.

THE COURT: Thank you for your testimony.
You're free to go today.

Does anybody want copies of her receipts?

MS. DIGIACOMO: I have them and I made
copies and I'll get them to Mr. Brower.

THE COURT: Next witness, State.

MS. DIGIACOMO: State calls Officer
McGeahy.

THE COURT: Is it officer?

THE WITNESS: Sure. |

THE COURT: What is your assignment?

THE WITNESS: I'm with PSU.

THE COURT: Come on up, remain standing
and raise your right hand. |

THE CLERK: Do you solemnly swear that the
testimony that you are about to give will be the truth,
the whole truth and hothing but the truth, so help you
God?

THE WITNESS: I do.

THE CLERK: Please be seated.

Please state your first and last name and
spell each for the record.

THE WITNESS: My name is James McGeahy.

J-A-M-E-S. M-C-G-E-A-H-Y.
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12:39PM 1 THE COURT: Thank you, sir.
2 Go ahead.
3
4 | JAMES MCGEAHY,

having been first duly sworn, did testify as follows:
12:39PM 5

6 DIRECT EXAMINATION

7 BY MS. DIGIACOMO:
8 Q. How are you employed?
9 A, I'm a police officer with the Henderson

12:39PM 10 Police Department.

11 Q. How long have you been so employed?
12 A. Ten years and about eight months now.
13 Q. Directing your attention to November 28,

14 2016 at approximately noon were you so employed and

12:40PM 15 working?

16 A. Yes.

17 Q. What was your assignment on that date?

18 A. I'm assigned to PSU, Problem Solving Unit.
19 Q. ’Now, did a report come in about a home

12:40PM 20 invasion at 2731 Warm Rays Avenue. in which a license
21 plate was obtained?

22 A. Yes.

23 Q. And did you get assigned that case?
24 A. Yes.
12:40PM 25 | Q. What happened when you got the assignment?
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A. As a squad we started immediately
investigéting. Took bur initial information which was
the license plate and ran that through our NCIC data
base, got back a hit that it was a rental car,
contacted the rental company.

Q. And when you contacted the rental company,
what information were they able to provide you?

A, ‘ They were able to provide us with who the

renter was, the type of vehicle it was and that it had

GPS.

Q. Now, was it rented to a Marquisha Powell?

A. I believe that was the name, yes.

Q. So it was rented to a female?

A, Yes. |

Q. And you said that it was equipped with
GPS?

A. Yes.

bQ. Was anybody at the car rental place able

to get &ou the location of that car right then?

A, Yes.

Q. Based upon giving the GPS what did you and
your other officers do?

A. At that point we had two other officers
head down to the Global Autos and that way they had

direct contact with the management there who was
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looking at the screen and actively following the GPS.
And then we relayed that information over to the other
officers who were out in the field attempting to locate
the vehicle.

Q. Okay. Did you ever‘see the GPS or was
there other officers that were there seeing the
location of the car?

A. I was just being told the GPS locations
and then I was emailed the paperwork of the actual
locations.

Q. The GPS for this car, did it show it was

present on Warm Rays?

A. Yes, it did.

Q. And so that's why you followed this car?
A, Yes.

Q. So when you are able to find the vehicle,

where was it?

A. Once we caught up with the vehicle it was
at the Fashion Show Mall on Las Vegas‘Bbulevafd.

Q. And do you know approximately whéf time
that was?

A. It was around noon. I don't remember the
exact time.

Q. So it's within a very short time period

from the call coming in about the home invasion and
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12:42PM 1 finding the car?
2 A. Correct.
3 ‘ Q. When you get to the Fashion Show, do you
4 ever actually see this vehicle?

12:42PM 5 A. I did not, The detectives on scene did.

6 Q. Who were the detectives on scene?
7 A. I believe it was Max Pilz was there and

8 actually he's the one that located it. I don't
9 remember who else was with him. But I know he's the

12:42PM 10 one that actually located the vehicle.

11 Q. And that's P-I-1L-Z for the record?
12 A. Yes. P-I-L-Z.
13 Q. When the vehicle was located, was it the

14 same vehicle with the license plate number that had

12:43PM 15 been reported by the victim?

16 A, Yes.
17 , Q. What happened at that point?
18 A. I believe that they observed the vehicle

19 in the parking garage and then pick up another person
12:43PM 20 and then they drove to the exit of the parking garage

21 and parked on the exterior near Dillard's.  Which is

22 where they were contaé&ed.

23 Q. And so it was Detective Pilz that stopped

24 the car? |

.2:43PM 25 A. Yes. Itjwas actually Jonathan Ashcroft
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that was with him. I'm sorry.

Q. Ashcroft?
A. Yes.
Q. So the car was stopped and then you

arrived on scene?
A. Yes.
Q. And when .you arrived, had you been

informed whether or not the individuals had been

Mirandized?
A. - I believe so, yes, they were Mirandized.
Q. So when you come on scene, what do you do?
A. I didn't do anything because I was advised

that they were not talking. So I‘didn't speak to any
of them, although I did speak to this. gentleman here
and advised him what he was under arrest for.

Q. You said this gentleman here. Can you

point to the person you're referring to and describe

what he's wearing right now.

A. Denzel Dorsey wearing a black shirt and
glasses. |
MS. DIGIACOMO: Your Honor, would the
record reflect identification of the defendant?
THE COURT: Record will réflect

identification.
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BY MS. DIGIACOMO:

Q. All right. So‘Mr. Dorsey was in the car
that was stopped?

A. Yes.

MR. BROWER: Judge, calls for speculation.
I don't think he was there.

MS. DIGIACOMO: I can rephrase.

THE COURT: Why don't you rephrase. I
don't know if he's speculating, it's personal
knowledge. If he saw it, was he -—-

BY MS. DIGIACOMO:

Q. | When you got to the scene of the car that
was involved in the home invasion whe;e it was stopped,
were there other officers present?

A. Yes. Metro was there as well as other
detectives working the case.

Q. Were there any individuals there that were
not officers?

A. There was him and then there was another
subject that was with him. I doﬁ't recall his name.

Q. So when you say him, you're talking about

Mr. Dorsey?

A, Yes.
Q. So he was there with all these officers by
the car?
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A. Yes..
Q. And you didn't see ——
A, When I got there, the other subject

actually was under arrest and was' being at that point

transported and leaving to go to jail at CCDC. He had

several warrants for his arrest. I don't recall.
Q. So the second passenger of this car is
gone?
A, Yes. ,
; / ) )
: {
Q. And it's just Mr. Dorsey with the vehicle

and all the officers?

A, He's sitting down actually over by one of
our cars.

Q. Correct. But-he's in the vicinity of this
car?

A. Yes.

Q. And everyone else there is officers
investigating?

A. Yes.

Q. So based upon what you had said earlier

you went over and contacted Mr. Dorsey to let him know
he was under arrest?

A. And I advised him what the charges were
for.

Q. What did you tell him he was under arrest
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for?

A. Home invasian and damage to the property.

Q. And that was the home inVasion that
occurred at 2731 Warm Rays?

A. Correct.

Q. Now, when you contacted Mr. Dorsey, did
you notice anything about his appearance?

A, Yes. He was wearing a suit jacket that on
his left arm had several tears in it that were pretty
fresh. And also ——

Q. Wait. So you're pointing to the left arm,
your left arm, and you started kind of at the wrist and
went up to the elbow?

A. Yeah, I believe there was a few tears, one
was down here and I think there was a couple up in here
that were torn and they were frayed so you could tell
they weré fresh, they wéren't sométhing that was old.
And the jacket was fairly new, it looked like a new
suit Jjacket.

Q. | And there was only these tears and fraying
on the left arm?

A. On the left arm, correct.

Q. Did you notice anything else about his
physical gppearance? |

A. He had like some injuries on his right
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hand. I don't recall exactly what they were, but they
were on his knuckle. Some dry blood.

Q. So on his right hand his knuckles had dry

blood?
A. Yes.
Q. But did those appear to be fresh injuries

or was it scabbed?

A. Yes. They appeared to be fresh.

Q. Anything else about his appearance?
A, No. |

Q. Now, did you do a search incident to

arrest of him?

A. Yes.

Q.  And anything found durihg the search?
A. The key to the wvehicle.

Q. What vehicle are you referring to?

A, The vehicle that he was driving. It was a
Suzuki rental car.

| MR. BROWER: Judge, this calls for
speculation. We don't know that he was driving the
vehicle.

THE COURT: Well, hang on. His testimony

was that he was driving it. If he can't testify that
he was driving it --

MS. DIGIACOMO: He testified he had the
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12:47PM 1 key.
2 THE COURT: Your testimony is that he had
3 the key to the vehicle?
4 | THE WITNESS: Yes. I apologize. Yes, he
12:47PM 5. | had the key to thé vehicle iﬁ/his pocket.

6 BY MS. DIGIACOMO:

7 0. And you said it was a Suzuki?

8 A, Yeah, I believe it was a Suzuki.

9 And he also had a glove in his pocket that
12:48PM 10 had some blood on it and then —- that was it.

11 0.  So he had one glove in his pocket?

12 A One glove in his pocket and the car key.

13 0. And did you ever find the other glove?

14 A. Yeah. We found the other glove in the

12:48PM 15 vehicle.
| 16 0. And in the vehidle you're talking about is
17 the Suzuki?
18 A. Yes.
19 Q. And that's the one with the license plate
12:48PM 20 953LGM that was reported we've been talking about the

21 whole time?

22 A. Correct.
23 MS. DIGIACOMO: I have nothing further.

24 THE COURT: Mr. Brower.

12:48PM 25

AA 0186
-



40

1 CROSS-EXAMINATION

2 BY MR. BROWER:
3 Q. Officer, did you impound the jacket that
4 you just talked about?

12:48PM 5 A. Yes, we did.

6 1. - Q. And you have that in evidence?
7 A. Yes.
8 Q. Okay. And did you impound the gloves?
9 | A. Yes.
12:48PM 10 Q. What kind of gloves were they?
11 A, They looked almost like mittens. They

12 were cotton gloves.

13 Q. So were they gloves or mittens?

14 A, I don't know. is there a difference?
12%49PM 15 Q. One has fingers and one has —-

16 \A. It had fingers, so sure. They were like

17 cotton gloves.

18 Q. Sorry. I run a ski team. Big difference.

19 But you didn't see Mr. Dorsey driving the
12:49PM 20 vehicle?

21 A. No, I did not.

22 Q. What race was the other person in the

23 vehicle?

24 A. African American as well.

12:49PM 25 Q. Do you know how tall they were?
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12:49pPM 1 A. If I remember I want to say he was like
2 6-foot.
3 L Q. Do you remember his weight?
4 A, He was thin.
12:49pM 5 Q. Thin like Mr. Dorsey or thinner?
6 A. I want to say thinner.‘ But my interaction

7 with him was limited so I don't recall too much.
8 Q. Did you do any showups or lineups with
9 Kevin Nazareno?
12:50pM 10 | A.  No.
11 Q. You've never shown personally Kevin any
12 pictures of the other individual?
13 A. I don't understand your question.
14 Q. You singled out Mr. Dorsey as the person
12:50pPM 15 you believe committed this crime. I'm trying to figure
16 out what you did with the other individﬁal to show that
17 they didn't commit this crime?
18 A.. We didn't do anything with him because we

N,

19 saw him get picked up at the mall.

12:50PM 20 Q. But that was after the fact, correct?
21 A. Yes.
22 THE COURT: I'm confused. Picked up by

23 officers or picked up --
24 THE WITNESS: No. He was picked up by

12:50pPM 25 Denzel in the parking garage.
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MS. DIGIACOMO: And by Denzel you mean the
defendant? |
THE WITNESS: Yes.
BY MR.‘BROWER:
Q.  So you say £hat you saw the car pull into
the parking lot, never étop or dovanything else and go

pick up the other individual?

A, The other detective did, Max Pilz. He saw
him pick up -- I believe pick him up inside the parking
‘garage.

d Q. Did you guys call out any forensic

examination to the Warm Rays house?
A, Yes.
MR. BROWER: Judge, I'll pass the witness.
THE COURT: Anything else, Miss DiGiacomo?
MS. DIGIACOMO: No, Your Honor.‘
THE COURT: All right. Is this witness
free to go?
MS. DIGIACOMO: Yes.
THE COURT: Thank you so much, officer.
THE WITNESS: Thank you.
MS. DIGIACOMO: With that the State re;ts.
THE COURT: Any motion on anything

regarding the complaint?

MS. DIGIACOMO: Oh, yeah, I'm sorry.
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12:52pPM | 1 Thank you. I need to move to amend lines 17 and 22 to

2 reflect Florentino and/or Norma Nazareno as the owners.

3 ‘ MR. BROWER: Submit it, Judge.
4 THE COURT: Is that it?
12:52PM 75 - Mr. Brower.
6 MR. BROWER: Judge, my client is aware of

7 his right to testify at a preliminary hearing. I

/8 ‘believe he is going to follow my advice and not testify

9 before your Honor, but I know you have to canvas him.
12:52PM | 10° THE COURT: Is that correct, Mr. Denzel

11 Dorsey? You have the right to testify at your own

/
{

12 preliminary hearing. Howevef, it can't be held against

13 you if yoﬁ don't testify. Are you taking your : N

14 attorney's advice and not testifying at this time?
12:52PM 15 THE bEFENDANT: Yes, your Honor.

16 THE COURT:‘ Do you have any witnesses

17 otherwise you'd like té call?

18| MR. BROWER: We don't, Judge.

19 THE COURT: Waive and reserve, State?
12:52PM 20 MS. DIGIACOMO: Yes.

21 THE COURT: Mr. Brower.

22 5 MR. BROWER: Judge, I am going to submit

23 it on what you've already heard.
24 THE COURT: All right. The testimony was

12:53PM 25 that the arm went through the door, broke through the
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12:53PM 1 door, attempted to open the door and that Kevin saw an
2 African American male, watched him go out to the car
3 with that particular license plate. That license plate
4 was on the vehicle ultimately a short time later found
12:53PM 5 by the officers. And while we didn't have direct
6 testimony, the key was in Mr. Dorsey's pocket a short
7 time later. So to the extent there's any issues with
8 the identification, the circumStantia; evidehce
9 suggests that probable cause was met and that Denzel
12:53PM 10 Dorsey committed the crimes of attempt invasion of the
11 home and maliciéus destruction of private property. I

12 think the testimony on the malicious destruction of

{
A

13 property was 1097.

14 So, Mr. Dorsey, I find probable cause has
12:53PM 15 been met at this time on Count 1 and Count 2 so I am

16 going to bind you over to District Court to answer

17 those two charges.

18 I granted the motion to add Florentino to

19 line 17 and line 21 to include an and/or with Norma
12:54PM 20 /| Nazareno.

21 So.do we have a date for District Court.

22 MR. BROWER: Judge, I know that she's

23 going to give me the 11 put I am asking for the

24 | 15th,

12:54PM 25 THE CLERK:: I remember. May 15,
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10:00 a.m. lower level.
THE COURT: We were operating off of an
amended. Are you aware of that?
MR. BROWER: I am, Judge.
/ THEVCOURT: I just wanted to make sure
that we were clear that we were binding him over on the

Amended Criminal Complaint of invasion of the home, not

attempt invasion of the home. Thank you.

(The proceedings concluded.)

* % x *x %

ATTEST: Full, true énd accurate

transcript of proceedings.

/S/Lisa Brenske

LISA BRENSKE, CSR No. 186
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correct, and trueto the best of my knowledge.

NRS 171.102 and NRS 208.165.

Regpectfully submitted;.
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C-17-3233241 DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor CbURT MINUTES /‘ : February 19, 2019
C-17-323324-1 State of Nevada |
Vs
Denzel Dorsey
February 19, 2019 08:30 AM .- Sentencing - |
HEARD BY: Hardy, Joe COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 11D

COURT CLERK: Duncan, Kristin
RECORDER: Yarbrough, Matt

REPORTER:

PARTIES PRESENT:

Denzel Dorsey Defendant

Gary Modafferi Attorney for Defendant
Richard H. Scow ‘ Attorney for Plaintiff
State of Nevada Plaintiff

JOURNAL ENTRIES

Mr. Modafferi indicated that he had spoken to Sandra DiGiacomo, DDA, and both parties agreed to
continue the sentencing date, to allow the State to file a response to the Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea.
“Upon Court's inquiry, Mr. Modafferi requested a thirty-day continuance. There being no opposition,
COURT ORDERED the sentencing date was hereby CONTINUED.

CUSTODY

CONTINUED TO: 3/28/19 8:30 AM

Printed Date: 2/20/2019 Page 1 of 1 Minutes Date: February 19, 2019

Prepared by: Kristin Duncan
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Electronically Filed
2/21/2019 8:56 AM
Steven D. Grierson

NOTC

STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565 - -
SANDRA K. DIGIACOMO
Chief D%)uty District Attorney
Nevada Bar #006204 ,
200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671- 2500

Attorney for Plaintiff
DISTRICT COURT
N CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA -

THE STATE.OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff, =

s CASE NO: C-17-323324-1

DENZEL DORSEY, DEPT NO: XV
#2845569 .

Defendant.

STATE’S NOTICE OF INTENT TO SEEK PUNISHMENT
AS A HABITUAL CRIMINAL AND NOTICE OF PRIOR BURGLARY
AND/OR HOME INVASION CONVICTONS

TO: DENZEL DORSEY, Defendant; and

TO: GARY MODAFFERI, ESQ., Counsel of Record:

YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that pursuant to NRS
207.010, the STATE OF NEVADA will seek punishment of Defendant DENZEL DORSEY,
asa habitual criminal in the event of a felony conviction in the above-entitled action.

That in the event of a felony conviction in the above-entitled action, the STATE OF
NEVADA will ask the court to sentence Defendant DENZEL DORSEY as a habitual criminal
based upon the following felony convictions, to-wit: , |

1. That on or about May 8, 2012, the Defendant was convicted in the State
of Nevada, for the crime of ATTEMPT BURGLARY (felony) in Case No. C-12-279732-1.

2. That on or about December 10, 2012, the Defendant was convicted
in the State of Nevada, for the crime of INVASION OF HOME (felony) in Case No.
C-12-284308-1. |

AA 0201
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! 1 héreby certify that service of the above and foregoing was made this 21 day of
fFebruafy, 2019 by facsimile transmission to:

| 3. That on or about Deceniber 14, 2015, the Defendant was convicted in the
State of California, for the crime of BURGLARY FIRST DEGREE (felony) in Case No.
XNOMA058464-01. -
4, That on or about August 19, 2015, the Defendant was convicted in the
State of California, for the crime of BURGLARY FIRST DEGREE (felony) in Case
No. XNOMA066766-01.

The State of Nevada hereby places Defendant DENZEL DORSEY on notice that in the
event of a Burglary pursuant to NRS 205.060 and/or a Home Invasion conviction pursuant to
NRS 205.067 in the above-entitled action, he wili not be eligible for probation as Defendant
DENZEL DORSEY has already suffered three (3) prior Burglary and/or Home Invasion
conviction(s), as set forth in the above “Notice of Intent to Seek Punishment as a Habitual

Criminal,” said notice béing incorporated by this reference as though fully set forth herein.

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #004+565

°p - Dlstnct Attorney
Nevada Bar #006204

CERTIFICATE OF FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION ™~

GARY MODAFFERI, ESQ.
(702) 474-1320

BY /s/E. Goddard

E. Goddard
Secretary for the District Attorney’s Office

16FH2022X/erg/L-5
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{* Sworn Declaration of Davey Dorsey.

Electronically Filed
2/21/2019 12:44PM
Steven D. Grierson

| | : CLERK OF THE ,°°“E
SUPP Cﬁh—f v '

GARY A. MODAFFERI, ESQ. (12450)

LAW OFFICE OF GARY A. MODAFFERI, LLC
815 S. Casino Center Boulevard

Las Vegas, NV 89101

Telephone: (702) 474-4222

Fax: (702) 474-1320

Attorney for Defendant Denzel Dorsey

‘ DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, STATE OF NEVADA

THESTATEOF NEVADA Case No. C-l7—323324-1
Plaintiff Dept No. XV
Vs |
DENZEL DORSEY
Defendant

SUPPLEMENTAL EXHIBIT IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO *
i WITHDRAW GUILTY PLEA

COMES NOW the Defendant DENZEL DORSEY by and through his counsel, GARY A,
MODAFFERI, ESQ. of THE LAW OFFICE OF GARY A. MODAFFERI, LLC, and
respectfully tenders the following Supplemental Exhibit in support of Defendant’s Motion to
Withdraw Guilty Plea.

DATED this 19" day of February, 2019.

By: /s/ Gary A. Modafferi Esq.
GARY A. MODAFFERI, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12450
815 S. Casino Center Boulevard
Las Vegas, NV 89101
Counsel for Defendant

AA 0204
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, the undersigned, hereby certify that on the 21 day of February, 2019, I served a true
copy of SUPPLEMENTAL EXHIBIT IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT’S MOTION
TO WITHDRAW GUILTY PLEA upon the following:

Richard Scow, Esq.

Chief Deputy District Attorney
richard.scow@clarkcountyda.com

/s/ Erika W. Magana

Erika W. Magana, An Employee of
Gary A. Modafferi, LLC
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C-17-323324-1 DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor . COURT MINUTES . February 26, 2019
C-17-323324-1 State of Nevada ‘

Vs

Denzel Dorsey
February 26, 2019 08:30 AM ' Defendant Denzel Dorsey's Motion to' Withdraw Guilty Plea
HEARD BY: Hardy, Joe COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 11D

COURT CLERK: Duncan, Kristin; Yorke, Dara
RECORDER: Yarbrough, Matt

REPORTER:

PARTIES PRESENT:

Denzel Dorsey ‘ Defendant

Samuel R. Kern Attorney for Plaintiff
State of Nevada Plaintiff

JOURNAL ENTRIES

The instant Motion having previously been reset, but not rescheduled on the Court's docket, and the
parties having agreed to a continuance date, COURT ORDERED Defendant Denzel Dorsey's Motion to
Withdraw Guilty Plea, was hereby CONTINUED. COURT FURTHER ORDERED, Defendant's
sentencing date, was hereby RESET to be heard on the same date as the Motion to Withdraw Guilty
Plea.

CUSTODY

3/26/19 8:30 AM DEFENDANT DENZEL DORSEY'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW GUILTY
PLEA...SENTENCING -'

Printed Date: 2/27/2019 Page 1 of 1 Minutes Date: February 26, 2019

Prepared by: Kristin Duncan
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Electronically Filed
3/19/2019 3:24 PM
- ‘Steven D. Grierson

- CLERK OF THE COU

OPPS

STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

SANDRA K. DIGIACOMO
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #006204

200 Lewis Avenue »
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff,

-vs- CASE NO: C-17-323324-1

DENZEL DORSEY, | DEPTNO: XV
#2845569

Defendant.

‘STATE’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION
- TO WITHDRAW GUILTY PLEA

' DATE OF HEARING: MARCH 26, 2019
\ - TIME OF HEARING: 8:30 A.M.

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, District Attorney,
through SANDRA K. DIGIACOMO, Chief Depufy District Attorney, and héreby submits the
attached Points and Authorities in State’s Opbosition to Defendant’s Motion to aWithdraw
Guilty Plea. |

This opposition is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein, the
attached points and authorities in support hereof, and oral argument at the time of hearing, if
deemed necessary by this Honorable Court.

I
"
/!
AA 0211
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 28, 2016, Denzel Dorsey, hereinafter Defendant, was arrested for
Attempt Invasion of the Home and Malicious Destruction of Property. Defendant was released
aftef his arrest on a $6,000 surety bbnd, despite having four (4) prior felony convictions in
Nevada and California. Defendant was arraigned in justice court on December 19, 2016 and
a preliminary hearing was scheduled for February 15, 2017. Because Defendant’s attorney
had to withdraw due to a conflict, the preliminary hearing was continued to March 30, 2017.
On February 22, 2017, the State filed an Amended Criminal Complaint charging Defendant
with Invasion of the Home and Malicious Destruction of Property. On March 30, 2017, the
defense moved to continue the preliminary hearing because defense counsel had had no
contact with Defendant and it was reset for May 2, 2017. On May 2, 2017, a preliminary.
hearing was conducted; at its conclusion, Defendant was held to answer in district court on
both charges.! Further, the State filed a Notice of Prior Burglary and/or Home Invasion
Convictions and Notice of Intent to Seek Punishment as a Habitual Criminal in the Information
listing Defendant’s two (2) convictions from Nevada for Attempt Burglary in case number C-
12-279732-1 and Invasion of the Home in case number C-12-284308-1. v

On May 15, 2017, Defendant pleaded not guilty and walved his speedy trial right; a
trial was scheduled for September 11, 2017. On September 7, 2017, the defense moved for a
continuance, which was not objected to by/ the State as it was the first trial setting. The trial
was reset for December 4, 2017. On Nd/vember 30, 2017, Defendant’s counsel moved to
withdraw due to a conflict and Defendant indicated he wished to hire private counsel; a status
check was set for Décember 12,2017 and continued to January 9, 2017 to see if counsel would
confirm, ’

In December 2017, an arrest warrant for Defendant was iésued in 17F21598x for
Invasion of the Home, Burglary (two (2) counts) and Possession of Stolen Property.

Defendant was booked on the warrant the beginning of January 2018.

! The defense presented no witnesses, i.e. neither Davey Dorsey nor Takiya Clemons testified.

2
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On January 9, 2018, private counsel was still unable to confirm and the State moved to
remand Defendant without bail for committing new crimes while out of custody in this case.
The court remanded Defendant with no bail and set a status check to appoint counsel for
January 16, 2018. On that date, new appointed counsel confirmed for Defendant and a trial
date was scheduled for April 23, 2018.

On March 13, 2018, Defendant pleaded guilty to Invasion of the Home pursuant to a
guilty plea agreement which stated, in part:

The State will retain the right to argue. Additionally, the State agrees not to
seek habitual criminal treatment. Further, the State will not oppose dismissal of
‘Count 2 and Case No. 17F21598X after rendition of sentence. The State will not
oppose standard bail after entry of plea. However, if I fail to go to the Division of
Parole & Probation, fail to appear at any future court date or am arrested for any
new offenses, I will stipulate to habitual criminal treatment, to the fact that I have
the requisite priors and to a sentence of sixty (60) to one hundred twenty (120)
months in the Nevada Department of Corrections. Additionally I agree to pay full
restitution including for cases and counts dismissed.

% %k %

I understand and agree that, if I fail to interview with the Department of
Parole and Probation, fail to appear at any subsequent hearings in this case, or an
independent magistrate, by affidavit review, confirms probable cause against me for
new criminal charges including reckless driving or DUI, but excluding minor traffic
violations, the State will have the unqualified right to argue for any legal sentence
and term of confmement allowable for the crime(s) to which I am pleading guilty,
including the use of any prior convictions I may have to increase my sentence as an
habitual criminal to five (5) to twenty (20) years, life without the possibility of
parole, life with the possibility of parole after ten (10) years, or a definite twenty-
five (25) year term with the possibility of parole after ten (10) years.

Guilty Plea Agreement Filed in Open Court on March 9, 2018, pp. 1-2.2 See Guilty Plea
Agreement attached as Exhibit 1. Defendant also stated during the plea canvass that he is
pleading guilty of his own free will and that he committed the instant offense. See Reporter’s

Transéript of Hearing Re State’s Request for Entry of Plea Filed June 14, 2018 (RTH), pp. 5-

2 Per the court minutes from March 13, 2018, the Guilty Plea Agreement was actually filed in open court on
March 13, 2018. Also, there was a typographical error in the Guilty Plea Agreement which no one realized;
page 1, lines 26-27 were supposed to reflect a sentence of 60 — 240 months if adjudicated guilty of habitual

criminal; instead page 1, lines 26-27 stated a sentence of 60 — 120 months, which is an illegal sentence as. it

violates the 40% rule---the minimum sentence for a small habitual criminal is 60 — 150 months.

3
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6, attached as Exhibit 2. Pursuant of the terms of the agreement, Defendant was released on
his own recognizance due to his prior bail not having been exonerated. Exhibit 2, pp. 6-7.
The court also cautioned Defendant that if he failed to go to the Division of Parole and
Probation, to appear at any future court date, or was arrested on any new offenses, he would
serve as a habituai criminal. Exhibit 2,p. 7. A sentencing date was scheduled for July 17,
2018. |

On April 26, 2018, Defendant filed a Motion to Place on Calendar to Address Custody
Status and Hold. Defendant was on parole in California at the time he committed the crimes
in this case and 17F21598x; therefore, a hold was placed on him when he was arrested on the
latter case. In the motion, Defendant asked to be remanded and for his sentencing date to be
moved to a sooner date. The motion was heard on May 8, 2018, at which time the court did
reschedule the sentencing to June 5, 2018; however, per the minutes, Defendant was not
remanded on this case.

On June 5, 2018, defense counsel stated that sentencing could not pfoceed as Defendant
wanted to withdraw his guilty plea and to dismiss her as counsel. Defendant stated he had
filed the motions previously but the court indicated it had not received them. The matter was
continued to June 12, 2018 for a status check regarding the motions and a new sentencing date.
On June 6, 2018, Defendant filed in pro per a Motion to Dismiss Counsel and a Motion to
Withdraw Plea. On June 12, 2018, the court granted Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Counsel
and set another status check for confirmation of counsel for June 28, 2018. On June 28, 2018,
all matters were continued to July 17, 2018. On July 3, 2018, the State filed an Opposition to
Defendant’s Pro Per Motion to Withdraw Plea.

On July 11, 2018, Defendant was arrested just after midnight in California for
Receiving Stolen Property, as Defendant was in possession of property stolen from a
residential burglary which occurred earlier on July 10, 2018 in the morning hours. During a
car stop for ﬁafﬁc violations, Defendant (the driver) lied about his identity to the police and
the ownership of the stolen property, claiming the over $22,000 in cash belonged to him and
the multiple items of jewelry belonged to his girlfriend, Takiya Clemons (the passenger).

4
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After further investigation, all of the items in Defendant’s possession were stolen from the
residential burglary so the detective submitted to the district attorney to charge Defendant with ‘|
the residential burglary as well. See California Police Reports attached as Exhibit 3.

On July 17, 2018, Defendant failed to appear for court and a bench warrant issued in
this case; Defendant’s Motion to Withdraw Plea was also taken off calendar. On July 24,
2018, a Motion to Quash Bench Warrant was filed by newly retained counsel; the motion
stated that Defendant was presently incarcerated in California but would make all future court
dates. On July 31, 2018, defense counsel asked for the bench warrant to be quashed because
Defendant could not post bail in his California case with the hold from this case; the court
denied the motion. |

On November 8, 2018, Defendant appeared in custody on the bench warrant return and
his counsel requested thirty (30) days to determine the status of Defendant’s cases in California
but the State objected. The court set a sentencing date for November 27, 2018. On November
27, 2018, new retained counsel substituted in as counsel and the matter was continued until
December 3, 2018.

On December 3, 2018, defense counsel requested a continuance and filed a Motion for
Expert Services (Investigator) Pursuant to Widdis on December 5, 2018: The motion was
granted by this Court on Januaryj9, 2019 in a signed order. On January 17, 2019, it was
conﬁrnied the investigator would only be wbrking on information related to a motion to
withdraw guilty plea and the sentencing date was rescheduled for February 19, 2019.

On February 15, 2019, Defendant filed a Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea. On February
19, 2019, the sentencing date was continued to allow the State time to file an opposition to the
defense’s motion; it was rescheduled for March 28, 2019. That date was later changed by the
parties and this Court to March 26, 2019. On February 21, 2019, the State filed a Notice of
Intent to Seek Punishment as a Habitual Criminal and Notice of Prior Burglary and/or Home
Invasion Convictions adding Defendant’s two (2) convictions frbm California for Burglary,

1%t Degree in case number MA058464-01 and Burglary, 1% Degree in case number MA066766-
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01; also on this date, Defendant filed a Supplemental Exhibit in Support of Defendant’s
Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea. |

The State’s opposition to Defendant’s Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea is as follows.

| STATEMENT OF FACTS |

On November 28, 2016, Kevin Nazareno lived at 2731 Warm Rays in Henderson, Clark
County, Nevada with his parents, Florentino and Norma Nazareno, who are the owners of the
residence. See Preliminary Hearing Transcript (PHT) attached as Exhibit C to Defendant’s
Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea, pp. 4, 20-21. On that date, Kevin was asleep in his bed when
he was awoken by the sound of the front doorbell ringing constantly, as someone kept pushing
the doorbell rﬁultiple times, would stop and then would press the button again multiple times.
PHT, pp. 5-6. Annoyed someone was ringing the doorbell that much, Kevin got out of bed
and went to the front door. PHT, p. 6. The froht doors were glass and as Kevin looked over
the stair railing from upstairs, Kevin could see a single Black male standing outside the front
door punching the glass with his fist; Kevin could hear banging on the door itself. PHT, pp..
7. Kevin saw the glass on the front door break, which left a round hole with jagged edges.
PHT, pp. 7-8. The black male reached through the hole in the glass to unlock the deadbolt
with his left hand; Kevin stated that the black male was wearing a jacket or clothing on his
arm. PHT, pp. 7-9, 16, 19. Kevin rushed forward to the door, grabbed the deadbolt and kept
itlocked. PHT, p. 9. The black male then took his arm out of the glass and ran away. PHT,
pp. 9-10. | |

Kevin went outside of the house and chased after the black male. PHT, p. 10. Kevin
saw the black male get into a blue Suzuki, four (4) dobr, on the driver’s side; Kevin got the
license plate, 953LGM, before the black male drove away. PHT, pp. 10-11, 17. Kevin did
not see anyone else in the vehicle. PHT, p. 11. The black male had the keys to the car and
started the ignition. PHT, p. 18. Kevin then called the police and gave them the license plate
number. PHT, p. 10. In court, Kevin was eighty-five (85) percent sure that Defendant, without
glasses, was the i)lack male that was at his house on November 28, 2016. PHT, p. 13. Kevin
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stated that he did not know Defendant or give him permission to come into his house on

November 28, 2016. PHT, pp 13-14.

| Norma Nazareno was at work on November 28, 2016 when she received a call from
her husband around noon, so she rushed home. PHT, p. 21. When she arrived, she saw that
the glass on her front door was broken, and that there was a big hole right by the doorknobs.
PHT, pp. 22-23. First, Ndrma had to pay $474.41 to have the door boarded up until the glass
could be replaced. PHT, pp. 24-25. Next, Norma paid $723.72 to have the glass replaced in
the door. PHT, p. 25. / |
Officer J. McGeahy of the Henderson Police Department, Problem Solving Unit, was
assigned this residential burglary on November 28, 2016; he and his squad began investigating
it immediately. PHT, pp. 30-31. The plate, 953LGM, was run through their database and it
returned to a rental ca‘r.% PHT, pp. 31, 39. The rental car company was contacted and the
officers learned that it was rented to a female and had a GPS equipped on it; therefore, the
rent;ll car company was able to provide officers with the exact location of the car at that
moment. PHT, p. 31. At that point, two (2) officers went to the rental car company to have
direct contact with the person tracking the car with the GPS. PHT, pp. 31-32.

» The GPS for the car showed that it was located on the street of the residential burglary,
so officers wanted to make contact with the car. PHT, p. 32. Within a very short time of the
residential burglary, officers made contact with the vehicle at the Fashion Show Mall. PHT,
pp: 32-33. Officers observed the vehicle in the parking garage picking up another person and
then it parked near Dillard’s. PHT, pp. 33, 41-42.  Officers contacted the vehicle and-
Defendant was arrested. PHT, p. 34. Officer McGeahy made contact with Defendant to let
him know he was under arrest for the residential burglary at 2731 Warm Rays and noticed that
the jaCket Defendant was wearing had several tears on his left arm that were fresh and frayed.
PHT, pp. 36-37. Defendant also had injuries on his right hand with some dried blood and
appeared to be fresh. PHT, pp. 37-38. During a search incident to arrest, the key to the Suzuki

rental car was found in Defendant’s pocket, along with one glove with some blood on it. PHT,

L

W:A2016\2016F\H20\22\1 6FH2022-OPPS~kWithdraw_Plca)«OO L.docx AA 0 2 1 7




O 0 NN N W AW N =

N N NN N N N N N /P /= = m o m —_— =
0 NN N W bW = O VW 0NN N w N = O

pp- 38-39. The other matching glove was found in the vehicle. PHT, p. 39. Both the jacket

‘and gloves were booked into evidence. PHT, pp. 39-40.

When Officer McGeahy told Defendant what he was being arrested for, he explained
that the rental car had a GPS tracker which placed him at the location of the crime; Defendant
looked down and said “aw shit.” See Declaration of Arrest Attached as Exhibit 4, p. 3.

The GPS records for the vehicle shows the following:

11:52 a.m.: the vehicle is stopped at 2727-2729 Warm Rays in Henderson for 4 minutes
" 11:56 a.m.: the vehicle started traveling

12:01 p.m.: the vehicle was traveling 30 mph in the 10300-10532 block of Eastern
(north of the victim’s residence by the intersection of Coronado Center
and Eastern)

12:06 p.m.: the vehicle was traveling 67 mph on westbound 1-215

12:11 p.m.: the vehicle was traveling 37 mph in Enterprise, NV

12:16 p.m.: the vehicle was traveling 54 mph near 5524-5698 S. Decatur

12:23 p.m.: the vehicle stopped at 3938-3980 S. Plitze Drive for 3 minutes

12:26 p.m.: the vehicle began traveling

12:31 p.m.: the vehicle stopped at 3800-3850 S. Lindell for 3 minutes

12:34 p.m.: the vehicle started traveling

12:39 p.m.: the vehicle stopped at 5801-5899 block of W. Viking for 3 minutes

12:43 p.m.: the vehicle started traveling

12:48 p.m.: the vehicle was traveling 26 mph near 5901-6099 W. Desert Inn -

12:53 p.m.: the vehicle stopped at 3300-3498 S. Ramuda Trl for 1 minute

The vehicle made no other stops and was on Fashion Show Drive at 1:43 p.m. and at 3231-
3299 Las Vegas Boulevard South (Fashion Show Mall) at 1:44 p.m. See Vehicle Rental
Agreement and History Printout for November 28, 2016 attached as Exhibit 5.
LEGAL ARGUMENT

In his motion, Defendant asks this Court to allow him to withdraw his plea of guilty
because he is innocent of the charges. In furtherance of his assertion, Defendant offers written
declarations from Davey Dorsey, his younger brother, and Takiya Clemons, his girlfriend who
was with him during his last arrest in California. However, under the totality of the
circumstances test, this Court should deny Defendant’s motion as he has not provided a
credible fair and just reason to grant it.
/11
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NRS 176.165 states in pertinent part: '

Except as otherwise provided in the section, a motion to withdraw
a plea of guiltfy, guilty but mentally ill of nolo contendere may be
made only before sentencing is imposed or imposition of sentence
is suspended. To correct manifest injustice, the court after
sentence may set aside the judgment of conviction and permit the
defendant to withdraw his plea.
The law in Nevada clearly establishes that a plea of guilty is presumptively valid and
the burden is on the defense to show that the plea was not voluntarily entered. Wingfield v.
State, 91 Nev. 336 (1975). A defendant who seeks to withdraw a plea of guilty must show
good cause therefore, as a plea of guilty is presumptively valid. Wynn v. State, 96 Nev. 673,

675, 615 P.2d 946, 947 (1980). The case of Patton v. Warden, 91 Nev. 1 (1975) suggests that

the presence and advice of counsel is a significant factor in determining the voluntariness of a
plea of guilty. Furthermore, the Nevada Supreme Court makes it clear in the case of Heffley
v. Warden, 89 Nev. 573 (1973) that the guidélines for voluntariness of pleas of guilty "do not
require the articulation of talismanic phrases." It required only that the record must
affirmatively disclose that a defendant who pled guilty entered his plea understandingly and
voluntarily. Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742 (1970).

In Wilson v. State, 99 Nev. 362 (1983), the Nevada Supreme Court stated:

In Higby v. Sheriff, 86 Nev. 774, 476 P.2d 959 (1970), concluded
that certain minimum requirements must be met when a judge
canvasses a defendant regarding the voluntariness of a guilty plea.
We held that the record must affirmatively show the following: 1
the defendant knowingly waived his privilege against self-
incrimination, the right to trial by jury, and the right to confront
his accusers; 2) the plea was voluntary, was not coerced, and was
not the result of a promise of leniency; 3) the defendant understood
the consequences of his plea and the range of punishment; and 4)
the defendant understood the nature of the charge, i.e., the
elements of the crime. Id. at 781, 476 P.2d at 963. As to this last
requirement, we subsequently held that in order for the record to
show an understanding of the nature of the char%e it is necessary
that there be either a showing that the defendant has made factual
statements to the court which constitutes in admission to the
E)leaded offense. Hanley v. State, Nev. 130, 135, 624, P.2d 1287,
290 (1981). The Court reviewing the validity of a guilty plea may
look at the entire record in order to determine whether a plea was
entered knowingly and intelligently in light of all the
circumstances. The Court may determine that the guilty plea is
valid by reason of the plea canvass itself or under a 'totah‘ay of the
circumstances approach'. Bryan v. State, 102 Nev. 268 (1986).

9
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The Nevada Supreme Court has held that in order to properly accept a guilty plea the
court must sufficiently canvass the defendant to determine if he knowingly and intelligently

entered into the plea. Williams v. State, 102 Nev. 268, 721 P.2d 364 (1986). A determination

of whether a defendant knowingly and intelligently entered into a plea must be made by using
a totality of the circumstances approach. Iverson v. State, 107 Nev. 94, 99, 807 P.2d 1372
(1991) (citing Bryant v. State, 102. Nev. 268, Nev. 268, 721 P.2d 364 (1986)). The totality of

the circumstances approach requires that the trial court review the entire record to determine
whether the plea was valid. Mitchell v. State, 109 Nev. 137, 848 P.2d 1060, 1061 62 (1993).
In Stevenson v. State, 354 P.3d 1277, 131 Nev. Adv. Rep. 61 (2015), the Nevada

Supreme Court determined that district court must consider the totality of the circumstances
to determine whether permitting withdraWal of a guilty plea before sentencing would be fair
and just. In that case, the Court affirmed the judgment pursuant to a guilty plea of two counts
of attempt sexual assault ﬁnding the following:

Having determined that a district court may grant a defendant's
motion to withdraw his guilty plea before sentencing for any
reason where permitting withdrawal would be fair and just, we
turn now to the reasons Stevenson has given as to why withdrawal
was warranted. The crux of Stevenson's argument below as to why
he should be allowed to withdraw his plea was that the members
of his defense team lied about the existence of the video in order
to induce him to plead guilty. The district court considered this
contention and gave Stevenson considerable leeway to
demonstrate how he was lied to or misled. Stevenson struggled to
articulate a cohesive response, pointing instead to circumstances
which, viewed in context, were neither inconsistent nor
suspicious. After considering Stevenson's arguments, as well as
the testimony presented at the multiple evidentiary hearings, the
district court found that no one lied to Stevenson about the time it
would take to determine whether the video could be extracted or
otherwise misled him in any way. The district court also found that
Stevenson's testimony in this regard was not credible. We must
give deference to these findings so long as they are supported by
the record, see Little v. Warden, 117 Nev. 845, 854, 34 P.3d 540,
546 (2001) (giving deference to factual findings made by the
district court in the course of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea),
which they are. Based on these findings, withdrawal was not
warranted on this ground.
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Id., 354 P.3d 1277 at 1281. The Court went on to state:

Similarly unconvincing is Stevenson's contention that he was
coerced into pleading guilty based on the compounded pressures
of the district court's "erroneous” evidentiary ruling regarding his
motion to suppress the video, standby counsel's pressure to
negotiate a plea, and time constraints. We need not consider
whether the lower court's ruling regarding the video was correct,
because even assuming it was not, undue coercion occurs when "a
defendant is induced by promises or threats which deprive the plea
of the nature of a voluntary act,” Doe v. Woodford, 508 F.3d 563,
570 (9th Cir. 2007) (internal quotation marks omitted), not where
a court makes a ruling later determined to be incorrect, see
generally Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 757, 90 S.Ct.
1463, 25 L. Ed. 2d 747 (1970)("[A] voluntary plea of guilty
intelligently made in the light of the then applicable law does not
become vulnerable because later judicial decisions indicate that
the plea rested on a faulty premise."). Moreover, time constraints
and pressure from interested parties exist in every criminal
case, and there is no_indication in the record that their
presence here prevented Stevenson from making a voluntary
and intelligent choice among the options available. See Doe,
508 F.3d at 570 (""The test for determining whether a plea is
valid is whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent
choice among the alternative courses of action open to the
defendant." (internal quotation marks omitted)); Miles v.
Dorsey, 61 F.3d 1459, 1470 (10th Cir. 1995). "Although
deadlines, mental anguish, depression. and stress are
inevitable hallmarks of pretrial plea discussions, such factors
considered individually or in aggregate do not establish that [a

defendant's] plea was mvoluntarv ").

Id., 354 P.3d 1277 at 1281 (emphas1s added).
The Court concluded:

Finally, we reject Stevenson's implied contention that withdrawal
was warranted because he made an impulsive decision to plead
guilty without knowing, definitively, whether the video could be
viewed. Stevenson did not move to withdraw his plea for several
months, which contradicts his suggestion that he entered his plea
in a state of temporary confusion while in the throes of discovering
that the video was not easily accessible. See United States v.
Alexander, 948 F.2d 1002, 1004 (6th Cir. 1991) (explaining that

one of the goals of the fair and just analysis "is to allow a
hastily entered plea made with unsure heart and confused

11
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mind to be undone, not to allow a defendant to make a tactical
decision to enter a plea, wait several weeks, and then obtain a
withdrawal if he believes that he made a bad choice in pleading
guilty" (internal quotation marks omitted)); United States v.
Barker, 514 F.2d 208, 222, 168 U.S. App. D.C. 312 (DC Cir.
1975). "A swift change of heart is itself strong indication that the
plea was entered in haste and confusion[.]"). Most importantly,
Stevenson relied upon the uncertainty surrounding the video as
leverage to negotiate an extremely favorable plea despite the
apparently strong evidence against him. See United States v.

Ensminger, 567 F.3d 587, 593 (9th Cir. 2009)("'The guilty plea is
not a placeholder that reserves [a defendant's] right to our
criminal system's incentives for acceptance of responsibility
unless or until a preferable alternative later arises. Rather, it
is a grave and solemn act, which is accepted only with care and
discernment." (internal quotation marks omitted)).

Considering the totality of the circumstances, we have no
difficulty in concluding that Stevenson failed to present a
- sufficient reason to permit withdrawal of his plea. Permitting him
to withdraw his plea under the circumstances would allow the
solemn entry of a guilty plea to "become a mere gesture, a
temporary and meaningless formality reversible at the
defendant's whim." Barker, 514, F.2d at 221. This we cannot
allow. '

Id., 354 P.3d 1277 at 1281-82 (emphasis added).

In this case, Defendant fully understood the consequenées of his guilty plea. Defendant
voluntarily signed a Guilty Plea Agreement on March 13, 2018. Exhibit 1. After orally
canvassing Defendant, the Court accepted Defendant’s guilty plea as freely and voluntarily
given. Exhibit 2, p. 6. The Guilty Plea Agreement extensively lists the consequences of the
plea. See Taylor v. Warden, 96 Nev. 272, 275, 607 P.2d 587, 589 (1980) (Court held factor in

determining voluntariness of plea is whether defendant understood consequences of his plea).

In addition, the Guilty Plea Agreement states that Defendant discussed with his attorney
any possible defenses, defense strategies and circumstances which might be in his favor and
that all of the foregoing elements, consequences, rights and waiver 6f rights have been

thoroughly explained to him by his attorney. Defendant also fully understood the nature of

12
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the charge against him. Attached to the Guilty Plea Agreement is a copy of the original
Information, which lists all of the elements of the crime in which Defendant pleaded guilty.

After a review of the transcript of the entry of plea in this matter, it does not contain
any information which would lead this Court to the conclusion that the Defendant did not enter
into his plea freely and voluntarily, and with a complete understanding of what he was doing.
Exhibit 2, pp. 2-6. Moreover, Defendant’s counsel swore, under penalty of perjury and the
threat of sanctions from the State Bar Association of Nevada, that she fully explained to
Defendant the allegations contained in the charge to which the guilty plea is being entered.

The record in the instant case contains a guilty plea agreement, discussed supra, which
is signed by Defendant; and, indicates the rights waived by Defendant, as well as the
consequences of entéring. a guilty plea. The agreement in cooperation With& the canvassing,
further provides that Defendant’s plea was clearly authorized and constitutional. All of the
requirements for a valid plea were met when Defendant entered his plea. 7

Now, hoWever, Defendant wants this Court to let him out of the negotiation claiming
he is factually innocent. Conveniently, his younger brother is the one who committed the

crime when he was a juvenile and is willing now to take responsibility for it. Moreover,

" Defendant’s girlfriend of several years is now Wllllng to provide an alibi for h1m Because

neither of thelr statements are credible, this Court should deny Defendant’s motlon

With regard to Davey Jones, he states in his declaration that he was seventeen (17) |
years old, i.e. a juvenile on November 28, 2016, and that he was the one who committed the
home invasion of the Warm Rays home without Defendant’s knowledge. Davey goes on
further to state that Defendant’s female attorney refused to listen to him when tried to talk to
her at the courthouse, although he provides no date or even which courthouse in which this
allegedly occurred. Davey’s statement is clearly not true and done only in an effort to help
Defendant escape a habitual criminal sentence. The fact that Davey would commit a home
invasion without Defendant’s knowledge seems rather ridiculous; if Davey was going to
commit such [a crime by himself, why not ask a prolific residential burglar such as his brother

who has been committing such crimes since 2012. Moreover, in his declaration signed on

13
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February 18, 2019, Davey claims to currently live in Las Vegas, yet on his Facebook page as
of March 13, 2019, he claims to live in Los Angeles, CA. See Davey Dorsey’s Facebook
Printout as Exhibit 6. Also, in November of 2016, Davey would have been in high school in
California; per his Facebook page, Davey graduated from Pete Knight High School, which is
located in Palmdale, CA. Exhibit 6; see Knight High School Information attached as Exhibit
7. Davey’s declaration is also devoid of any real facts and is so general that it undermines any
truth to the assertion that he committed the crime. Moreover, Davey’s confession does not
explain the fresh injuries to Defendant’s hand at the time of arrest, the single glove in
Defendant’s pocket with blood on it, the tears to the left sleeve of Defendant’s jacket, or
Defendant’s statement “aw shit” when he was told the rental car had GPS.

With regard to Takiya Clemons, she writes in her declaration that Defendant was with
her at the time the crime was committed. The State submits she has zero credibility based
upon the fact she is Defendant’s girlfriend who obviously is aware of his criminal activities.
When Defendant was arrested in July 2018 in California, Takiya was released at the scene
when Defendant wasb transported to jail. Later, an officer called Takiya to come to the station
to piék up the jewelry which was in the car and allegedly belonged to her, and Takiya stated
she would come down “only if you are going to release it to me.” Exhibit 3, p. 13. The officer
stated they would release it to her if she could identify the jewelry; Takiya stated “no” and
immediately hung up the phone. Exhibit 3, p. 13. Later, Takiya did go to the station and spoke
with officers, but her story did not match Defendant’s about how the money was obtained, nor
could she describe the jewelry that she claimed was hers. Exhibit 3, p. 17. Additionally,
Takiya’s written declaration does not explain the fresh injuries to Defendant’s hand at the time
of arrest, the single glove in Defendant’s pocket with blood on it, the tears to the left sleeve of
Defendant’s jacket or Defendant’s statement “aw shit” when he was told the rental car had
GPS.

Because of Defendant’s criminal history, the offense to which he pled is non-
probationable. Because Defendant violated the terms of the negotiation by failing to appear

for court and by being arrested for a new offense, he is stipulating to habitual criminal

14
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treatment which carries a minimum of five (5) years. Herein lies the real reason for this
motion, Defendant simply wants to play games with the system and does not want to face the
consequences of the deal he agreed to. At the time Defendant entered into his plea, regardless
of whether th/e female attorney would listen to Davey, Defendant would have known if he was
not the person who committed the crime and whether he had an alibi. But Defendant, after
signing a Guilty Pléa Agreement, stood up in open court and stated he was in truth and in fact
guilty of the home invasion of the Nazareno residence. Exhibit 2, p. 6.

Defendant chose to enter a plea of guilty. At the time of entry of plea, Defendant

seemed anxious to be released from custody and now that is Defendant’s goal yet again. But

-obviously Defendant should not be out of custody---he committed the crimes in this casé and

17F21598x when he was on parole for his residential burglary convictions in California and
then he committed another residential burglary in California while awaiting sentencing in this
case. Defendant wahts this Court to believe he pleaded guilty in this case to protect his poor
little brother---his poor little juvenile brother who would not be subjected to mandatory prison
if convicted. So why does Defendant no longer wish to continue with his negotiation and to
protect his brother? Because Defendant does not want to accept the consequences of his bad
behavior and the terms of the deal to which he agreed. The State should receive the benefit of
its bargain instead of Defendant being allowed out of the deal solely because he has changed
his mind, as such is not a fair and just reason especially when he enlisted his brother to lie on
his behalf. When the totality of the circumstances are viewed, Defendant’s plea was knowingly
and voluntarily entered, but Defendant will tell this Court whatever it takes to get out of
custody, even if it means exposing his own brother to criminal charges. Defendant is selfish
and cares only about himéelf—-—not his victims, not the court system, not his brother. It is as
simple as that. This Court should not reward Defendant’s bad behavior, but should instead
hold him to the deal he made.

/11

/11

/11
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CONCLUSION
‘Based upon the above and foregoing, the State respectfully Defendant’s Motion to
Withdraw Guilty Plea be DENIED. |
DATED this 19th day of March, 2019.
Respectfully submitted,

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

BY /s/ Sandra K. DiGiacomo

SANDRA K. DIGTACOMO
Chief D%)uty District Attorney
Nevada Bar #006204

CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION
I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing was made this 19th day of

March, 2019, by electronic transmission to:

GARY MODAFFERI, ESQ.
Email Address: modafferilaw@gmail.com

BY: /s/ J. Georges
Secretary for the District Attorney's Office

jg/Ls
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I agree to the forfeiture of any and all weapons or any interest in any weapons seized
and/or impounded in connection with the instant case and/or any other case negotiated in
whole or in part in conjunction with this plea agreement.

I understand and agree that, if I fail to interview with the Department of Parole and
Probation, fail to appear at any subsequent hearings in this case, or an independent magistrate,
by afﬁdavit review, confirms probable cause against me for new criminal charges including
reckless driving or DUL but excluding minor traffic violations, the State will have the
unqualified right to argue for any legal sentence and term of confinement allowable for the
crime(s) to which I am pleading guilty, including the use of any prior convictions I may have

to increase my sentence as an habitual criminal to five (5) to twenty (20) years, life without

the possibility of parole, life with the possibility of parole after ten (10) years, or a definite

twenty-five (25) year term with the possibility of parole after ten (10) years.
- Otherwise I am entitled to receive the benefits of these negotiations as stated in this

plea agreement. /

CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLEA

I understand that by pleading guilty I admit the facts which support all the elements of
the offense(s) to Which I now plead as set forth in Exhibit "1",

As to Count 1, I understand that as a consequence of my plea of guilty the Court must
sentence me to imprisonment in the Nevada Department of Corrections for a minimum term
of not iess than ONE (1) year and a maximum term of not more than TEN (10) years. The
minimum term of imprisonment may not exceed forty percent (40%) of the maximum term of
imprisonment. I understand that I may also be fined up to $10,000.00. I understand that the
law requires me to pay an Administrative Assessment Fee, .

I understand that, if appropriate, 1 will be ordered to make restitution to the victim of
the offense(s) to which I am pleading guilty and to the victim of any related offense which is
being dismissed or not prosecuted pursuant to this agreement. I will also be ordered to
reimburse the State of Nevada for any expenses related to my extradition, if any.

i
5 AA 0228
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As to Count 1, I understand that I am not eligible for probation for the offense to which
I am pleading guilty.

I undérstand that I must submit to blood and/or saliva tests under the Direction of the
Division of Parole and Probation to determine genetic markers and/or secretor status.

I understand that if I am pleading guilty to charges of Burglary, Invasion of the Home,
Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Sell, Sale of a Controlled Substance, or
Gaming Crimes, for which [ have prior felony conviction(s), I will not be eligible for probation
and may receive a higher sentencing range.
| ‘I understand that if more than one sentence of imprisonment is imposed and I am
eligible to serve the sentences concurrently, the sentencing judge has the discretion to order
the sentences served concurrently or consecutively.

I understand that information regarding charges not filed, dismissed charges, or charges
to be dismissed pursuant to this agreement may be considered by the judge at sentencing.

I have not been promised or guaranteed any particular sentence by anyone. I know that

|| my sentence is to be determined by the Court within the limits prescribed by statute.

I understand that if my attorney or the State of Nevada or both recommend any specific
punishment to the Court, the Court is not obligated to accept the recommendation.

I understand that if the offense(s) to which I am pleading guilty was committed while I
was incarcerated on another charge or while I was on probation or parole that I am not eligible
for credit for time served toward the instant offense(s).

I understand that if I am not a United States citizen, any criminal conviction will likely

result in serious negative immigration consequences including but not limited to:

The removal from the United States through deportation;
An inability to reenter the United States;

1

2 -

3. The inability to gain United States citizenship or legal residency;

4 An inability to renew and/or retain any legal residency status; and/or
5

An indeterminate term of confinement, with the United States Federal
. Government based on my conviction and immigration status.

3 AA 0229
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Regardless of what I have been told by any attorney, no one can promise me that this
conviction will nof result in negative immigration consequences and/or impact my ability to
become a United Statés citizen and/or a legal re‘sident.

I understand that the Division of Parole and Probation will prepare a report for the
sentencing judge prior to senténcing. This report will include matters relevant to the issue of
sentencing, including my criminal history, This report may contain hearsay information
regarding my background and criminal history. My attorney and I will each have the
opportunity to comment on the information contained in the report at the time of sentencing,
Unless the District Attorney has specifically agreed otherwise, the District Attorney may also

comment on this report.

WAIVER OF RIGHTS
By entering my plea of guilty, I understand that I am waiving and forever giving up the
following rights and privileges:

1. Theconstitutional privil%elagain_st self-incrimination, including the right
to refuse to testify at trial, in which event the prosecution would not be
allowed to comment to the jury about my refusal to testify.

2. The constitutional right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury,
free of excessive pretrial publicity prejudicial to the defense, at which
trial I would be entitled to the assistance of an attorney, either appointed
orretained. At trial the State would bear the burden of grovmg eyond
a reasonable doubt each element of the offense(s) charged.

3. Theconstitutional right to confront and cross-examine any witnesses who
would testify against me. :

4. The constitutional right to subpoena witnesses to testify on my behalf.
The constitutional right to testify in my own defense.

6. The right to appeal the conviction with the assistance of an attorney,
either appointed or retained, unless speciﬁcall}/ reserved in writing and
agreed upon as provided in NRS 174.035(3). I understand this means I
am unconditionally waiving my right to a direct appeal of this conviction,
including any challenge based upon reasonable constitutional,
jurisdictional or other %&unds that challenge the legality of the
proceedings as stated in NRS 177.015(4). However, I remain free to
challenge my conviction through other post-conviction remedies
py including a habeas corpus petition pursuant to NRS Chapter 34.

i
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1| VOLUNTARINESS OF PLE
2 I have discussed the elements of all of the original charge(s) against me with my
3 || attorney and I understand the nature of the charge(s) against me.
4 I understand that the State would have to prove each element of the charge(s) against
5 || me at trial.
6 1 have discussed with my attorney any possible defenses, defense strategies and
7 || circumstances which might be in my favor.
8 All of the foregoing elements, consequences, rights, and waiver of rights have been
9 | thoroughly explained to me by my attorney.
10 I believe that pleading guilty and accepting this plea bargain is in my best interest, and
11 || that atrial would be contrary to my best interest. |
12 I am signing this agreement voluntarily, after consultation with my attorney, and I am
13 || not acting under duress or coercion or by virtue of any promises of leniency, except for those
14 || set forth in this agreement. -
15 1am not now under the influence of any intoxicating liquor, a controlled substance or
16 || other drug which would in any manner impair my ability to comprehend or understand this
17 || agreement or the proceedings surrounding my entry of this plea.
18 My attorney has answered all my questions regarding this guilty plea agreément and its
19 || consequences to my satisfaction and I am Satis_ﬁed with the services provided by my attorney.
20 DATED this %™ day of March, 2018. |
21
22
23 Defendant o \
24
’s AGREED TO BY;
26
27
28 ‘
5 : AA 0231
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CERTIFICATE OF COUNSEL:

I, the undersigned, as the attorney for the Defendant named herein and as an officer of the court

hereby certify that:
1.

I have fully explained to the Defendant the allegations contained in the
charge(s) to which guilty pleas are being entered.

I have advised the Defendant of the penalties for each charge and the restitution
that the Defendant may be ordered to pay.

I have inquired of Defendant facts concerning Defendant’s immigration status

and explained to Defendant that if Defendant is not a United States citizen any
criminal conviction will most likely result in serious negative immigration
consequences including but not limited to: \

a. The removal from the United States through deportation;

b. An inability to reenter the United States;

c. The inability to gain United States citizenship or legal residency,

d. An inability to renew and/or retain any legal residency status; and/or

e An indeterminate term of confinement, by with United States Federal |
Government based on the conviction and immigration status, -

Moreover, I have explained that regardless of what Defendant may have been
told by any attorney, no one can promise Defendant that this conviction will not
result in negative immigration consequences and/or impact Defendant’s ability
to become a United States citizen and/or legal resident.

All pleas of guilty offered by the Defendant pursuant to this agreement are
gor}siséeg with the facts known to me and are made with my advice to the
efendant. :

To the best of my knowledge and belief, the Defendant:

a. Is competent and understands the charges and the consequences of
pleading guilty as provided in this agreement,

b. Executed this zgreement and will enter all guilty pleas pursuant hereto
voluntarily, an

c. Was not under the influence of intoxicating liquor, a controlled
substance or other drug at the time I consulted with the Defendant as
certified in paragraphs 1 and 2 above. :

Dated: This \3"" day of March, 2018.

F DANT

6 | AA 0232
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"It STATE OF NEVADA ;
ss

Clark, State of Nevada, in the name and by the authority of the State of Nevada, informs the |

| Clark, State of Nevada, contrary to the form, force and effect of statutes in such cases made

Electronically Fllad
5/8/2017 12:62 PM
Steven D. Grierson

CI.ERz OF THE OOUEﬁ

INFM
STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

SANDRA K. DIGIACOMO
Chief Dﬁmty District Attorney
Nevada 04 :

6§as Nevada 89155-2212
702
ttomey for Plamtit‘f

LA, 5/15/17 | DISTRICT COURT
10:00 AM. - CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
K.BROWER, ESQ.

THE STATE OF NEVADA, '
CASENO:; C-17-323324-1
Plaintiff,
vs- A DEPTNO: XXII

DENZEL DORSEY,

#2845569 INFORMATION

Defendant,

COUNTY OF CLARK

STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County District Attomey within and for the County of
Court: 3
That DENZEL DORSEY, the Defendant(s) above named, having committed the crimes
of INVASION OF THE HOME (Category B Felony - NRS 205.067 - NOC SMSS) and
MALICIOUS DESTRUCTION OF PROPERTY (Gross Misdemeanor - NRS 206.310,
193,155 - NOC 50905), on or about the 28th day of November, 2016, within the County of |

and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the State of Nevada,
n |

n

1/

Case Number: C-17-323324-1 AA 0233
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COUNT ] - INVASION OF THE HOME

- did willfully, unlawfully, feloniously, and forcibly enter an inhabited dwelling, to wit:
2731 Warm Rays, Henderson, Clark County, Nevada, without permission of the owner,
resident, or lawful occupﬂnt, to wit: FLORENTINO and/or NORMA NAZARENO, by
breaking a glass door window, putting his arm through the window and unlocking the deadbolt,
in an attempt to gain entry. |

- COUNT 2 - MALICIOUS DESTRUCTION OF PROPERTY

.did willfully, unlawfully, or maliciously destroy and/or injure the real and/or personal
property of ancther, to wit: a glass door window, owned by FLORENTINO and/or NORMA
NAZARENO, located at 2731 Warm Rays, Henderson, Clark County, Nevada, by breaking
said glass door window at said residence, the value of said damage being $250.00 or more and
Jess than $5,000.00.

STEVEN B. Vll)OLFSON

. sttnct Attorney
Bar #006204

Names of w1tnessec known to the District Attorney’s Office at the time of filing this
information are as follows.

NAME ADDRESS
CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS Henderson Detention Center Communications
CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS Henderson Detention Center Records
CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS HPD COMMUNICATIONS
CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS . HPD RECORDS
GROSS, K. : C/O CCDA’S OFFICE
GUTIERREZ, C. HPD P# 1695
HAYEK, GHASSAN " Global Auto, 1525 E. Sunset Rd., LV, NV
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MCGEAHY, J. HPD P# 1411

NAZARENO, KEVIN 2731 Warm Rays Ave., Henderson, NV
NAZARENO, NORMA 2731 Warm Rays Ave., Henderson, NV
WARD, R. . HPDP#1701
DO NOT TOTHE JURY
UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES IS THE LANGUAGE CONTAINED
HEREINAFTER TO BE READ TO A JURY HEARING THE PRIMARY OFFENSE
FOR WHICH THE DEFENDANT IS PRESENTLY CHARGED.

NOTICE OF PRIOR BURGLARY AND/OR HOME INVASION CONVICTIONS
The State of Nevada hereby places Defendant DENZEL DORSEY on notice that in the

event of a Burglary conviction pursuant to NRS 205.060 and/or a Home Invasion conviction
pursuant to NRS 205.067 in the above-entitled action, he/she will not be eligible for probation
as Defendant DENZEL DORSEY has already suffered one (1) prior Burglary and/or Home
Invasion conviction(s), as set forth in the “Notice of Intent to Seck Punishment as a Habitual
Criminal,” said notice being incorporated by this reference as though fully set forth herein.

UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES IS THE LANGUAGE CONTAINED '

HEREINAFTER TO BE READ TO A JURY HEARING THE PRIMARY OFFENSE
FOR WHICH THE DEFENDANT IS PRESENTLY CHARGE
NOTICE OF INTENT TO % PUNISHMENT AS A HABITUAL '

The State of Nevada hereby places Defendant DENZEL DORSEY on notice of the
Staté’s intent to seek punishment of Defendant DENZEL DORSEY pursuant to the provisions
of NRS 207.010 as & habitual criminal in the event of a felony conviction in the above-entitled
action.

The State will seek pumshment as & habitual criminal based upon the following felony
convictions, to wit;

/i
/
/)
nm
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1. Thatin 2012, the Defendant was convicted in the Eighth Judicial District
Court, County of Clark, State of Nevada, for the crime of Invasion of Home, in Case No.
C-12-284308-1. :

2.  Thatin 2012, the Defendant was convicted in the Bighth Judicial District
Court, County of Clark, State of Nevada, for the crime of Attempt Burglary, in Case No.,
C-12-279732-1. ' |

‘ STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County Distriet Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

DA#16FH2022X/erg/L-5
I('{xrig EV#1621448
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Electronically Filed
6/14/2018 2:41 PM
Steven D. Grierson

| : CLERK OF THE CO
TRAN &_ﬁ M—/

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

STATE OF NEVADA,
_ CASE NO. C323324-1
VS.
DENZEL DORSEY,
Defendant.

BEFORE THE HONORABLE SUSAN JOHNSON, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE
MARCH 13, 2018
RECORDER’S TRANSCRIPT OF HEARING RE
STATE’S REQUEST FOR EN TRY OF PLEA

(W)

APPEARANCES:

For the Plaintiff: VICTORIA VILLEGAS, ESQ.
Deputy District Attorney

For the Defendant: ‘CAITLYN L. MCAMIS, ESQ.

RECORDED BY: NORMA RAMIREZ, COURT RECORDER
L cg NN
Exhibit "2
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TUESDAY, MARCH 13, 2018 AT 8:53:16 A.M.

THE COURT: Okay. State of Nevada versus Denzel Dorsey, case humber
C323324-1. Would you announce your appearances for the record, please?

MS. MCAMIS: Good morning, Your Honor. Caitlyn McAmis, bar number
12616 on behalf of Denzel Dorsey who is present in custody. |

MS. VILLEGAS: Victoria Villegas on behalf of the State.

THE COURT: And this is State's Request for Entry of Plea.

MS. MCAMIS: That's correct. Your Honor, | do have the signed guilty plea
agreément. | apologize that | didn’t have time to file it before court. I'm asking for
permission to file it in open court. This matter is resolved. |

THE COURT: Okay. Go ahead.

MS. MCAMIS: If | may approach.

THE COURT: You may approach.

MS. MCAMIS: Thank you. AII right. Your Honor, | believe you now have the
filed guilty plea agreement in front of you. Today Mr. Dorsey is prepared to admit
and plead guilty to Count 1, Invaslon of the Home, a Category B Felony which is
based on the pilea agreement as follows. The State will retain the right to argue.
Additionally, the State agrees not to seek habitual criminal freatment. Further, the
State will not oppose dismissal of Count 2 in this case and dismissal of the Las
Vegas Justice Court case number 17F21598X after rendition of sentence. The
State will also not oppose standard bail after entry of plea, however if he fails to

interview with the department — or excuse me, Division of Parole and Probation or if

| he fails to appear at any future court date or is arrested for any new offense he will

be stipulating to small habitual criminal treatment. That would be a stipulated

Page - 2
AA 0238

-~




10

11

12 |

13

- 14
15
16
17

18

19

20
21
22
23
24

25

sentence of 60 months to 120 months in the Névada Department of Corrections.
And finally, he agrees to pay full restitution for this case and counts dismissed. And
there’s a forfeiture agreement as well to the extent there was anything seized.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. VILLEGAS: That is correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Dorsey, | need you in front vof the microphone. You
might need a little help from your neighbor there, all right? Okay. | need to be able
to hear you so please project for me, all right?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. | do have a guilty plea agreement wh‘ich was filed in

open court just a few seconds ago indicating that you had ‘agreed fo plead guilty to

‘committing the crime of Count 1, Invasion of the Home, a Category B Felony in

violation of NRS 205.061. Sir, did you sign this agreement?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Prior to signing the agreement, did you have an opportunity to
review the agreement? Did you review it and understand the terms?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor. |
THE COURT: Is anyone forcing you to plead guilty?
THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor.
THE COURT: You're pleading guilty of your own free will?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Is Denzel Dorsey your true name?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.
'THE COURT: Okay. By the way, are you able to hear him?
THE COURT RECORDER: No-.
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THE COURT: Okay. Did you ever have a coach in high school?

THE DEFENDANT: | used to box so, yes.

THE COURT: Okay. Project like your coach voice, all right? Okay.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Say it again.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Say it just like that, all right? All right. Is Denzel
Dorsey your true; hame, sir?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Allright. How old are you?

THE DEFENDANT: 24.

THE COURT: Allright. How far did you go in school?

THE DEFENDANT: | graduated high school.

THE COURT: What high school?

THE DEFENDANT: In the Department of Corrections.

THE COURT: I'msorry?

THE DEFENDANT: In the Department of Corrections.

THE COURT: Did you get a GED or did you actUaI_Iy go to high school there?

THE DEFENDANT: No, | just completed it High Desert.

THE COURT: AtHigh Desert. Okay. Well, you speak very well. Doyou
read, write and under the English language? |

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Allright Are you a United States Citizen?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. And just so that | am clear because we couldn’t hear
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that well, sir, did 'you have an opportunity to review the guilty plea agreement? Did
you review it and understand the terms?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

4

THE COURT: Allright. Is anyone forcing you to plead guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You're pleading guilty of your own free will?

THE DEFENDANT Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT Okay. Sir, just so that | am clear. Do you understand the
penalty range for this crlme?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. You understand that as a conseqUence of your guilty
plea the Court must sentence you to imprisonment in the Nevada Department of
Corrections for a minimum term of not less than one year and a maximum term of
not more than ten years?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you also understand that you could be fined up to $10,000?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you also understand that sentencing is strictly up to the
Court, that one can promise you probation, leniency or other special treatment?

THE DEFENDANT: “Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you also understand that no one could promise you a
particular sentence even though this guilty plea agreement says agreement anq
stipulations and all that étuff that | as the Judge do not necessarily have to follow
this deal?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

Page-5
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THE COURT: Do you also understand that you are giving up certain
constitutional rights which are listed in the guilty plea agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT£ | take it that you did discuss yonr case and your rights with your|-
lawyer? |

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you have éhy questions regarding your rights or the
negotiations?

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. So —just so that | am clear — let me get there. You are
pleading guilty because in truth and in fact on or about the 28" day of November
2016 within the County of Clark, state of Nevada, contrary to the form, force and
effect of statutes in such cases made and proVided and against the peace and
dignity of the state of Nevada that you willfully, unlawfullyl, feloniously and fdrcibly
entered an inhabited dwelling tc”\> wit: 2731 Warm Rays, Henderson, Clark County,
Nevada without permission of tﬁe owner, resident or lawful occupant to wit:
Florentino and/or Norma Nazareno by breaking a glass window, putting your arm
through the window and unlockijng the deadbolt in an attempt to gain entry.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Allright. Is the State satisfied with that canvass?

MS. VILLEGAS: Yes, Your Honor. |

THE COURT: Okay. Okéy. The Court conditionally accepts your plea as
being freely and voluntarily givén. And we need to give this gentleman a sentenéing
date.

MS. MCAMIS: Your Honor, | would point out that pursuant'to the negotiations
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the State does not oppose standard bail after entry of plea. He has entered his bail
and | would like to direct the Court’s attention. He actually posted a $7,000 bail in
this case. He was out on bail and then was picked} up after a new case. So, we are
asking for the Court to — and | believe the $7,000 bond bail was not exonerated, | |
believe it's still in place. So, we are asking for him to actually be released pending
sentencing.

MS. VILLEGAS: That's fine, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. | will go ahead and allow him to be released on this bail.
But, sir, | just want to caution you. Part of the deal is the State does not oppose
standard bail after entry of plea which | guess the standard bail is $7,000, however,
if you fail to go to the Division of Parole and Probation, if you fail to appear at any
future court date or are arrested on any new offenses, that you have stipulated that
you would serve habitual criminal treatment, meaning that you are stipulating to a
sentence of a minimum of 60 month to a maximum of 120 monfhs to be served in
the Nevada Department of Corrections. Do you undersiand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: That's quite a hammer. So, (1) you gotta stay out of trouble
and you gotta cooperate with the division, you understand?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. All right. | will go ahead and allow him to be released.
And let’s get him a date.

THE COURT CLERK: July 17", 8:30 a.m.

THE COURT: July 17" at 8:30 a.m. You understand?

[No audible response from the defendant]

MS. MCAMIS: Your Honor, would it be possible to'go just 30 days beyond
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that?

THE COURT: Why?

MS. MCAMIS: He actually has a new born child. He's trying to prepare
himself and get everything in order and take of a death in the family and then be
able to come back and be subject to his remand and serve his prison sentence. So,
he’s just asking for an additional 30 days.

THE COURT: Any objection to that?

MS. VILLEGAS: Well, Your Honor, it's already like four months away so —

THE COURT: When is the baby due?

MS. MCAMIS: The baby was actually already due. The baby is already born.
Excuse me.

~ THE COURT: Okay.

MS. MCAMIS: The baby’s been born so it's a brand new baby.

THE COURT: Okay. So, why can't we sentence in July?

: MS. MCCAMISH: | was just asking for an additional date because for the
additional time to be able to prepare and go serve his prison sentence, but We would
submit it to the Court.

THE COURT: Well, additional time to serve. I'm not understand — to prepare.

MS. MCAMIS: Right. He has a number of things that he needs to get in order
including taking care of his fiancé, taking care of his baby and then taken care of the
recent death in the family.

THE DEFENDANT: | have estate issues with my family so | have to go
[indecipherable] |

THE COURT: Okay. I'm having really — I'm having a tough time hearing you,

sir. Could you project, please?
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- THE DEFENDANT: | have estate issues, you know, that | have to go and

settle with my family. Property —

THE COURT: Who passed away?

THE DEFENDANT: My grandfather.

THE COURT: Okay. And you have to take care of this?

THE DEFENDANT: Well, he left me some property and some other things
that I'm entitled to that | have to take care of. | _ |

THE COURT: | see no reason why you can't get it done in four months, okay?
So, July 17" at 8:30. |

M.S. MCAMIS: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Thank you. ‘

MS. MCAMIS: Oh, and just to conﬁmi the calendar call and jury trial dates will
be vacated, correct?

THE COURT: Thank you for reminding me.

MS. MCAMIS: Thank you —

THE COURT: The calendar ~

MS. MCAMIS: -- so much.

THE COURT: -- call of April 17 will be vacated as well as the jury trial of April
23" of 2018. |

* % % % K
* % * Kk %
* % *k % %k

* % % % *
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MS. MCAMIS: Thank you.
[Proceedings concluded at 9:03:37 a.m.]

* % % Kk *

ATTEST: |do hereby certify that | have truly and correctly transcribed the
audio/video recording in the above-entltled case to the best of my ability.

NORMA RAMIREZ d

Court Recorder
District Court Dept. XXII
702 671-0572
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COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT URN# TAG#H
'NC'DENT REPORT - NARRAT'V( .» 918.13675. né;wm C 247 mu 4 oF
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On the above date and time we responded to the indicated location to take a report of a residential burglary. The following is a
summary of ourinvestigation.

On scene we contacted victim Fisher (V/1) who told me that his home which he shares with his parents, (V/2-3) was burglarized by
unknown person(sjbetween 1030- 1230 on 07.10.18 while he was at an appointment. He told us he noticed that the front security
screen had been pried open and the front door looked to have been kicked in. The victim told us he Immediately called the Sheriff's
station to make a report. : |

The victim told us that while he walted for Deputies he noticed that there was some loose change on the living room floor of the house
that was not there before. The victim stated he looked around the rest of the house and noticed that the south east bedroom (office)
door was opened and it normally remained dlosed. The victim said he noticed the drawers of the desk were open and appeared to have
been ransacked, as well as the closet door was opened. The victim said he looked in the cioset and notice that the safe(S/1) was missing
from the closet.

Victim Fisher told us that he further noticed his bedroom (northern most) looked to have been ransacked also. He told me hewas
missing a Sparklett's five gallon water bottle (S/2) that contained an unknown amount of loose US coin currency. He went on to explain
he was also missing a small glass dish that contained unknown amount of loose US currency, as well as his Best Western credit

card( 5/4) ,(unknown number) was missing also. Victim told me he already contacted the card company and turned the card off, so it
could not be used.

Victim Fisher told me his parent's room (north west) was also ransacked, but was unsure what items were missing, because they were
out of town and unable to determine what was missing.

I observed the front security screen to the location had been pried open with an unknown object, as well as the door jam and deadbolt
looked to have been pried on and the door was forcefully opened from the outside breaking the interior door jam inward. | also
observed that the office had been ransacked and the drawers were open and paper work was scattered around, and that there was no
safe in the office closet and a vacant stool which it sat on. in the the victim's bedroom | observed that It looked to have been ransacked.
In the master bedroom { saw the room had been ransacked and the drawers were open and objects were on the floor and a chair had
been knodcked over. | also observed a metal brief case on the bed that had been opened.

While speaking with the victim he mentioned that he believed his cousin Raymond Dewitt { might have
beenresponsible for the break in. He explained that Dewitt had previously resided at the lo to feave, but still picks
up mail at the location once a month He went on to explain that Dewltt was known to hang around seedy individuals, and had his car

| stolen about three weeks ago.

While on scene we contacted the neighbors to the north and south in an effort to find a witness or video of the crime. We were unable
to locate any witnesses. The house to the north had cameras on the house but were not active or recording. The house to the south
had a "ring" doorbel! system but did not pick up any footage of the indident.

We requested that fi nger prints be taken from the door knobs in the office as well as from the metal brief case located in the master
bedroom.

The victim's were left a supplemental loss report to list items that were stolen.

The victim was issued a report memo.
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